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LFIRH
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN

THE PRC

03001-03006, Level 3, Building 3

No. 688 Middle Tianfu Avenue

Chengdu High-tech Zone

Pilot Free Trade Zone, Sichuan Province
PRC

Room 710, Building 1

No. 35 Shangdi East Road
Haidian District, Beijing
PRC
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Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
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Cricket Square, Grand Cayman KY1-1102
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

Han Kun Law Offices LLP
Rooms 4301-10, 43/F
Gloucester Tower, The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

KPMG

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
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Central, Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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COMPLIANCE ADVISOR

Guotai Junan Capital Limited

27/F, Low Block, Grand Millennium Plaza
181 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Sichuan branch, Bank of China Limited
No. 35, Middle Renmin Road (2 Duan)
Qingyang District

Chengdu, Sichuan Province

PRC

Chaoyang branch in Beijing, Bank of China Limited
Block B, Jiacheng Building

No. 18 Xiaguang Lane, Dongsanhuan North Road
Chaoyang District

Beijing

PRC

STOCK CODE
9669

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.beisen.com

4 Beisen Holding Limited  Annual Report 2023/2024

aNER

ERERMEFARAT
e

ERAEH1815
FTaCTUR S IR TR

FRERBIT

RESRTIRIGHRAFM)IE ST
HE

NIEY%- b

5¥E

AR E355%

PESRTRIGAR AT RBABET

a3

LR

#5E
R=RICEEER L B 18R
EIZREBIR

B R U5
9669
R

www.beisen.com



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEGRE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MHRE
Year ended 31 March
HBEIAMHLFEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234F 20224F 20214F 20204
(RMB'000)
(ARHEFIT)
Revenue WA 854,741 750,914 679,627 556,327 458,537
Gross profit EF 514,927 415,564 400,511 369,597 274,343
Operating loss KEEE (389,722) (368,112) (288,563) (141,105) (320,162)
Loss before income tax BrET1S LA ES 1B (3,194,113) (2,604,903) (1,921,579) (923,438) (1,252,276)
Loss for the year FNEIE (3,208,587) (2,598,992) (1,908,772) (940,140) (1,266,752)
Adjusted net loss (non-IFRS 4% A% fE518 % 58 (3F
measure) B B B 7 S 5 ZE R
FrE) (105,366) (300,555) (163,590) (121,223) (251,965)
As at 31 March
"3A31AR
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224F 20214F 20204
(RMB'000)
(ARETT)
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 105,056 199,814 186,064 84,927 94,126
Current assets MENEE 1,801,334 1,670,964 1,848,641 507,890 503,499
Total assets HEE 1,906,390 1,870,778 2,034,705 592,817 597,625
LIABILITIES fafE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 55,940 9,460,746 6,672,607 32,510 2,879,283
Current liabilities MEAEE 695,582 766,661 642,448 4,103,589 556,723
Total liabilities HWERE 751,522 10,227,407 7,315,055 4,136,099 3,436,006
EQUITY #a
Equity attributable to owners 2N B)4#EE A FE(L
of the Company e 1,154,868 (8,356,629) (5,280,350) (3,543,277) (2,838,374)
Non-controlling interests ~ FEIE AR M - - - (5) )
Total equity HiEs 1,154,868 (8,356,629) (5,280,350) (3,543,282) (2,838,381)
Total equity and
liabilities HERRAR 1,906,390 1,870,778 2,034,705 592,817 597,625

TR CHF TR ONF FERE LREREBRQF 3



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MHRE

Overall Financial Data

Revenue was RMB854.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing a year-
on-year increase of 13.8%.

Loss for the year was RMB3,208.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing
a year-on-year increase of 23.5%.

Adjusted net loss was RMB105.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 64.9%.

Cloud-based HCM Solutions

Revenue generated from subscriptions to our cloud-based HCM solutions was RMB632.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing a year-on-year increase of 17.7%
and accounting for 74.0% of the total revenue.

Professional Services

Revenue generated from our professional services was RMB222.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024, representing a year-on-year increase of 4.1% and accounting for
26.0% of the total revenue.

Operating Cash Flow

Net cash used in operating activities was RMB82.5 million for the year ended 31 March
2024, representing a year-on-year decrease of 44.6%.

Rounding Adjustments

In this annual report, certain amounts and percentage figures have been subject
to rounding adjustments, or have been rounded to one or two decimal places. Any
discrepancies in any tables, chats or elsewhere between total and sums of amounts listed
therein are due to rounding.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHEH

Dear shareholders,

For the year ended 31 March 2024, Our total revenue was RMB854.7 million, representing
a year-on-year increase of 13.8%, of which the proportion of the revenue from cloud based
HCM solutions increased to 74%, representing a year-on-year increase of 17.7%.

We had over 5,500 cloud-based HCM solutions customers, and achieved a subscription
revenue retention rate of 106% for the Reporting Period. Of which, the total number of our
Core HCM Integration customers reached approximately 1,900 cumulatively, and the ARR
for our Core HCM Integration accounted for 51% of our total ARR, with a subscription
revenue retention rate of 114%, and an ARR growth rate of 30.7%.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, we were the top ranking company in the IDC China
Human Capital Management (HCM) SaaS market in terms of market share for the eighth
year in a row. In sub-market level, we were also the top-ranking company in Core HCM
market, recruitment, performance management, and assessment in terms of market share
in 2023.

I. BUSINESS REVIEW

The night still lingers, yet the first gleam of dawn is emerging was a concise
summary for Beisen for the year ended 31 March 2024.

As at the beginning of the Reporting Period, we were optimistic about the recovery
of the economy, however, things went athwart. Our customers generally extended
their decision-making cycles and implemented more stringent decision-making
processes, resulting in a slower order cycle and making it more difficult for us
to secure new customers. In addition, the control of recruitment budgets and
headcount reduction became common, which caught us off guard for our business
operation. In this regard, the ending of the COVID-19 pandemic control did not
mean the ending of the dark night of sagging economy.

Thanks to the concerted efforts of the 2,000 Beisen staff, including their persisting
market insights and agile response to external market changes, we achieved a
barely satisfactory performance. In fact, during the post-pandemic era, due to the
downward capital market, the capital raising activities of a large number of start-
ups were suspending, however, our integrated products had become mature and
we were making full use of our competitive advantages and product superiority,
enabling us more likely to achieve even better performance.

Meanwhile, the human resources management of enterprises posed positive
signals, including strengthening the management and training of internal
personnel, and the significantly increasing demand for performance, learning
and other modules; enterprises began to emphasize on quality over speed in
the recruitment process; the establishment and development of executive talent
systems attracted the attention of more enterprises; technologies such as artificial
intelligence and big data were booming, and the generative Al model had been
applied to more complex scenarios. Such positive signals indicated the appearing
of hope.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EJEE

8

Beisen focused on serving medium- to large-sized enterprises, a group with high
risk resistance and strong cooperation continuity; besides, Beisen’s integrated
platform included 6 modules and 18 products, covering the entire lifecycle of
employees from on-boarding to leaving office, and enjoyed excellent space for
cross-module sales. Together, such two factors guaranteed the stability of Beisen’s
business.

1. Focusing on our integrated HCM Saa$S opportunities. We
continued to invest in research and development, realizing nearly 1,000
new functional features. Focusing on the integration strategy and customer
value creation, we obtained successful commercialization verification and
started market-oriented sale of a number of new products, such as job
qualification management, digital talents and project manpower, which
further extended our competitive edge.

2. Upgrading our service system. We built our user community into an
online service platform to help more HRIS and key users to help each other
to solve problems. In terms of the delivery system, we realized the effective
implementation of project process management, consultant working hours
management and project inventory mechanism through digital tools, and
the process of each delivered project was managed through the procedures
and digital tools platform to ensure efficient and high quality delivery of
each project. As a result, the professional services gross margin (a non-
IFRS measure) increased by 12.5%.

3. Embracing generative Al. The rapid development of Al large-language
model allowed Beisen to leverage its PaaS platform foundation to integrate
Al technology with talent management and operational data in HR practices.
We focused on establishing models in the field of human resources
and continuously enriched the product and scenario applications in our
Beisen Al Family. Currently, we have released a series of Al products,
including Mr. Sen, a personal leadership coach (58:& 1% 4RMr. Sen), Al
Interviewer (AIEIZLE), an interviewer that enhances interview efficiency
and quality, and Al Course Assistant (A& Bh ), a smart tool for
efficiently transforming ideas into complete courses.

4. Implementing the ecosystem partnership strategy. We have
established long-term partnerships with over 150 eco-partners and have
engaged in strategic collaborations with professional partners such as
DingTalk and HAND, which strengthened our capabilities in informatization
solutions and project delivery within the field of human resources. We
have also enhanced the innovative capabilities of Beisen’s Luban PaaS
platform, with over 470 technological updates within the year, helping
608 enterprises realize personalized development and application, and
supporting the complex business realization of medium- to large-sized
enterprises. In order to empower HR users with digital capabilities, through
online and offline training activities, 524 individuals have successfully
completed the Beisen Certified Administrator (BCA) certification course,
and 2,440 participants have successfully completed the online training of
HRIS.

Beisen Holding Limited  Annual Report 2023/2024
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EJEE

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

It is expected that start-up companies will continue to face significant pressure
in the coming years, and the outlook may not be optimistic. This could lead to a
reduction in investments in digitalization.

Meanwhile, companies with a scale of over 1,000 employees have shown greater
resilience in the face of economic downturns. Leaders in these companies
generally recognize that high operational efficiency is crucial in the stock market.
They understand the importance of organizational agility to deal with economic
uncertainties. Enhancing competitiveness and building organizational capabilities
through digitalization is seen as one of their key strategies. In fact, large enterprises
have been consistently increasing their investments in digitalization.

At the same time, in the field of HR digitalization, the lack of sustained capital
support has hindered the ability of industry players to compete. This has resulted
in reduced investment in product research and development and a weakening of
competition. This situation presents a unique opportunity for Beisen to seize the
market's growth opportunities.

To achieve this, Beisen has maintained continuous investment in research and
development and services to drive higher growth with better reputation. Therefore,
we have formulated a new three-year strategy aimed at expanding Beisen’s market
share by pushing upwards and further enhancing our position in the market.

1. Maintain stable investment in research and development. We
will continue to invest in the IPD process to enhance Beisen’s integrated
product advantages, increase differentiation, and better meet customers’
needs.

2. Increase investment in key customers. We will optimize the sales
and service processes for key customers (with a scale of over a thousand
employees), and continuously improve execution efficiency and service
quality. Additionally, we will strengthen the development of value-
based selling capabilities and pricing management systems, aiming to
continuously build the ability to provide long-term cooperative value with
customers.

3. Al-first strategy. We have defined an explicit “Al-first” product strategy,
concentrating our research and development resources on further
investments in Al recruitment, Al training and learning, Al employee
services, Al assessment, Al leadership development, and other relevant
areas. We aim to apply our expertise in vertical modeling to the entire
spectrum of human resources, ultimately creating a new generation of
integrated HCM Saa$S product matrix empowered by comprehensive Al
capabilities of Beisen.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EJEE

4. Meeting the needs of international expansion. In the context of
globalization, we will comprehensively address the scenario demands of
Chinese enterprises expanding internationally. We aim to assist enterprises
in efficiently managing talents on a global scale, resolving the complexities
of cross-border human resources management, and further expanding
Beisen’s market space.

In the face of uncertain economic conditions, we will continue to build process-oriented
organizational capabilities, and use organizational certainty to respond to environmental
uncertainties. We will implement the concept of “customer success”, and successful
clients will take us further, proving our value with better performance! We look forward to
reporting on progress in related work next year.

I 'would like to thank our customers for their trust and choice, our employees for their

hard work, and especially our shareholders for their support and | appreciate everyone’s
partnership with Beisen!
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THREFWRES N

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Industry Review

In 2023, with the continuous penetration and development of Al, cloud computing and
other digital technologies, the digital transformation of enterprises has entered into
uncharted waters. The digital economy has become an important base for fostering new
productive forces and an accelerator for economic and social development. In such context,
the supply of digital talents has not only become a basic element for the development of
the digital economy but also a determining factor of its pace and level of growth.

The integrated HCM SaaS is a vital component in the digital transformation of human
resources and it has been developed steadily. It has been providing robust support for
enterprises to explore cost reduction and efficiency enhancement initiatives, and also
presenting new opportunities for business growth. The overseas expansion strategy of
Chinese enterprises has also become a market trend, which brings an emerging demand
for overseas talent and cross-border human resources management. The synergy between
human resources and Al is one of the major trends in China’s cloud-based solution
market. Leveraging the rapid growth and improvement of Al-generated content (AIGC), our
HCM SaaS is advancing towards a more intelligent and data-driven direction.

Beisen is the only integrated cloud-based HCM solutions provider amongst the many
participants in the Chinese cloud-based HCM solutions market and the only service
provider who has built a unified and open PaaS infrastructure. As the digital economy and
digital talent industry continues to flourish, we will achieve continuous growth and lead the
digital transformation of human resources in Chinese enterprises.

Beisen’s cloud-based HCM solution covers all the main HCM-using scenarios of the entire
employment lifecycle, providing a comprehensive and integrated solution across functions.
Beisen has consistently led the market share in China’s HCM SaaS market for eight
consecutive years, holding 15.3% in the first half of 2023. At the sub-market level, we have
also been a top-ranking participant in China’s Core HCM market, recruitment management
and performance management in terms of market share. In addition, for years, we have
maintained the leading position with the largest market share for assessment business in
which we have accumulated more than 20 years of experience. In 2023, we were appointed
as a technical activities unit of the Chinese Electronics Standardization Association and the
Information Technology Application Innovation Working Committee (ITAIWC).

Note:  Source — IDC China Human Capital Management (HCM) SaaS Market Tracking Report
for the First Half of 2023 by International Data Corporation (IDC)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERENWETA

Business Review

In 2023, the economy of China continued to forge ahead amidst ongoing pressures,
presenting both opportunities and challenges. Despite facing pressure in business growth,
we have demonstrated remarkable resilience. Our customers generally extended their
decision-making cycles and implemented more stringent procurement processes due
to the economic uncertainty, resulting in a slower order cycle. Meanwhile, in 2023, the
human resources management trends of enterprises changed. With the rapid development
of information technology, and the application of advanced technologies such as Al
and big data, the management of human resources is undergoing a profound digital
transformation.

Enterprises began to emphasis on talent quality over quantity, and the application of
assessment and evaluation technologies has become essential in the different scenarios
in the recruitment process. Benefiting from Al-powered video interviews, the efficiency
of interviews and the alignment between the candidates and the job requirements have
been significantly improved. This technology enables companies to reduce recruitment
costs through a more efficient and accurate recruitment process of suitable candidates.
Enterprises are also placing greater emphasis on setting objectives for the company. A
more unified and data-driven approach is adopted for managers and employees in their
performance management. Thus, the demand for the implementation of a comprehensive
and scientific performance management system significantly increased.

In the context of digitalization, the establishment and development of executive talent systems
have become crucial to enterprises. In particular, such systems are essential to support and
facilitate different management scenarios, such as, Qualification Management System (8%
A% EEX), Digital Talent (BR32 A ) (digital talent assessment), Key Talent Review (%3
AT HZE). In order to efficiently integrate new employees into the workplace as well as
continuously improve the capabilities of existing employees, enterprises are expanding their
application of our E-learning Cloud.

In such digital era, Beisen speeds up the research and development of its products and
strives to push the boundaries of human resources scenarios. By making use of generative
Al models in complex human resources contexts, we have expanded the application
of human resources software, from traditional personnel management to a more
comprehensive digitalized approach for talent development for our customers. Adapting to
the new economic landscape, Beisen promptly adjusted its target industries to capitalize
on emerging business opportunities. We focused on sectors such as major retail, major
consumer goods, major manufacturing, new energy and basic energy which have shown
rapid growth. The total revenue of Beisen reached RMB854.7 million during the Reporting
Period, marking a 13.8% rise as compared with FY2023. Qur cloud-based HCM solutions
generated a total revenue of RMB632.2 million during the Reporting Period, a 17.7%
increase as compared with the FY2023. The cloud-based HCM solutions contributed to
74.0% of the total revenue, up by 2.5 percentage points from 71.5% for FY2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWETAN

We offer a comprehensive suite of cloud-based and standardized HCM solutions
covering a variety of customers’ use cases across the entire employee lifecycle, from
recruitment, probation, transfer, promotion to departure and retirement, enabling our
customers to effectively recruit, evaluate, manage, develop and retain talents. We empower
our customers to embrace technology innovations and changes in their operating
environments through rapid releases of new products, new feature updates, breakthroughs
in the application of Al technology and the continuous development of our integrated HCM
solutions. Through this broad yet growing selection of adaptable and accessible HCM
solutions, we are leading the way in helping organizations intelligize and optimize their
human resources management.

Our main HCM solutions include:

Recruitment Cloud, a technology-enabled talent recruitment application, designed
to help organizations streamline the recruitment process, achieving recruitment of high
quality talents through technological and intellectual means.

Assessment Cloud, an application based on psychology and talent science, which
is designed to help customers evaluate current and prospective employees, from their
skills and capabilities to growth potential, through digitalized and intelligent assessment
methods and leading algorithm, thereby ensuring reasonable allocation and effective
utilization of talent, and thus promoting the continuous development and enhancing the
competitiveness of the organization.

Core HCM Solutions, an one-stop solution that naturally integrates operation scenarios
such as Human Resources Cloud, Payroll Cloud and workforce management
catering to organizations’ Core HCM needs from new hire, onboarding, staffing
management, implementation of corporate culture, employee attendance and payroll
administration to more complex and sophisticated organization-wide initiatives, such
as human resources budgeting, cost management and refined management of human
resources and working hours, thereby comprehensively supports enterprises in managing
human resources flexibly.

Performance Management Cloud, starting from decoding strategic targets, allows
customers to align employee goals to strategies of the enterprise, continually tracks
progress of targets and supports all-rounded performance assessments of employees
and organization layer by layer, which contributes to the creation of corporate value for
enterprises.

Succession Cloud, an application that provides real-time visibility into customers’ talent
pipeline and potential successors within their existing workforce from senior executives to
individual contributors, creating a healthy and sustainable talent pipeline for enterprises.
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E-learning Cloud, an online learning and training management platform designed for
enterprise customers, supporting key use cases such as online courses, learning plans,
online exams and training management, which facilitates enterprises in improving the
capabilities of their talents and organizations as a whole.

People Analytics Solutions, a solution that is built upon the effective integration and
information exchange across our different HCM solutions, allowing organizations to break
information failures and convert unstructured data into actionable insights.

Al Family Product Bucket (Al FamilyZE a2 5 4f) (Al series products) innovatively
combines Al big model and our experience of over 20 years in human resources
management, reshaping the processes and scenarios of talent recruitment, assessment,
nurturing, development, and employee experience to support the transformation of
enterprises when they march into the era of intelligent talent management.

Our integrated platform features six modules, covering the full spectrum of the employment
cycle from recruitment to departure. For new clients, we delve deeply into their business
requirements and promote sales across multiple modules. For our existing clients, we
continuously deepen our understanding of their business models to identify their needs
and opportunities for further collaborations, thereby facilitating cross-module sales. As
of 31 March 2024, our ARR from clients engaged in two or more modules accounts for
72.8%.

Meanwhile, we have developed and implemented a series of services strategies and
comprehensively enhanced our service system with a range of strategies, such as online
time management system, aiming to boost the overall service efficiency and enriching
customer experience. Excluding the share-based payments from gross profits, for the
Reporting Period, our gross profit margin (a non-IFRS measure) was 64.0%, up by 7.6
percentage points from FY2023. Specifically, the gross margin for cloud-based HCM
solutions (a non-IFRS measure) increased by 3.8 percentage points to 78.8%, and the
professional services gross margin (a non-IFRS measure) rose remarkably by 12.5
percentage points to 22.0%.

During the Reporting Period, we focused on our integrated HCM SaaS
opportunities, specifically targeting at large-scale clients, cultivating
the integration of HCM SaaS and further refined the utilization of human
resources. In particular, we improved the capability of our products and
further widened the gap with the competitors by increasing our investment
in the manufacturing and retail chain sectors. As of 31 March 2024, our tofal
number of customers was 5,532 and we achieved a subscription revenue
retention rate of 106%.
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Core HCM integration business grew in a solid manner. As of 31 March 2024,
the ARR accounted for 51%, representing an increase of 30.7% as compared with
FY2023, and the cumulative number of customers was close to reaching 1,900.

Amid the macro-environment of manpower budgeting and cost control, human
resources management for enterprises tends to be more refined. During the
Reporting Period, Beisen announced the latest Comprehensive Payroll 2.0
which includes a budget control feature, assisting enterprises to exercise budget
control scientifically and to further support large-scale enterprises to refine
their operations, thereby significantly enhancing Beisen’s competitive edge and
market differentiation. Meanwhile, Beisen has made a significant breakthrough
by launching the new qualification management system and talent assessment
product. These products are designed to inspire employees’ personal growth in a
proactive manner and foster long-term organizational development. This signifies
the transition of our Core HCM from digitizing personnel management to digitizing
talent development. Additionally, Beisen has differentiated itself from the market
by introducing innovative products such as Project Management, enabling precise
operations management through project team personnel management, project labor
cost allocation and project performance evaluation.

Our integrated recruitment and assessment product in assisting organizations
to channel their recruitment towards the enhancement of business value has
evolved significantly, shifting from focusing on recruitment volume to enhancing
recruitment quality. As of 31 March 2024, the ARR for recruitment and assessment
integration business accounted for 22%.

In 2023, uncertainty has become the new normal, making the talent recruitment
market increasingly complex. Candidates prioritize stability, while companies
strive for accuracy in their hiring processes. Recognizing these market dynamics,
Beisen has launched the Interviewer Operations System, a new product which
aims at improving the quality of recruitment for organizations. It helps enterprises
make more accurate hires for critical positions by establishing unified interview
gvaluation standards, providing ready-to-use interview question banks, establishing
levels of interviewers, and empowering interviewers to assess and evaluate
candidates.

In addition, benefiting from our years of talent management research and active
innovations, together with generative Al models, we launched the groundbreaking
Beisen Al Interviewer (AEZRAIEIZA S ), which is the first comprehensive and
all-rounded candidate assessment tool in the industry, revolutionizing the way
candidates are evaluated and enhancing recruitment efficiency for businesses.
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Beisen has also introduced top-notch recruitment products that support multi-
language versions and comply with data security requirements, aiming to create
an integrated recruitment and training system for campus recruitment and thus
enabling companies to accurately recruit suitable talents. For instance, one of our
notable clients in the large-scale retail chain industry managed to reduce the cost
of recruitment by 20% (equivalent to around RMB200 — 300 million) by using
Beisen Recruitment Cloud. In addition, we have assisted a leading enterprise in
the business-to-business office supplies services industry to standardize its talent
recruitment standards based on qualifications through the implementation of our
Interviewer Operations System, which provided the customers with an interview
question bank with a satisfaction rate of over 90%.

Beisen has developed a closed-loop Performance Management Cloud, covering
organizations and individuals, building a Strategy-oriented system that supports
decoding and targeting of strategies and prioritizing a people-centric approach
to drive the effectiveness of individuals and organizations. Beisen’s Performance
Cloud enables support for enhancing corporate efficiency and value creation. As
of 31 March 2024, the ARR from the performance management business recorded
a year-on-year increase of 23%, and 356 new customers were Secured during the
Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, we have introduced several new features to the
Performance Management Cloud, allowing managers to assign goals directly,
which enables rapid goal setting; enabling multi-dimensional permission
management, which provides flexibility to accommodate various scenarios for
granting permission within the organizations; and enhancing multi-organizational
performance goal assessment scenarios, which further reinforce support for
employees in achieving organizational goals and facilitating the attainment of
organizational objectives.

E-Learning Cloud, a business-centered integrated talent development platform
built around key positions, that allows the integration of talent cultivation
and development. As of 31 March 2024, the ARR from E-Learning Cloud has
experienced a year-on-year growth of 68% and has acquired 299 new customers
aduring the Reporting Period.

Facing the growing challenges of business operations, the training departments of
enterprises are shifting their focus to the design of business empowerment training
programs. During the Reporting Period, key upgrades to the Job Learning 2.0
function have been made to the E-Learning Cloud. By integrating job qualification
systems, job competency models, and 360-degree assessments, employees
can customize and adjust their learning progress based on their job competency
assessment results, enabling tailored teaching materials to address individual
employee’s weaknesses, thus achieving precise enhancement of talent capabilities.
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To enhance the learning experience of the new generation of employees and
resolve the conflict between work and learning, we have launched a new gamified
training program, the Guardian Senax (<F#&#x 4952 &fr). It provides real-time
dynamic effects, immediate motivation, and interactive elements during the learning
process. Additionally, we have upgraded the design and management capabilities
of training programs, offering features such as training calendar management,
support for offline assessments, automatic enrolment, and automated coaching.
These enhancements ensure the effective operation of complex training projects.

Beisen empowers organizations with data and allows customers to transform from
digitalizing human resources to digitalizing talent.

Digital transformation of enterprises has entered into unchartered waters.
Digitalizing human resources enhances organizational efficiency while digitizing
talent drives innovation and business development. Both digitalizing human
resources and digitalizing talent require equal attention and effort.

In terms of digitalizing human resources, during the Reporting Period, Beisen
introduced the People Analytics 3.0 product, which innovatively upgraded the
analysis models for workforce performance and helped executives and the human
resources teams to understand the pain points within the organization and identify
the areas for improving workforce performance.

Regarding digitalizing talent, Beisen launched the Digital Talent (Bt= A )
system, which supports rapid identification and utilization of human resources
and incorporates four core capabilities: intelligent talent tagging, precise talent
search, comprehensive talent profiles, and multidimensional talent comparisons.
This system assists enterprises in efficient talent acquisition, comprehensive talent
assessment, and precise talent utilization. For instance, one of our notable clients
in the dairy industry with over 40,000 employees managed to increase its human
resources efficiency by 200% through the application of our Digital Talent system
to digitalize its online talent management. In addition, it also increases its internal
search efficiency by 150% through the implementation of our talent labelling
system to realize full-scenario applications in labelling, displaying labels and using
labels for internal talent search and thereby responding quickly to internal demands
of talents.
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Our new product breakthrough represents a significant step towards the field
of workforce management, focusing on the complex needs of large-scale
manufacturing and chain industries.

Workforce management has always been a challenging area for HCM SaaS
solutions. Large-scale companies with over 10,000 employees in the manufacturing
and retail sectors consider various factors in frontline workforce management,
including business operations, cost management, compliance, and employee
experience. Amid the general trend of cost reduction and efficiency enhancement,
workforce management has consistently been a focal point and a difficult task for
businesses. Leveraging our extensive experience in the human resources scenarios
of manufacturing and retail industries, Beisen’s SaaS platform has entered into the
field of workforce management. It has developed a unique and integrated product
with precise capabilities to help enterprises reduce costs, increase efficiency and
refine operations. This also signifies a new pinnacle for Beisen’s SaaS platform
in terms of industry expertise and its ability to address complex and specialized
scenarios within the industry.

By leveraging Al large-scale moaels, we have developed the Al Family Product
Bucket (Al Family Eda = 3<#8) that include remarkable Al-differentiated
solutions.

We are committed to leading technological innovation, as evidenced by obtaining
15 national invention patents for our product technologies. Leveraging our self-
developed Luban PaaS platform and Al/BI technology foundation, combined with
generative Al large-scale models and over 20 years of experience in the human
resources field with continuous training and refinement, we have created Sen GPT,
an Al model for workforce management. Integrating this model into our integrated
HCM SaaS business and data scenarios, we introduced a range of groundbreaking
new products, including Mr. Sen (FRZK#4R), Al Interviewer (AIEISLE), and Al
Interview Assistant (AITEI & B)3F), based on generative Al technology, further
expanding the range of Beisen's Al Family products.

Beisen’s Al Interviewer is a state-of-the-art “talent-job matching” interviewer
algorithm that provides comprehensive and multidimensional assessment of
candidates. It intelligently evaluates resumes, conducts skill-based questioning,
assesses competency potential, evaluates language proficiency, measures
psychological traits and cognitive abilities, inquires about job preferences, and
engages in multiple rounds of follow-up questioning. It helps enterprises enhance
recruitment effectiveness by thoroughly assessing candidates’ comprehensive
attributes.
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8 The applications of our assessment products are innovative and evolving. Further
penetrate the industry by focusing on State-owned enterprises and industry clients.

We have accumulated over 20 years of industry experience. During the Reporting
Period, our assessment products have continuously evolved. We have updated the
reports of some of our key products, including the Ray-Tour assessment solution
(8B 32 A BBI5F), High Potential Talents Assessment (HIPO Assessment)
(B2 BIEE), the Key Position Assessment (B8%2 rizJ8I5E), the Insights
Report for Campus Recruitment of 100,000-Person (13 + 8 A EBCRE R
45, and the 360-degree Evaluation Reports for State-owned Enterprises (3605F
BRI ERE). We have also improved the user experience for our clients, by
providing more focused and constructive evaluation conclusions. For our state-
owned enterprise clients, we have released two special editions of the State-owned
Enterprise Journal (52122 F1]) and one edition of the China Insurance Agent Job
Research Report (7 BI{RER X IE A BEALATFEHR ). We have also organized
several live broadcasts on topics related to state-owned enterprises. Additionally, we
have designed online empowerment courses such as the Capability Modelling (5&
3215), the Talent Review (A 2 2h), the Campus Recruitment (12 E#3HE) and
the Leadership Assessment (<82& 77815F) to provide online application guidance
for our assessment users.

In addition, the Assessment Center has introduced various data analysis reports,
which allow it to automatically generate talent recruitment processes and quality
reports by integrating the data from our recruitment system. During the Reporting
Period, we continued to advance our strategic initiative of “Al plus talent
management (Al+ A7 & £)”. Through our in-house research and collaboration
with Al technology partners like Baidu ERNIE Bot, we managed to widen our Al
Family product range and launch the Al-powered leadership coaching product Mr.
Sen.

Business Outlook

With the continuous implementation of our integrated strategy, in the FY2025, we will
continue to launch new products and features, thereby facilitating and creating more
opportunities for cross-selling among different modules. We will further strengthen our
competitive advantage with more new products, greater integration, and higher ARR, which
are unique to Beisen’s business model. Beisen has achieved a CAGR of over 12% in
average revenue per client and a CAGR of 23% in ARR for the past five years. In particular,
the ARR of Core HCM integration has grown at a CAGR of over 50%. Furthermore,
contributed by the cross-selling of modules and the rapid growth of Core HCM, Beisen
has consistently maintained a satisfactory level of net dollar retention rate at around 106%
for the past five years. Additionally, the ability to serve organizations with over 10,000
employees achieved by Beisen’s integrated HCM SaaS based on PaaS has laid a solid
foundation for Beisen’s strategy of retaining large customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERENWETA

As of 31 March 2024, more than 100 organizations with over 10,000 employees have
been using our Core HCM and performance products, showcasing the range and delivery
capabilities of Beisen’s standard SaaS products in meeting the needs of large-scale
clients. We anticipate enterprises with over 10,000 employees will invest more in digital
transformation, as such presenting us with a huge market opportunity. Building the
capability to serve large-scale enterprises will help Beisen stand out from the competitors
in capturing large-scale enterprises and thereby capturing a larger market share.
Further, when compared with deployment versions, Beisen's Core HCM Solutions offers
standardized products, higher customer satisfaction, faster delivery, less customization,
and better customer experience. The application of generative Al models further accelerates
the replacement of the existing deployment versions by SaaS products and leads the new
trend for human resources digitalization transformation.

In FY2025, our business strategy will focus on the following directions:
1. Comprehensive Support for the Globalization of Chinese Enterprises

The wave of Chinese enterprises venturing into overseas markets has arrived. We
target to, by the end of September 2024, equip our products with the ability to
comprehensively empower and support the globalization of Chinese enterprises.
Our products will incorporate scenario-based capabilities in areas such as
multilingual support, multiple time zones, multiple currencies, and compliance for
overseas expansion. We strive to comprehensively support Chinese enterprises in
their overseas talent recruitment, personnel management, attendance management,
compensation management, performance management, and learning management
through online applications, which will assist Chinese enterprises in their ventures
into the global market and their global integration of human resources digital
transformation.

2 Product in relation to digitalizing talent for executive management

Executives are the backbone of an enterprise. With over 20 years of research
on executive competency, Beisen will develop a comprehensive closed-loop
online management solution for large enterprises, covering profiling, selection
and assessment, succession planning, performance evaluation, development,
digitalization of archives, and intelligent recommendations of executives. This
solution aims to help enterprises strengthen their core leadership and build a
dynamic and capable executive team.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWETAN

Commercialization of our Al Interviewer, an Al-powered solution that fruly
understanas talent

With the inevitable emergence of Al innovation, Beisen has adopted a
comprehensive all-in-Al strategy, incorporating generative Al, HCM Saa$, and
talent management technologies, to assist enterprises in accurately identifying
talent, effectively nurturing talent, and providing targeted talent development,
thus creating a dual-driven talent innovation system powered by Al and talent
management. The system can be applied to scenarios such as job modelling, talent
acquisition, talent development, leadership development, and employee services.
With our genes in talent management, we believe that the establishment of Al that
“truly understands talent” would form a new barrier to entry for our competitors.

Intensitying our focus on strategically significant sectors, particularly targeting
State-owned enterprises and large-scale clients

QOur approach involves fortifying the Core HCM and Recruitment modules as the
foundational products for cross-selling initiatives. We are targeting key industries
such as the internet sector, large-scale healthcare, manufacturing, retail chains,
and new energy. Our goal is to boost customer acquisition efficiency and penetrate
deeper into these specialized markets, driving substantial growth in HCM SaaS.

Business development efforts are aligned with acquiring new clients with over 1,000
employees while enhancing cross-selling and upselling among existing clients.
For Core HCM, we aim to expand our reach in scenarios involving organizations
with over 1,000 employees, which will be achieved by leveraging cross-selling
across various products, thus maximizing the value derived from each customer.
As of 31 March 2024, there were more than 100 organizations with over 10,000
employees using our Core HCM solutions and performance products. In FY2025,
through cross-selling across various modules, we will further increase the
coverage and penetration of our Core HCM solutions amongst large-scale clients
with over 10,000 employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EEENWED N
) Continuously embracing the parinership ecosystem, and actively promote eco-

partners

During the Reporting Period, Beisen has achieved significant milestones in its
partnership ecosystem. Through active promotion of the eco-partner program,
we established long-term cooperation with over 150 eco-partners, building an
ecosystem that facilitated our business growth. By adhering to the cooperation
principles of openness, sincerity and mutual winning, we strategically collaborated
with institutional partners such as DingTalk and Hand Enterprise Solutions Co.,
Ltd. (“HAND") to strengthen our capabilities in human resources information
technology solutions and project delivery. For instance, by combining Beisen’s
leading products and platform capabilities with HAND's technical experience in
the field of digitization, we are able to create more innovative and competitive
integrated solutions, and provide better experience and services for the digitization
of human resources in large-scale enterprises. Such approach allows us to realize
“customers success” by ensuring the success of our customers and their desired
outcomes when using our products and services.

Furthermore, we enhanced the innovation capabilities of the Luban PaaS
platform, achieving over 470 technological updates during the Reporting Period,
enabling us to enhance our ability to provide customized development support
to our eco-partners and client organizations. In addition, our PaaS platform has
already gained customer recognition and assisted 608 enterprises in achieving
personalized development and application, and supporting complex business
needs. Furthermore, we have established partnerships with over 70 collaborators
in our software ecosystem. Through the integration of multiple scenarios, we are
able to meet the diverse needs of businesses and these collaborations enable us to
provide comprehensive solutions that cater to various industry requirements and
deliver enhanced value to our clients.

We have also established a strategic partnership with Hogan Assessment Systems,
and are going to introduce comprehensive, layered and specialized assessment
services. Beisen has made significant progress in building a healthy user
ecosystem, aiming to provide customers with more valuable enterprise services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWETAN

6. Continuously building a customer-centric customer service System to further
improve service efficiency

We are dedicated to providing our customers with comprehensive end-to-end
solutions that guarantee both project delivery quality and service satisfaction. We
will continuously implement digital tools to establish robust time management
systems, streamlined project cost settlement processes, and other efficient
mechanisms. These initiatives enable us to fine-tune and optimize our operational
precision in service delivery, internal collaboration and operational efficiency,
allowing us to refine our service performance and deliver exceptional value to our
customers.

Financial Review

The economy of China continued to recover steadily in 2023 despite the unfavourable
macroeconomic conditions. Our business demonstrated its resilience in the face of
multifaceted challenges. In particular, we have successfully navigated the impacts of
macroeconomic uncertainties as well as market fluctuations during the Reporting Period
and achieved positive growth in both total revenue and gross profit. During the Reporting
Period, we have comprehensively upgraded our services to enhance the overall service
efficiency and further improve our customer experience.

Revenues

During the Reporting Period, we generated revenues from two sources, namely (i) cloud-
based HCM solutions, and (i) professional services. Our total revenue was RMB854.7
million in the Reporting Period, representing a year-on-year increase of 13.8% (FY2023:
RMB750.9 million). The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenues, in absolute
amounts and as percentages of total revenues, for the years indicated.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERENWETA

Cloud-based HCM solutions

We offer subscriptions to our cloud-based HCM solutions, and we derive revenues from
subscriptions fees that give customers access to our cloud-based HCM solutions. We
charge our customers fixed subscription fees at different prices for our cloud-based HCM
solutions, based on the size of their workforce and the specific solution that the customer
subscribes for.

Revenues generated from subscriptions to our cloud-based HCM solutions increased by
17.7% from RMB537.3 million for the FY2023 to RMB632.2 million for the Reporting
Period. The increase in revenues was attributable to acquisition of new customers and
increased subscription of our cloud-based HCM solutions by existing customers. Qur
customers of cloud-based HCM solutions increased by 8.1% from over 5,110 as of 31
March 2023 to over 5,530 as of 31 March 2024. We achieved a subscription revenue
retention rate of 106% for the Reporting Period. Accordingly, our ARR experienced a
growth from RMB649.9 million as of 31 March 2023 to RMB756.5 million as of 31 March
2024.

We refer to customers who subscribe to our Core HCM Solutions along with at least one
of our other cloud-based HCM solutions as Core HCM Integration customers. Core HCM
integration has gained growing popularity among our customers due to its substantial
scalability and synergy benefits. ARR for our Core HCM Integration increased by 30.7%
from RMB296.1 million as at 31 March 2023 to RMB386.9 million as at 31 March 2024.
As at 31 March 2024, ARR for our Core HCM Integration accounted for 51% of our total
ARR. The total number of Core HCM Integration customers increased to nearly 1,900
cumulatively and we achieved a subscription revenue retention rate of 114% for our Core
HCM Integration.

Professional services

We generate revenues from providing on-demand professional services to our customers,
which primarily include implementation services and certain value-added services. We
typically charge our customers service fees based on a number of factors, including the
type of services selected by our customers, the number of our technical specialists staffed
on a given project, and the duration of our services.

Professional services revenues increased by 4.1% from RMB213.7 million for FY2023 to
RMB222.5 million for the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWETAN

Cost of Revenues

In the Reporting Period, the Company launched a new working hour system, which
changed the performance appraisal method of the implementation personnel, thus
improving the company’s personnel efficiency. Our cost of revenues was RMB339.8
million for the Reporting Period (FY2023: RMB335.4 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of 1.3%. Our cost of revenues after excluding the share-based compensation were
RMB307.8 million (FY2023: RMB327.6 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of
6.0%, the percentage of which as a percentage of revenue decreased from 43.6% for the
FY2023 to 36.0% for the Reporting Period.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin
The following table sets forth a breakdown of our gross profit by offering type, in absolute

amounts and as percentages of their respective revenues, or gross margins, for the years
indicated.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERENWETA

Gross margin for our cloud-based HCM solutions is typically higher than that for our
professional services. This is because our HCM solutions are cloud-based, standard
products that generate recurring subscription revenues with limited incremental costs.

Our overall gross profit amounted to RMB415.6 million and RMB514.9 million for the
FY2023 and the Reporting Period, respectively. Our overall gross margin increased from
55.3% for the FY2023 to 60.2% for the Reporting Period.

Cloud-based HCM solutions. Gross profit for our cloud-based HCM solutions increased
from RMB401.4 million for the FY2023 to RMB486.5 million for the Reporting Period.
Gross margin for our cloud-based HCM solutions increased from 74.7% for the FY2023 to
77.0% for the Reporting Period.

Professional services. Gross profit for our professional services increased from RMB14.1
million for the FY2023 to RMB28.4 million for the Reporting Period. Gross margin for
our professional services increased from 6.6% for the FY2023 to 12.8% for the Reporting
Period.

Our overall gross profit and gross margins for our cloud-based HCM solutions and
professional services increased for the Reporting Period primarily because of our efforts in
improving cost-efficiency through focusing on performance management.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Due to the change of the performance appraisal method of the Company, the district
manager pays more attention to cost control and the matching of headcount and business
performance, thereby improving efficiency. Our selling and marketing expenses were
RMB437.8 million for the Reporting Period (FY2023: RMB386.9 million), representing
a year-on-year increase of 13.2%. Our selling and marketing expenses after excluding
the share-based compensation were RMB344.1 million (FY2023: RMB366.8 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 6.2%, the percentage of which as a percentage of
revenue decreased from 48.8% for the FY2023 to 40.3% for the Reporting Period.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses were RMB184.9 million for the Reporting
Period (FY2023: RMB165.7 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 11.6%. Our
general and administrative expenses after excluding the share-based compensation were
RMB111.1 million (FY2023: RMB154.8 million), representing a year-on-year decrease
of 28.2%, primarily due to one-time listing fees paid by the Company in FY2023, the
percentage of which as a percentage of revenue decreased from 20.6% for FY2023 to
13.0% for the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWETAN

Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses were RMB350.9 million for the Reporting Period
(FY2023: RMB303.3 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 15.7%. With
the maturity of the company’s product modules and the improvement of research and
development efficiency resulting from the Integrated Product Development process, the
Company’s research and development costs after excluding the share-based compensation
decreased during the year. Our research and development expenses after excluding
the share-based compensation were RMB257.9 million (FY2023: RMB284.9 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 9.5%, the percentage of which as a percentage of
revenue decreased from 37.9% for FY2023 to 30.2% for the Reporting Period.

Net Impairment Losses on Financial Assets and Contract Assets

Our net impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets primarily relate to
impairment on trade receivables and contract assets. We determine the provision for
impairment of trade receivables and contract assets on a forward-looking basis and the
expected lifetime losses are recognized from initial recognition of the assets by credit risks
of our customers in accordance with IFRS 9.

We recorded net impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets of RMB2.9
million and RMB3.8 million for the FY2023 and the Reporting Period, respectively.

Other Income

Our other income consists primarily of (i) value-added tax refund relating to the sales of
our cloud-based HCM solutions granted by the PRC tax authorities as a way to provide tax
relief for companies; (i) government grants, representing financial assistance from local

governments in the PRC; (iii) additional deductible input tax; and (iv) others.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our other income for the years indicated.
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Government grants BT 27,501 3,707 641.9
Additional deductible input tax FEONAT R Y AT 406 1,264 (67.9)
Others H 356 352 11
Total st 70,652 37,405 88.9

SR EFSR A FERE

LHRZERERAT 27



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERENWETA

Other Gains, Net

Our other gains, net consist primarily of (i) net fair value gains on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss relating to our equity investments and investments in
structured deposits and fund management products; (i) net gains/(losses) on disposal of
property, plant and equipment; (iii) net foreign exchange losses; and (iv) others.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our other gains, net for the years indicated.

H e &3 B R

I E UL R R B e 3 () BB PR AE I E R e
BEUETARESTEERNREFHENRAAEE
STABZERNEBEEZ AR EEREFE  (NHEY
¥ BERBEORE(EIB)FEE  (i)INEESEF
B R(iv)EAD e

NREFIRAIREER PN E R -

For the year ended 31 March

HEIANALEE
2024 2023 Change
20245 20234 )
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
AR®TRT ARETTT %
Net fair value gains on financial assets at fair value 12 Q7 BET ABZHE R
through profit or loss BEZ AR BEWRZEFE 7,562 40,534 (81.3)
Net gains/(losses) on disposal of property, HEME - WE KERER
plant and equipment Wezs,/ (E518) F58 114 (119) (195.8)
Net foreign exchange losses HNE BT IR FRE (3,319) (623) 432.7
Others Hith (2,347) (2,05) 142
Total BET 2,010 37,737 (94.7)
Finance Income, Net MBKRABE

Our finance income represents interest income from our bank deposits, and our finance
costs are comprised of interest expenses on our lease liabilities.

Our finance income, net increased from RMB4.6 million for the FY2023 to RMB6.5 million
for the Reporting Period, primarily due to the increase in interest income from bank
deposits of RMBO0.8 million and the decrease in interest expenses on lease liabilities of
RMB1.1 million.

Fair Value Changes of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares

Our fair value changes of redeemable convertible preferred shares arise primarily from
the changes in the carrying amount of our redeemable convertible preferred shares in
connection with the Pre-IPO Investments. Prior to the Global Offering, such redeemable
convertible preferred shares have not been traded in an active market and their value at
each respective reporting date is determined using valuation techniques. Our Directors
have used the discounted cash flow method to determine the underlying equity value of
our Company, and adopted equity allocation model to determine the fair value of such
redeemable convertible preferred shares.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWETAN

For the FY2023 and the Reporting Period, we had fair value changes of redeemable
convertible preferred shares of RMB2,241.4 million and RMB2,810.8 million, respectively,
as a result of changes in the valuation of our Company. After the completion of the Global
Offering, all of such redeemable convertible preferred shares have been automatically
converted to our Shares, and we will no longer recognize any further change in fair value
liabilities in respect of them. The fair value of each of redeemable convertible preferred
share on the conversion date is the offer price in the Global Offering.

Loss hefore Income Tax

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded loss before income tax of RMB2,604.9 million
and RMB3,194.1 million for the FY2023 and the Reporting Period, respectively.

Income Tax Expense

We recorded income tax expense of RMB14.5 million for the Reporting Period, as
compared to income tax credit of RMB5.9 million for the FY2023.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded loss for the year of RMB2,599.0 million and
RMB3,208.6 million for the FY2023 and the Reporting Period, respectively.

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement our consolidated financial statements that are presented in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards, we also use adjusted gross profit (a non-IFRS measure)
and adjusted net loss (a non-IFRS measure) as additional financial measures, which are
not required by, or presented in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards. We beligve
that these non-IFRS measures facilitates comparisons of operating performance from
period to period and company to company. We believe that these measures provide useful
information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our consolidated
results of operations in the same manner as they help our management. However, our
presentation of the adjusted gross profit (a non-IFRS measure) and adjusted net loss (a
non-IFRS measure) may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other
companies. The use of the non-IFRS measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and
you should not consider it in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of, our results of
operations or financial condition as reported under IFRS Accounting Standards.

We define adjusted net loss (a non-IFRS measure) as loss for the year adjusted by adding
back share-based payments, and fair value changes of redeemable convertible preferred
shares. We define adjusted gross profit (a non-IFRS measure) as gross profit adjusted by
adding back share-based payments included in cost of revenues.

TR -F/I 2R F FERSE
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MR LA - T APIR 20238 F K ¥R S IR 0 BIIER 1S
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERENWETA

The following table reconciles our adjusted gross profit (a non-IFRS measure) and adjusted
net loss (a non-IFRS measure) for the years presented to the most directly comparable
financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards,
for the years indicated.

TRIRAREREKARENERRM B®RE
EAFE) REARB R FECERRM B RE LA
B)EBREERMBREENSTERGFER 2T
REZALH R EBMNER -

For the year ended 31 March

HEIAAILLEE
2024 2023 Change
20245 20234 &
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
AR¥®TT ARETTT %
Gross profit X 514,927 415,564 23.9
Add: o
Share-based payments included in FEASEE R AR K AR () BE
cost of revenues TR 31,971 7,718 314.2
Adjusted gross profit EREEF
(a non-IFRS measure) (GEEPRA 5 4R &5 ERIRTE) 546,898 423,282 29.2
Loss for the year FRBR (3,208,587) (2,598,992) 235
Add: e
Share-based payments VARHAD B EREA R 292,380 57,075 4123
Fair value changes of redeemable convertible B] & B AT B A B ST AR AY
preferred shares NABEE 2,810,841 2,241,362 25.4
Adjusted net loss (a non-IFRS measure) BRAEERRE
(FEE PR R &SR R) (105,366) (300,555) (64.9)
Notes: /}/]LE? .
1, Share-based payments relates to the share rewards we offered to our employees, which is VARR 1 A EE 0 09 15 SR EL 3 P ) (B B SR 9 iR 1 2R 8D
a non-cash expense. B RIFFEER -
2. Fair value changes of redeemable convertible preferred shares arise primarily from AIER A EBRELRO AR EBEEZESEERA KM

the changes in the carrying amount of our redeemable convertible preferred shares
in connection with the Pre-IPO Investments. These fair value changes are non-cash
in nature. After the completion of the Global Offering, such redeemable convertible
preferred shares were automatically converted into ordinary shares of our Company and
one-off change in fair value of RMB2,810.8 million was recorded. No further fair value
changes will be recognised thereafter.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWETAN

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We have historically funded our cash requirements principally from cash generated from
our business operations and shareholder equity contributions. To manage the liquidity
risk, we monitor and maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by
our senior management to finance our operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Term Deposits

We had cash and cash equivalents of RMB234.1 million as of 31 March 2024, as
compared to RMB408.7 million as of 31 March 2023, respectively. As of 31 March 2024,
we did not have any unutilized banking facilities. Most of the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group were denominated in Renminbi. The term deposits of the Group were
denominated in Renminbi.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets and then
multiplying by 100%. As of 31 March 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio was 39.4% as
compared with the gearing ratio of 546.7% as of 31 March 2023. The decrease in the
gearing ratio was primarily due to the decrease in the proportion of the redeemable
convertible preferred shares in the total liabilities from 92.0% as of 31 March 2023 to nil as
of 31 March 2024.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the Reporting Period, the Group operated in China and the majority of the
transactions were settled in Renminbi, which is also the functional currency of the
Company’s primary consolidated affiliated entities. As of 31 March 2024, except for the
bank deposits and intra-group loans denominated in foreign currencies other than the
functional currency of the Company, its subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities,
the Group did not have significant foreign currency exposure from its operations.

The Group currently does not have any foreign currency hedging policies. The management

of the Company will continue to pay attention to the Group’s foreign exchange exposure
and consider adopting prudent measures as appropriate.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 March 2024, we did not have any material contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERENWETA

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

We mainly have capital commitments with respect to purchase of fixed assets and office
renovation. Capital expenditure contracted for as of 31 March 2023 and 2024 but not
recognized as liabilities were as follows:

BERiE

BRI ERREEREEENMNIAEEHNBEHNE
AAEHE o BZE20235F 220243 A3 H EET VB M K T
REBENERRAT

As of 31 March

#E3A31H
2024 2023 Change
20249 20234 ”

RMB’000 RMB’000 %

ARBETT ARBFIT %

Within 1 year —&FR 3,455 2,751 25.6

FINANCIAL RISKS DISCLOSURE o o P H 2R

Our activities expose us to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, credit risk ~ FRPINEBAZ ZESREAR - 9I\IEELK§= 1;??)’%

and liquidity risk. Our overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability ~ ZABIEEERE - HAINERAREEEFAEZEERE

of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on our financial
performance.

Risk management is carried out under policies approved by our Board. The management
identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with our operating units.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through intra-group loans which give
rise to intra-group loans receivable and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign
currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily HK$ and RMB. The
Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by buying or selling
foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbalances.

32  Beisen Holding Limited  Annual Report 2023/2024

TISE AR AL - BREEREERMAV BRI
BETHZE -

MEREAEEESHUENBERETT - EEEHERM
mﬁé“uaWQWM%% FHES AR o

4 EE R PR

AEEEHTEAEEMERUINE (AR 5 HRE
EB L EIE LN E ) S E 0 S BR B 5B UK
BRESEHRELEERR - EXZRARHEETE
EBTRARE - NEEBRN M BHIZANHERE
BN DARRIR A BRI - S F R R IR A AR
BRI ©



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWETAN

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the Reporting Period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated using the spot rates at the end
of the Reporting Period. Differences resulting from the translation of financial statements of
operation with a functional currency other than RMB into the Group’s presentation currency
are excluded.

TRALAEERRENRAUBEERIEEEIA
S ERFHENEEREEXREMELENEER
B o RETTIHR - BRERRESEERARS ARAE
& - LAARBIIR - TEIEBEEBUARBIAIN
EEERTENMBRREEEARE 2 EREHW

8

i
et

At 31 March 2024

#2024%3A31H
HK$ RMB
BT AR
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents BekReZEEY 3,199 1,089
Intra-group loan receivable due from a subsidiary el —EIKT B AR EERER - 42,560
Gross exposure arising from recognised assets and liabilites ~ B HEREEMBEEANEMAELE 3,199 43,649
At 31 March 2023
#20235E3A31H
HK$ RMB
BT AREE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFTT
Cash and cash equivalents He MREEEY 64 1,408
Gross exposure arising from recognised assets and liabilites ~ EEREEM BEEENRKRLETE 64 1,408
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERENWETA

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s loss before income
tax that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the Reporting Period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk
variables remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between
HK$ and USD would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the
USD against other currencies.

HBEDH

TRINBERABEEMCEREREFTTE - ARER
¥ B R R = ol 528 T [0 39 0 EE KRB S AN SR I BR P
SRATBEELNRESE) - BithE - ERIET
HETTHAMAE R N2 X EEME TR B N(E
BRBHNERTE -

2024 2023
20245 2023

(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/

Increase/  increase in loss Increase/ increase in loss

(decrease) after tax and (decrease) in after tax and

in foreign accumulated foreign exchange accumulated

exchange rates losses rates losses

BRREGERR B2 e f

ShEEESE ZitER SN [ % REtEtE

/0 (%) (@), 18 #hn, CR) CRL) /4N

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBFTT

HK$ BT 5% (160) 5% (3)
-5% 160 -5% 3
RMB AR 5% (2,182) 5% (70)
-5% 2,182 -5% 70

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group entities’ loss after tax and accumulated losses
measured in the respective functional currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange rates
ruling at the end of the Reporting Period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been
applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the Reporting Period, including intra-group
loans from Beisen HK to the subsidiary, Sendou Shanghai which are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of Beisen HK and not designated as part of
the net investment in Sendou Shanghai. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
FY2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWETAN

Credit Risk

We are exposed to credit risk primarily in relation to its cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, term deposits as well as trade receivables, other receivables and contract
assets. The carrying amounts of each class of the above financial assets represent our
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

(i)  Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and term
deposits

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and term
deposits, we only transact with stated-owned financial institutions in the PRC or
reputable banks and financial institutions having high-credit-quality in the PRC
and Hong Kong. There has been no recent history of default in relation to these
financial institutions. The expected credit loss is immaterial.

(i)  Credit risk of trade receivables, other receivables and contract asseis

We have policies in place to ensure that trade receivables with credit terms are
made to counter-parties with an appropriate credit history and the management
performs ongoing credit evaluations of the counterparties. We make periodic
collective assessments or individual assessment as appropriate on the
recoverability of trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets based on
historical settlement records, past experience, current conditions and our view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of trade receivables, other receivables
and contract assets. The main exposure to credit risk at each of the reporting dates is
the carrying value of the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as 12-month expected credit losses
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery,
such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with us. Where financial
assets and contracts have been written off, we continue to engage in activities
to attempt to recover the receivables due. Where recoveries are made, these are
recognized in profit or loss.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED N
Liquidity risk mENE 2 RS

We aim to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of ~ ZAREBEB AN @R MRS RIS EEBY - B

the underlying businesses, the policy of us is to regularly monitor our liquidity risk and to FAEBHEREE  AEBNBRATHESRAEH

maintain adequate cash and cash equivalents to meet our liquidity requirements. MmENE ¢RI #ERHNIRE KIReEEY M
BAREENRBESHE -

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities (or the earliest datte a ~ TRIISAAEECHEEEEABERBENRAELOR
financial liability may become payable in the absence of a fixed maturity date) at the ~ BRIRIB &A= FIGAS LHAR GEEETFEHEHAEH
balance sheet date of our financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash ~ BER T &R BEALENNRZEBE)

flows:

Less than Between Between
1year 1and2years 2and5years QOver5years Total
DE 1E26 2FE55F 5L E #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETIT ARETET ARBTRT AR¥ETT AR®BTR

As at 31 March 2023 1#20233A 318
Trade payables B5ENE 6,766 - - - 6,766
Other payables and accruals H AR RESER (T
(excluding salary and welfare BREENE S RET B
payable, accrual for other taxes) SHEMFE) 31,261 - - - 31,261
Lease liabilities HERRE 35,820 22,444 335 - 58,599
73,847 22,444 335 - 96,626
As at 31 March 2024 R2024%3A31H
Trade payables B SREIFE 2,564 - - - 2,564
Other payables and accruals EtRAFERETER (T
(excluding salary and welfare BREENESRER &
payable, accrual for other taxes) STEMEE) 13,741 - - - 13,741
Lease liabilities HEARE 22,492 674 80 - 23,246
38,797 674 80 - 39,551

As at 31 March 2023, redeemable convertible preferred shares were classified as a non- 7202343 8310 - A EE[E A s8R B S iR D 28 A 3E R
current liability, because the preferred shareholders of the Company cannot demand the ~ BB (& - HARR FMESLARAL R 7202343 H31 B AT
Company to redeem their preferred shares within 12 months as at 31 March 2023. All  ESRAR FA2{E A AEBRIKR S NE KR - AA T
redeemable convertible preferred shares of the Company were converted into ordinary 75 A B [0 A] & 408 45 i 2 A B 422023 4F4 A 13 H 2 BR3¢
shares immediately before the completion of the Global Offering on 13 April 2023. B AT AR o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWETAN

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As of 31 March 2024, we did not pledge any of our assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS AND SIGNIFICANT
INVESTMENTS

As of 31 March 2024, save for wealth management products, we did not hold any
significant investments.

The financial assets that we invested mainly include investments in wealth management
products. Save for the purchases of the wealth management products announced by the
Company dated 3 August 2023, 22 September 2023, 11 October 2023, 2 November 2023
and 15 December 2023, the wealth management products subscribed by the Group during
the Reporting Period did not constitute notifiable transactions under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had subscribed for certain wealth management
products. The exact returns on all of these wealth management products are not guaranteed
(though a minimum return rate is guaranteed for each product), hence their contractual
cash flow do not qualify for solely payments of principal and interests. Therefore, they
are measured at fair value through profit or loss. As at 31 March 2024, the aggregated
outstanding principal amount of the Group’ s wealth management products was
RMB1,116.1 million, and the wealth management products (measured at fair value through
profit or l0ss) as a percentage to the Group’s total asset was 58.5%. As at 31 March 2024,
the outstanding principal amount of certain wealth management products subscribed by
the Group from Bank of China was RMB410.0 million, and the fair value of which was
RMB416.6 million, accounted for 21.9% of the Group'’s total assets. The expected return
rate for these products from Bank of China was 1.1% to 3.2%. As at 31 March 2024, the
outstanding principal amount of certain wealth management products subscribed by the
Group from Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd was RMB230.0 million, and the fair value
of which was RMB232.3 million, accounted for 12.3% of the Group’s total assets. The
expected return rate for these products from Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd was 1.60%
to 3.21%. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, there were no other outstanding
wealth management products (in aggregate) subscribed from any single licensed bank that
exceed 5% of the Group’s total assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EERENWETA

BE2024F3A3A - BFRERITRBHAT AR
2B Em(BEDIE A KB B EEMLLFITHRE% :

The following outstanding wealth management products (in aggregate) subscribed from
each of the licensed banks had a percentage of over 5% to the Group’s total assets as of 31

March 2024 respectively:
Fair value and relatve
size fothe Group'sfol
Subscription Maturity Principal amount of Investment scape of assets as of 31 March
Date Dale Name of Product Name of Bank subscription  Type of product and risk raing Expected return rate  product 024
BENUEIAYAL
LAREREHR
BHER Hoeg ER%R e DHseeH ERRURARAA flhEE ERNANE FREERENAR
Shuust 2023 6 August 2024 Linked Stucured Degast (nffutonel ~ Bank o hina RMB200 milion - Pricipl guaraned wih foating retum 14%-32% - AUDJUSD exchnge e RB20 4 milion; 1.1%
Clets) (minimum et ral guarate)
Az ER R HOUGRIEARRER) R8T NRENRET  RATEMAR(RERENAE) A% BnREREE  \RMNMAETRI
Shuust 2023 6 August 2024 Linked Stucured Dgast (nffutonel ~ Bank of China RMB300 milion - Pricipl guaraned wih foatng retum 14%-32% - AUDJUSD exchnge e MBS0 milion 2.7%
Clets) (minimum et ral Quarate)
LR ANFBRSR HOUGRIEARRES) R8T NRHNRET  RATEMAR(RERENAE) A% BnREREE  \RMSIOBETRLMG
2 Septemter 2003 24 aolember 204 Liked Stuctued Depost (nstuional  Bankaof China RUBH000millon  Prinipal uarenteedwith floaing eum 12%-31% - USDIPY echange e RUBI01 §millon; 5.3%
Clets) (minimum et rale Quarate)
NIFYRLA NMEORME  BOEGERGREEER)  0EEA NRRIEET  RESBMGYRESENGD) 1241% EniAnEE ARESEELR
53%
2 Septemter 2003 24 aolember 204 Liked Stuctued Depost (nstuional  Bank of China RUB150.0 milion - Prinipa qurented wih foaing e 126-31% - USDIPY echange e RUB1524 milion; 8.0°%
Clets) (minimum et ral guarate)
ABESANA NMEORME  BOEEEMEREEER  0EES NERUNEET  RESBMGYRESENGD) 1241% EniAnEE AREIUEELR
80%
2 Septemter 2003 Thorl 204 Linked Stuctured Dgast ntiutonel ~ Bank of China RMBA0.0 milion - Pricipl guaraned wih foating retum 11%27% - AUDIUSD exchnge e RO 2 millon;46%
Clets) (minimum relum e guarane)
R AMF4RIR EOERIEIRRTR)  REED NRHIRET  RAZEMAR(RERENEE) % EnRETEE  \RENIAETRA:
2Novemter 2023 6y 204 Corpora Sructured Depost Product Xiamen Infeional Bank RMB300 milion - Pricipl guaraned wih foating retum 160%/305%/  EURUSD exchange rate B30 4 milion; 1.6%
(Type A ofthre-nels pegged (o, L0 (minimum relum e guaranie) 315%
Bchange e
ABEN AR AFIRSR DUEEUEIERBOEE  ERERRARAR NRENRET  RASEMAR(RERENGE) 1600 EpXnEE  ARBIMEETRIGH
ZERE A 315
13 November 23 81y 204 Corpoa Sructured DepostProduct Xiamen Infeional Bank RMBA0.0 milion - Pricipl guaraned wih foafing reum 160%/305%/  EURUSD exchange rate RBS1 0 milion; 4%
(Type A ofthre-nels pegged (o, L (minimum relum e guarane) 315%
Bchange e
ABENABE A DUGRUEIERGNEE  EPEESRARY NRHNRET  RASEMAR(RERENEE) 1600 EpXTEE  ARMIUBETRN
ZERE BRAA 315
15 Decemter 2023 Sdure 204 Corpora Sructured Depost Product Xiamen Infelional Bank RMB36.0 milion - Pricipl guaraned wih foating retum 160%/3.11%/  EURUSD exchange rate RB33.3 millo; 1.9%
(Type A ofthre-nels pegged (o, L0 (minimum relum e guarane) 3%
Bchange e
ABERAKR ANFORSR LAERIFERENEE  EREREARD NRENRET  RAZEMAR(RERENGE) 1B0NY EpEnEE  ARBBIBETRIS
ZERE BRAA 3%
21 Decemter 2023 Sdure 204 Corpoa Sructured Depost Produet Xiamen Infeional Bank RMBTE.0 milion - Principl guaraned wih foating reum 160%/3.11%/  EURUSD exchange rate RB3.6 millon; 4 0%
(Type A ofthre-nels pegged (o, L0 (minimum relum e guarane) 3%
Bchange )
NBFIANR A5 LREREFIERBNER  ERERRARN NREBRET  RAZEMAR(RERENGE) 1B0RNY EpETEE  ARERSAETRUN
ZERE BRAA 3%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWETAN

In view of an upside of earning with a more attractive return than current saving or fixed
deposit, as well as the risk nature and the relatively short-term of maturity of those wealth
management products, the Group selected products with strong liquidity, safety feature
and reasonable returns issued by reputable licensed banks and financial institutions.

During the Reporting Period, there were no material acquisitions, disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

During the year ended and as of 31 March 2024, the Group did not have future plans for
material investments and capital assets.

EMPLOYEES

As of 31 March 2024, we had 1,854 (31 March 2023: 2,085) employees in total. For
the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s total staff costs amounted to approximately
RMB1,108.4 million, including salaries, wages, bonuses, share-based compensation,
pension costs, other social security costs, housing benefits and other employee benefits.
The Group continued to optimize the incentive-based system in line with business
development needs and implemented remuneration policies with competitiveness.

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and incentivize qualified personnel.
We provide various incentives and benefits for our employees. We offer competitive
salaries, bonuses and share-based compensation to our employees, especially key
employees.

The Group believes that it is vital to attract, recruit and retain quality employees. To
maintain the quality, knowledge and skill levels of the Group’s workforce, the Group
provides the employees with periodic training, including introductory training for new
employees, technical training, professional and management training and health and safety
training. The Group believes that it maintains a good relationship with its employees and
the Group did not experience any significant labor disputes or any difficulty in recruiting
staff for its operations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company is not aware of any material subsequent events after 31 March 2024 and up
to the date of this announcement.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFEEREER

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Zhaohui (E $RE8)

Mr. Wang Zhaohui (= 3A1E), aged 49, the co-founder of our Group, has been serving as
an executive Director and the chairman of the Board of our Company since 6 April 2018.
He is primarily responsible for overall strategic planning and presiding over the Board
affairs. Concurrently, Mr. Wang holds various directorships and management positions
in our subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entity and details are set out in the table
below:

EE

BITES

FHEEE

THEELL - 495 - NEEBARIEA - 5201854
EHEBETAARIMITESRESFEEIR  TRRA
ERBRASLEIRESTESFH - TRERNKEBAR

Mg ABBERFRILEESTHG LB - 715
BT

Name of our Subsidiary and
Consolidated Affiliated Entity

Directorship and/or Management Position

Date of Appointment

HEARRGARERERE EERBR SEERA Z=EEH
Onshore Holdco Manager 5 November 2020
BIEIR A E g 2020511 A5H
Chairman of the board of directors 5 January 2011
EEGIE 201141 A5H
Beijing WFOE Executive director and manager 5 November 2020
IERINEBEE B PITE SRR 2020511 A5H
Chengdu WFOE Executive director and manager 19 November 2020
BREBINE BB (2 PITE SRR 2020511 A19H

Mr. Wang has nearly 21 years of experience in the HCM industry and corporate
management in China. Prior to founding our Group, Mr. Wang served as the general
manager in Beijing Beisen Shengshi Technology Development Co., Ltd. (3 =1L ZRE%
R EE R B R /2 7)) (‘Beisen Shengshi”), a company primarily engaged in talent
evaluation, where he was responsible for the overall management of the company, from
March 2002 to April 2005. Beisen Shengshi was subsequently deregistered on 30 June
2006 and was solvent at the time of its deregistration. He also served in Beisen Shengya,
a former subsidiary of the Group which is primarily engaged in career solution for
universities, as the general manager from July 2016 to June 2021 and an executive director
from April 2009 to September 2021, where he was responsible for the over management of
the company.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor's degree in chemical engineering from North China Institute
of Technology (224t T £2B5, currently known as North University of China (47 4t A< £2))
in the PRC in July 1997.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESHESREERE

Mr. Ji Weiguo (¥2 {2 E)

Mr. Ji Weiguo (4212 Bd), aged 50, the co-founder of our Group, has been serving as an
executive Director and the chief executive officer of our Company since 6 April 2018. He
is primarily responsible for overall strategic planning, as well as the overall research and
development of our Company. Mr. Ji has served as the executive director of Chengdu
WFOE from 3 January 2019 to 18 November 2020. Concurrently, Mr. Ji holds various
directorships and management positions in our subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated
Entity, and details are set out in the table below:

REEEE

WIRBISA © 505% - AEEHAEIAA - 82018947
EEREARAARRITESRITHAES TEHEX
ARV EEEE B IR B DA LB BB B TR o 42 SR 72019
F1AZEZE2020F 11 A18BEEREINEBECEN
YITES - LEERMBRRIRGABBEEERTS
EESBBEREEBA - FFEEHRTE

Name of our Subsidiary and Directorship and/or Management Position Date of Appointment
Consolidated Affiliated Entity

MEARRGEHERIEEE EERBR SHEERA =AM

Onshore Holdco Executive director 17 May 2005
RAER QA WITES 200555 A417H
Sendou Shanghai Executive director 3 July 2019

RELE WITESE 20195F7 A3H

Mr. Ji has nearly 21 years of experience in the HCM industry in China. Prior to founding
our Group, Mr. Ji has worked together with Mr. Wang, our Co-founder, at Beisen Shengshi
from December 2002 to April 2005, where he served as the product manager and was
responsible for management of product research and development.

Mr. Ji obtained his bachelor’s degree in mechanical design and manufacturing in
Zhengzhou College of Light Industry (251 &8 T 22 E285 currently known as Zhengzhou
University of Light Industry (ZB/H#E T 2 K E2)) in the PRC in July 1997 and received
a master's degree of business administration in international management from Shanghai
International MBA program, which was offered through a partnership between Tongji
University ([F375 A £2) in the PRC and Ecole nationale des ponts et chaussées in France
in October 2004.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESHSRERE

Ms. Liu Xianna (2173 55)

Ms. Liu Xianna (212 45), aged 50, has been serving as an executive Director and
the chief financial officer of our Company since 31 December 2021 and 1 May 2021,
respectively. She was appointed as a joint company secretary in 31 December 2021.
Ms. Liu joined our Group on 1 November 2018 as the vice president of finance of the
Onshore Holdco. Goncurrently, Ms. Liu has been serving as an executive director of
Onshore Holdco since 18 June 2021. She is primarily responsible for the financial, legal,
commercial and government affairs of the Company.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Liu served as the financial manager in Emerson Process
Management (Tianjin) Valves Co., Ltd. (3ZBRAEBIRE 1B (K2 MPI AR A 7)),
a company primarily focusing on automation solution with highly reliable flow control
technologies, where she was responsible for the overall management of the factory's
financial affairs, until October 2009. From November 2009 to June 2012, she served as
the financial manager in Cabot Chemical (Tianjin) Company Ltd. (=184 Tk
#) AR A ®)), a company primarily engaged in specialty chemicals and performance
materials manufacturing, where she was responsible for the overall financial affairs in
Tianjin Factory. After that, she worked in Cabot (China) Co., Ltd. (F1&4F (Fh B R E
ABR 72 7)) as the financial director in Greater China, a company headquartered in Boston
primarily engaged in overall management of all specialty chemicals and performance
materials manufacturing sites and trading companies in mainland China, where she was
responsible for the overall financial affairs in Mainland China and Hong Kong as a director
of Greater China. From March 2015 to October 2018, she served as the financial director
in Amazon (China) Holding Company Limited (35 55 # (1 B) & & AR A 7)), a
company primarily engaged in online shopping and AWS business in China, where she
took in charge of the financial affairs of logistics division of Amazon in China. She has
been serving as the visiting professor of Tianjin University of Finance & Economics (&
AT A& K22 since May 2014 and the off campus advisor of University of International
Business and Economics (37ME 75 & 5 A E2) since September 2019.

Ms. Liu received a bachelor's degree in accounting from Tianjin University of Commerce
(RIERZEAEZ) in the PRC in July 1997 and received a master's degree of business
administration from California American University in the United States in July 2002. She
was admitted as a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in the United Kingdom, Institute of Public Accountants in the Australia and Institute of
Financial Accountants in the United Kingdom in March 2010, January 2017 and January
2017 respectively. She was qualified to act as the independent non-executive director of
companies listed on The Science and Technology Innovation Board and Main Board by
Shanghai Stock Exchange (_E/878 #7325 FfT) and Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Z=3117&
%32 5 F) in July 2019. She was evaluated as the Senior Financial Management Talent
(BA 75 B T2 & A A ) by Enterprise Financial Management Association of China (7R
PEIEEIERE) in October 2020. She has been admitted as an internal affiliate of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (& /&€ &HEM/A€) on 23 February
2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESHESREERE

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Du Kui ($#3&)

Mr. Du Kui (££2%), aged 60, has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of our Company on 30 March 2023. He is primarily responsible for supervising
and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Du served as the president in Beijing Renzhongren
Expansion Training Co., Ltd. 3t R AR AFREFIBRGBR 22 F), a nationwide training
enterprise focusing on experiential learning technology, where he was responsible for
management and business operation of the company, since December 2000. He then
served as the general director in China Youth Association for Economic development (Ff
B S FRIZ2E D), an institution primarily engaged in promoting the development
of the market economy and the progress of youth, and an authorized principal of legal
representative in Ying Charity Foundation (i ‘Az %<& =), an institution primarily
engaged in supporting youth entrepreneurship, since January 2013. Currently, he has
been serving as the chief counsel in Renhezhengdao Management Consulting (Beijing)
Co., Ud. (A& IEEEEEJLR) AR A F]), a consulting firm primarily engaged
in corporation training, where he was responsible for strategy planning and clients
training, since September 2013. Meanwhile, he has also been serving as a non-executive
Director in Keen Offshore Engineering Co., Ltd. (FESRABIREF TEBRMDERA
A1), a marine engineering company engaged in integrating research, development, design,
manufacturing and offshore construction, since May 2016.

Mr. Du received a bachelor's degree in education from Beijing Normal University (1t
FLAMEEAE2) in the PRC in June 1985. He also received a master's degree of public
administration and management from University of Antwerp in the Kingdom of Belgium in
October 1994.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESHSRERE

Mtr. Zhao Honggiang (#8%34)

Mr. Zhao Honggiang (#87=38), aged 47, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of our Company on 30 March 2023. He is primarily responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhao worked in KPMG LLP, a global accounting firm
providing audit, tax and advisory services, in the United States from August 2001 to
February 2009, with the most recent position being Audit Manager. He also previously held
the position of assistant chief auditor at the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board,
a regulatory oversight agency under the SEC. Mr. Zhao also served as vice president
of finance at SouFun Holdings Limited (currently known as Fang Holdings Limited), a
leading real estate internet portal in China listed on New York Stock Exchange (stock code:
SFUN) from May 2013 to August 2014. Moreover, he served as the chief financial officer
of Beijing Branch of Lede Technology Co., Ltd (2475 EH£ B BR 22 &, currently known as
NetEase Lede Technology Co., Ltd (48 5 2415 BHE BBR 72 71)), a company primarily
engaged in online virtual trading, from October 2014 to October 2015. He also served as
the chief financial officer and executive director of Bairong Inc. (& BEZAll), a leading
independent Al-powered technology platform in China serving the financial services
industry listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 6608), from June 2018 to May
2023, where he was responsible for financial strategy, financial management and investor
relations. Mr. Zhao currently holds several directorships in several public companies,
including:

o HUYA Inc., a leading China-based game live streaming company listed on New
York Stock Exchange (stock code: HUYA), where he has served as its independent
director since May 2018;

. Li Auto, Inc. (F£48585), an innovator in China’s new energy vehicle market listed
on Nasdaq Stock Exchange (stock code: LI) and Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2015), where he has served as its independent director and is responsible for
providing independent opinion and judgement to the board of directors since July
2020;

o Gogox Holdings Limited (R¥m¥T ZE42 A% A BR 22 F)), a major online intra-city
logistics platform in Asia listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 2246),
where he has served as its independent non-executive director and is responsible
for providing independent opinion and judgment to the board of directors since
June 2022. He was appointed as an independent non-executive director at a board
meeting of Gogox Holdings Limited held on 13 August 2021, and the appointment
took effect from 24 June 2022; and
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESHESREERE

. YSB Inc. (226TE % {n A FR /A &)), a digital pharmaceutical platform serving
businesses outside of hospitals in China listed on the Hong Kang Stock Exchange
(stock code: 9885), where he has served as its independent non-executive director
and is responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to the
board of directors and serving as chairman and/or members of certain committees
of the board of directors since June 2023.

Mr. Zhao received a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Tsinghua University (/&5 5 X £2)
in the PRC in July 1999 and a master's degree in accountancy from George Washington
University in the United States in July 2001.

Mr. Ge Ke (1)

Mr. Ge Ke (B7]), aged 51, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of our Company on 30 March 2023. He is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ge served several positions in Kingsoft Group, which refers
to Kingsoft Corporation Limited (&1L #X {45 BR 2 &)), a leading software and internet
service company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 3888), and its
subsidiaries, where he served as the assistant to the chief executive officer since 1999, and
then successively served as the chief officer in the distribution department, a vice president
and a senior vice president in charge of overall office software business. Mr. Ge has served
as an executive director in Zhuhai Kingsoft Office Software Co., Ltd. (B&/8 & L3 A 8L
AR A 7)) from 2011 to 2021. He has currently served as the chairman of the board
of directors of Beijing Kingsoft Office Software, Inc. (At & LIt AR EEAZD B IR A
aJ), a Chinabased leading office software and service provider listed on the Science and
Technology Innovation Board of Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688111), since
July 2016, and also holds several positions in other members of Kingsoft Group. Mr. Ge
has been serving as an executive director in Beijing Qiwen Yiwei Investment Co., Ltd. (1t
RE NS ERERREERAT), an investment company, where he was responsible
for overall management and business operation since Qctober 2015. He has also been
serving as a director in Ray Tower Limited (#27%F & BR /2 &]) where he was responsible
for overall management and business operation since July 2015.

Mr. Ge received a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Nanjing University (F /= A Z2)
inJuly 1995.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our senior management team comprises of Mr. Ji Weiguo and Ms. Liu Xianna, each of
whom is an executive Director of our Company. See their biographies above. Our senior
management is responsible for the day-to-day management and operation of our business.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Our platform iTalentX delivers cloud-native SaaS products, namely our cloud-based
HCM solutions, for enterprises to recruit, evaluate, manage, develop and retain talents
efficiently. We offer integrated cloud-based HCM solutions that synchronize use cases and
the underlying employee data for our customers. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities since the Listing Date and up to the date of this
report. Please refer to note 35 to the consolidated financial statements on page 232 for
details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group on pages 125 to 233 of this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the year ended 31
March 2024.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on Friday, 20 September 2024. A notice convening the said AGM
will be published and provided to the Shareholders in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Monday, 16 September 2024 to Friday, 20 September
2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 13 September 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the issued Shares during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2024
are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As of 31 March 2024, the Company did not have any distributable reserves.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 13 April 2023. A summary of the results
and of the assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial information and financial statements, is set out on
pages 5 to 6 of this annual report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
As at 31 March 2024, the Company had no bank loans or other borrowings.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on the information available to the Company and to
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company’s public float complies with the requirements
of Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the laws
of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders
by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 13 April 2023. Our
Company received net proceeds (after deduction of underwriting fees and commissions
and expenses payable by us) in connection with the Global Offering in the amount of
approximately HK$155.0 million. Such net proceeds have been and will be applied in
accordance with the purposes as set out in the Prospectus by the Company. The details
of intended application of net praceeds from the Global Offering and the actual use of net
proceeds as at 31 March 2024 are set out as follows:

RHREMERABHAE

RRFIRD EFR20235F4 A3 B MR AT =R B »
AR A2 IR B UEI AT 1S R85 58 (R H R s 24P
JENEBHEERRME AR %) QR155.08 8%
T o ARBIDRREBIZRABREREMEMARER
LEMSRIEER - BARIRBEMSIIRFRIE
PRI M B ZE2024F3 A3 B PSSR R E R ARG rR
BEFIEAT -

Approximate % of  Net proceeds from
[tem total net proceeds the Global Offering

ERRREERE URERFRE

Utilized net proceeds Unutilized net
from the Global ~ proceeds from the
Offering asat 31  Global Offering asat  Expected timeline of full utilization
March 20242 31 March 2024 of the unutilized net proceeds®
BENUFIANA  BEWUEIANA
CHAZERER FDA2BRER BRDRAXDRAFSRESEN

H HENESL 4] wRERE ARERE  FUREE0
(HKS million) (HKS millon) (HKS million)
(BE¥T) (B5#ET) (G887
Further upgrade our integrated cloud-based
HCM solutions
E-SAB-RIEERIONRAHE
(&) Integrate more seamlessly our cloud-based HOM solutions 15% 83 06 227 Before 31 December 2028
() EmEEELEEHNERAE A8F12A3187]
(o) Enhance the functionality and features of our Core HOM Solutions 15% AR 19 214 Before 31 December 2028
(o) SEEBOHOMEE AR REMD 8 R A8F12A31A7]
(c)  Upgrade our other HCM solutions 5% 78 24 54 Before 31 December 2028
() FHREMHOMERAE ABEAYIAH
Continue to enhance our technology development capabilities
ERTARERRED
(8)  Upgrade our PaaS infrastructure 0% 310 06 304 Before 31 December 2028
(o) FHRPaSERRE R ESVERIE R
(b)  Expand R&D teams with enhanced R&D efficiency 10% 155 07 148 Before 31 December 2028
b BAHEEYN ROHERE ABEANAH
Strengthen our sales and marketing efforts
MERERENTI
(a)  Expand our sales force nationwide % 109 109 - Not Applicable
() T2EEENEARENR TER
(b)  Expand and diversify our sales and marketing channels 5% 18 18 - Not Applicable
b ARREFHEREHEE TR
(c)  Improve our sales and markefing technologies 3% 47 04 43 Before 31 December 2028
() EeEREREHERM ABERANBR
Enhance our customer success and services capabilities 10% 155 100 55 Before 31 December 2028
RREFRMREHED ABENANBE
Working capital and other general corporate purposes 10% 152 124 28 Not Applicable
EEZARAM-MOERE TR
Total 1000 1550 a7 1073
#it
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Notes:

(1) The expected timeline is based on the best estimation made by the Group on future market
condition and may change with the current market condition and future development.

(2) The amount is calculated based on the benchmark exchange rate of RMB against Hong Kong
Dollars as announced by the PRC on 25 June 2024 (i.e. HK$1.00 to RMB0.91).

(3) The figures in the table are approximate figures.

The Company will use the remaining proceeds for the purpose as disclosed in the Prospectus.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview and Performance of the Year

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including an analysis of the Group’s
financial performance and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this report. These discussions form part of this report. Events
affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of the Reporting Period is set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Events after the Reporting
Period” in this report.

Key Relationship with Stakeholders

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including employees, customers,
suppliers and other business associates are key to the Group’s success. The Group strives
to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong
relationships with them.

The Group believes that it is vital to attract, recruit and retain quality employees. To
maintain the quality, knowledge and skill levels of the Group’s workforce, the Group
provides the employees with periodic training, including introductory training for new
employees, technical training, professional and management training and health and safety
training. The Group believes that it maintains a good relationship with its employees and
the Group did not experience any significant labor disputes or any difficulty in recruiting
staff for its operations.

We believe our focus on customer success and service is critical to onboarding new
customers and retaining our existing customers and growing our business. We have
invested heavily in the quality and training of our customer success and service teams to
ensure that they could maintain a consistently high level of our services. Our large and
growing customer base has also provided us with valuable insights into industry best
practices that enable us to better understand customer needs to continuously refine our
offerings and improve customer experience.

Details of an account of the Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers,
suppliers and other business associates that have a significant impact on the Company are
set out in the environmental, social and governance report of the Company which will be
disclosed as a separate report and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company together with the publication of this annual report.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES, ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES
AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee bengfits
and development, protecting the environment and giving back to community and
achieving sustainable growth. In August 2023, the Group made donation in the amount
of RMB100,000 to Zhuozhou Civil Affairs Bureau (M T RIEX/®) in support of flood
victims in Zhuozhou. In December 2023, the Group donated RMB100,000 to Gansu
Provincial Charity Federation (H #R& & Z W4 42) to support relief efforts in
areas affected by the earthquake that struck Jishishan County in Gansu. In September
2023, the Group donated goods to support the fund raising and charity event organized
by Chengdu High-tech Zone Guixi Street Office (FXEB S FTRAZHE DI FER).
The environmental, social and governance report of the Company will be disclosed as a
separate report and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
together with the publication of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board is committed to achieving good corporate governance standards.

The Board beligves that good corporate governance standards are essential in providing a
framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate our business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the CG Code contained
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance
practices. The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on 13 April 2023,
since then the CG Code as contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules was applicable
to the Company.

In the opinion of the Directors, since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report,
the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. The
Directors will periodically review on the Company’s corporate governance policies and will
propose any amendment, if necessary, to ensure compliance with the code provisions from
time to time.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as

its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions since the Listing Date.

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he
or she had complied with the requirements as set out in the Model Code since the Listing
Date and during the rest of the Reporting Period.

The Company’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company, are also subject to the Model Code. No incident of non-
compliance with the Model Code by the employees was noted by the Company since the
Listing Date and during the rest of the Reporting Period.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

There are certain key risks and uncertainties involved in our operations, some of which are
beyond our control.

Set out below are the material risks and uncertainties that we face:

o our ability to upgrade, enhance and expand our technology and solutions or
provide successful enhancements, new features and applications to suit our
customers’ evolving needs;

o our ability to maintain and grow our customer base;

o our financial position;

° our ability to effectively manage our technology infrastructure and continue
innovating and keeping pace with technological developments;

° our ability to maintain stable relationships with our third-party cloud-based
infrastructure providers; and

o breaches to our security measures and unauthorized access to customer data.
However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to make their own

judgment or consult their own investment advisors before making any investment in the
Shares.
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PROSPECTS

A description of the future development in the Company’s future business is provided in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
of this report.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report are as follows:
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhachui (Chairman)
Mr. Ji Weiguo (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Liu Xianna (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Du Kui
Mr. Zhao Honggiang
Mr. Ge Ke

In accordance with Article 26.1 of the Articles of Association, subject to the provisions of
the Articles of Assaciation and the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (as revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the Company may by ordinary resolution appoint any person to be a Director,
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director.

In accordance with Articles 26.3, the Directors may appoint any person to be a Director,
either to fill a vacancy or as an additional Director provided that the appointment does
not cause the number of Directors to exceed any number fixed by or in accordance with
the Articles as the maximum number of Directors. Any Director so appointed shall hold
office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company after such Director’s
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-glection at that meeting.

In accordance with Article 26.4 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general
meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not three or multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Accordingly, Mr. Ji Weiguo and Mr. Ge Ke shall retire from office by rotation at the AGM.
All of the retired directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM are set out in the circular
to Shareholders to be dispatched in due course in the manner as required by the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out
on pages 40 to 45 of this report. Save as disclosed in this report and as at the date of this
report, there are no other changes to the Directors’ or chief executive’s information as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rules 13.51(2) and 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules
since the publication of the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30
September 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND APPOINTMENT
LETTERS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for
an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 30 March 2023 and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term. Each of our
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 30 March 2023 and will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than two months’ notice in writing served
by either party on the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired service
contract or appointment letter which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

We have received from each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Du
Kui, Mr. Zhao Honggiang and Mr. Ge Ke, the confirmation of their respective independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has duly reviewed the
confirmation of independence of each of these Directors. We consider that our independent
non-executive Directors have been independent from the date of their appointments to 31
March 2024 and remain so as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As far as the Company is aware, as at 31 March 2024, the interests and/or short positions
(as applicable) of our Directors and chief executive in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of our Company and its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO, which were required (a) to be notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and/or
short positions (as applicable) which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFQ); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

ESERERITHRASRKG « HRRH
RiREEmERRXE

MARAIPNE - 202453 A3N A - ARREFE L&D
TBRABRARBHEREEE(ERREHRLHAE
TEPIEXVER D) BBty - MR R EREE P 7S (a)
RIBE S M EEPIEXVE D BT RFESD BAME R
DA RE R TR K SOk R (B A) (BIERIEE
FREEGPBBIESUREESR AR OER N,
FRR) ¢+ RO)RIERE S K G 5P 35216M0 3R E A
BRRZErm R MRegs R 2O%R - KR
BRETRRMGADR KB MHEREN AR
LI

Long/Short Positions in the Shares RBEXIFRBIFE RE
Approximate
Number of Shares percentage of
Name of Director or Chief Executive Capacity/Nature of interest interested™ shareholding®
EFSRETRARRS S EaHE HREHESNERHHE" BHBBEaE S
(%)
Mr. Wang Zhaohui (“Mr. Wang”) ©© Beneficiary of a trust 81,054,370 (L) 11.28
FRABSEAE(ESRE])OO FEEXmA
Interest in controlled corporation 30,516,150 (L) 425
RiEEE R
Beneficial interest 1,754,200 (L) 0.24
Engn
Interest of Spouse 2,060,570 (L) 0.29
il she
Mr. Ji Weiguo (“Mr. Ji") @ Beneficiary of a trust 80,644,370 (L) 11.23
WIEBIEE(THREEDY FEEEmA
Beneficial interest 1,706,000 (L) 0.24
BEagn
Ms. Liu Xianna (“Ms. Liu") © Beneficial interest 1,227,360 (L) 017
2Tz L ([@ZE O BEangn
Beneficiary of a trust 1,730,990 (L) 0.24
FEEEmA
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The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.
As at 31 March 2024, there were 718,354,420 Shares in issue.

Zhaosen Holding Limited is a limited liability company which is owned by (i) Xiasen
Limited as to 1%, an exempted company with limited liability wholly owned by Mr.
Wang and (ii) Huisen Holding Limited as to 99%, a limited company incorporated in the
BVI wholly owned by Sen Talent Holdings Limited, a BVI limited company, which is in
turn wholly owned by Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., as the trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang (as settlor and protector) for the benefit of Mr. Wang and his family. As such,
each of Mr. Wang, Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., Sen Talent Holdings Limited and Huisen
Holding Limited is deemed to be interested in 81,054,370 Shares owned by Zhaosen
Holding Limited under the SFO.

On 1 March 2023, Mr. Wang was granted 1,500,000 options pursuant to the Pre-
IPO Share Option Plan, and details of which are set out in “Statutory and General
Information-D. Pre-IPO Share Option Plan—2. Outstanding share options” in the
Appendix IV of the Prospectus. In addition, as at 31 March 2024, Mr. Wang directly
holds 254,200 Shares.

Ms. Zhou Dan (&), Mr. Wang’s spouse, was granted, taking into account of the
Share Subdivision, (i) 783,410 options on 1 January 2019 pursuant to the Pre-IPO
Share Option Plan, which were all exercised and 783,410 Shares were issued pursuant
to the Pre-1PQ Share Option Plan immediately after the completion of the Global Offering
and the Share Subdivision, and (ii) 1,277,160 options on 1 March 2023, which were
not vested. For details, please see “Statutory and General Information — D. Pre-IPO
Share Option Plan—2. Outstanding share options” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus. As
such, Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested in 2,060,570 Shares that Ms. Zhou Dan is
interested in under the SFO. Ms. Zhou Dan is also deemed to be interested in the Shares
that Mr. Wang is interested in under the SFO.

Weisen Holding Limited is a limited liability company which is owned by (i) Xisen
Limited as to 1%, an exempted company with limited liability wholly owned by Mr. Ji
and (ii) Guosen Holding Limited as to 99%, a limited company incorporated in the BVI
wholly owned by Sen Platform Holdings Limited, a BVI limited company, which is in
turn wholly owned by Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., as the trustee for a trust established
by Mr. Ji (as settlor and protector) for the benefit of Mr. Ji and his family. As such,
each of Mr. Ji, Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., Sen Platform Holdings Limited and Guosen
Holding Limited is deemed to be interested in 80,644,370 Shares owned by Weisen
Holding Limited under the SFO. On 1 March 2023, Mr. Ji was granted 1,500,000 options
pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan, and details of which are set out in “Statutory
and General Information—D. Pre-IPO Share Option Plan—2. Qutstanding share options”
in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

TR -F/I 2R F FERSE

FRMEZBATRIRDITE
7202443 4318 - B BTN 73718,354,420% »

Zhaosen Holding Limited 8 —ZX AR A &) - H (i) Xiasen
Limited(E R E2BEREN—RERCERATDHES
1% B A5 4 R (ii) Huisen Holding Limited(— R R H B4R
FRESEMRYNAERAR)EEII%MEZ © Huisen
Holding Limited F3 28 /& # FR ;R B¥ & A PR 2 7] Sen Talent
Holdings Limited2 & #E4 - MSen Talent Holdings Limited
FRArkTrust (Singapore) Ltd.fE B E L E(EAZEAR
REN) BT AERERKEANRRLOETLHZTA
2EEE - At - BEEFSREAEKD - F5£4£ -
Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd. - Sen Talent Holdings Limited 52
Huisen Holding Limited# 4% &> Zhaosen Holding Limited#¥
A H81,054, 3700 A 1D P HE B AERS ©

R2023F3A1E - TAEREBANAREESAER
HERT B %1,500,00010 85084 - BREFBHARBRE
R EEMDEE R —ER D E X AREEAER
PERTE] — 2. M ARTTIERERRAE] Lol - 74202443 A 31
B - TREEERA2542000%& 1% ©

TRENEBREM L+ (BEEERMIFA) (1) 2019
FIRAIARBEA AHAEEBRETEERT
78341010 RERRE - BREREITE - WERBERERIR
BERBRMOIFMATKEREE X ARSI ERE
AT 213577783, 410 A% 1 + R (i))AA2023F3 A1 A& &
F1,277 160D BERRAE - M AKREHE - BRAIFE 2
MBEREREMBEELCAE R —RER —D. B AME
EATERAEE -2 MARTERRE] - it - RIE
BHERBERD  TRAERKARASZTERN
2,060,570R% AR 10 AP #E A 2 o IRIBEFH K HAE K0 -
BARLZETMERAREREFTAENRD T A #

= o
fm

Weisen Holding Limited 2 —=R AR A7) + E /(i) Xisen
Limited & 2 BEREN—RERCERATDHES
1% B A5 4 X (i) Guosen Holding Limited(— R R E B4R
FEEEMAMERAE)EEII%EE © Guosen
Holding Limited £ 2% & #& F 5 ¥ 5 B BR 2 & Sen Platform
Holdings LimitedZ= & # % + M Sen Platform Holdings
Limited g Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd. fE &40 4= (fEAZE
FEARARTEN) RS E R AR GEF RS0
ZRAAZEHE - At - REZHFRARGKE - &
S 4~ Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd. ~ Sen Platform Holdings
Limited & Guosen Holding Limited#%48 A&7 Weisen Holding
Limited#% /5 880,644, 3700 A% 19 AR # B #E s o 7220234
3A1B  BuaERBEE A MBS BIRE B
#1,500,00010 fEfx e - A BEERAN BREIZM SR
DEER AR —D. B R ARSI ERETE -
2. ARITIREEEARAE] -
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(5)  Ms. Liu has been granted 2,843,150 options, including (i) 1,730,990 options granted (6) BT EER2,843,15010 ERRAE - E A (i)FR2018F 11
on 1 November 2018, 1 April 2020 and 1 April 2021 which have been exercised and A18 - 20204818 %2021F4 A1 8% 191,730,990
1,730,990 Shares were issued pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan immediately PDEREDETHE - B1,730,990 DR BEEESR
after the completion of the Global Offering and the Share Subdivision; and (ii) 1,112,160 RBEERBOIFATHKERBEEAAHAESHER
options granted on 1 March 2023 of which were not vested. For details, please see EETEIZE1T 0 R()R2023F3A1BRENKREBN
“Statutory and General Information-D. Pre-IPO Share Option Plan—2. Outstanding share 1,112,160 R HE - RIS - ELHBRERN
options” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus. SRUEE R —RER —D. B X AR ERBRAET
B —2. M ARITIEREARAE] -
(6)  Senyan International L.P. is our employee shareholding platform incorporated in the BVI (6)  Senyan International L.P. &% {fI52019F7 16 H A E
with limited liability on 16 July 2019 with Xiasen Limited serving as its general partner. HRRHESIMALHBRE THRFE - BXiasen
Xiasen Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Wang. Senyan was established to reflect the total LimitedB(E LM AE A ° Xiasen Limited A E 2 E
award shares granted to the eligible employees of our Onshore Holdco held by Beisen %A o Senyan N BAHAT AR R FIEAZBRABE
Zongheng, prior to the Reorganization. See “History, Reorganization and Corporate EREENHIIRABFANRBIRMNEE - 715
Structure” in the Prospectus for details. As such, each of Mr. Wang and Xiasen Limited is FLHBRERIESL - SEARAFEE] - Bt -
deemed to be interested in 30,670,350 Shares owned by Senyan International L.P. under BEFEHREBAEGRD - £ %A EXiasen Limited 4% 4
the SFO. 7 Senyan International L.P.3% 45 #930,670,350/% A% 17 A
Bl o
Interests in Associated Corporations RiEBzEHES
Number of shares
interested in Approximate
Name of Director or Name of associated associated percentage of
Chief Executive corporation Nature of Interest corporation interests
EEE T ARk i [ 5
BReTHARMR HEEE RS oM™ FRERzERHA Ba@hast
(%)
Mr. Wang® Onshore Holdco Beneficial interest 21,274,997 (L) 38.12
FAQ RNZER A A B
Interest in controlled corporation 8,205,658 (L) 14.70
R EERE R
Interests held jointly with another person 21,272,996 (L) 38.12
HE— AT HRARFENER
Mr. Ji® Onshore Holdco Beneficial interest 21,272,996 (L) 38.12
it RZER A A B
Interest in controlled corporation 8,205,658 (L) 14.70
R EERE R
Interests held jointly with another person 21,274,997 (L) 38.12

5 -2 AT HEFGOER
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Note:

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the Onshore Holdco.

As at 31 March 2024, there were 55,805,203 shares of the Onshore Holdco in issue.

Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji are the limited partners holding approximately 64.07% and
35.92% partnership interests in Beijing Beisen Zongheng Investment Management
Center (Limited Partnership) (3t RILFRAEIRE B IEHR L (BRE %)) (‘Beisen
Zongheng”), a Registered Shareholder and a limited partnership established in the
PRC, which holds 8,000,658 shares of the Onshore Holdco. Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji are
the limited partners holding approximately 98.33% and 1.36% partnership interests
respectively in Beijing Beisen Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership)
(JERIEHRTEEEFTL(BRAFE)) (“‘Beisen Investment”), a Registered
Shareholder and a limited partnership established in the PRC, which holds 205,000
shares of the Onshore Holdco. Beijing Beisen Asset Management Co., Ltd. (1t =1t %k
BEE®AI AT (‘Beisen Asset’), a limited liability company established in the
PRC, is the general partner of Beisen Zongheng and Beisen Investment, which is owned as
to 50% by Mr. Wang and 50% Mr. Ji. Under the Onshore Acting-in-concert Agreement,
each of Mr. Wang, Mr. Ji, Beisen Zongheng and Beisen Investment held in aggregate
90.95% in the registered capital in the Onshore Holdco. Under the SFO, Mr. Wang is
deemed to be interested in the shares of the Onshore Holdco held by Beisen Zongheng,
Beisen Investment and Mr. Ji, while Mr. Ji is deemed to be interested in the shares of
the Onshore Holdco held by Beisen Zongheng, Beisen Investment and Mr. Wang. For
details, please refer to the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of our Directors, none of the Directors
or chief executive of our Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of our Company or any of its
associated corporations as at the date of this report.

TR -F/I 2R F FERSE

Bt

(1)

B EXFTREESN

FHILURRZATREARERA BB P RHENL
o

720243 A31H » BRI A B2 #1755,805,203%
Rt

ItRIEFABREEERFRL(ERAE) ([t&#
W) A—REEZBRE —RNFPERINEBRE
B FESEAER A R]8,000,6588 8% (5 - HP T
A RABTE BN BIF A 4964.07%5%35.92% 4 B n
HEREBA - EFIEREBEEEFRL(ERER)
(THFRE]) A BELDBRE  —FKRAFEMKILH
BEREBLE  HHEHENIERAF2050008 % -
HAPTRERLIREBDBIFHEX98.33%&1.36% 5
BRESNERAEEBA - LRIEREEEEBRAA
(HEE])  —FZRPERINERAF - Atk
MERIEFREENLEBEBA HPELERLE
£ A BIEFE0%K%50% o RIERAN—BITEHE
T4 wihd  ERUBERIERIREAEEBER
RIZRE R FI90.95% MM E AR - RIEFEH KHE K
Bl - EEEWRARIEHFERE  EHRBEARLEEE
BEMNBERRBRARTHEEZ  MLTERER
PR - AR BRERTAEFENERERA
AR A ELD - FIEH2HBRER -
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202453 A31H » IRARRIRIBEE S KB KRGIZE
BOIRAIFEBRLMANGE WTAL(RARES
HHEBITRA BRRIN R R ARRE IR ) B 1R
B N IR IRBIEXVER D 52 35 B G SR M AR A
WEERTOAR

As at 31 March 2024, the persons, other than our Directors or the chief executive of our
Company, who had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by our Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

Number of Shares Approximate percentage

Name of substantial shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest interested of shareholding
TERRME BB 5 HEHHE BRERNEREHED @;hsKRaEST
(%)
Zhaosen Holding Limited® Beneficial Interest 81,054,370 (L) 11.28
Bt
Huisen Holding Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 81,054,370 (L) 11.28
R EE R
Sen Talent Holdings Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 81,054,370 (L) 11.28
R EE R
Weisen Holding Limited® Beneficial Interest 80,644,370 (L) 11.23
Bt
Guosen Holding Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 80,644,370 (L) 11.23
R EE R
Sen Platform Holdings Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 80,644,370 (L) 11.23
R EE R
Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd.®® Trustee 161,698,740 (L) 2251
ZFEA
Ms. Zhou Dan (J&FT) © Beneficiary of a trust 81,837,780 (L) 11.39
EF £ Btz XE@mA
Interest of Spouse 32,270,350 (L) 449
BBt
Beneficial Interest 1,277,160 (L) 018
BamtEm
Jingwei Chuangda (Hangzhou) Venture Capital Beneficial Interest 50,648,990 (L) 7.05
Investment L.P.©)
KIRBIEMMBIERESRBE Bt
(BR&AH)O
Hangzhou Jingwei Tengchuang Investment Interest in controlled corporation 50,648,990 (L) 7.05
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) ©
MMNBEREIREEEBERBE R EE R
(BR&AH)0
Shanghai Jingwei Equity Investment Management  Interest in controlled corporation 50,648,990 (L) 7.05
Co., Ltd.®
PERRREREERGRARO R EE R
Shanghai Chuangji Investment Center L.P.® Beneficial Interest 45,551,670 (L) 6.34
FBEERERO(BRARE)O BamtEm
Shanghai Changchuang Investment Management  Interest in controlled corporation 45,551,670 (L) 6.34
Partnership (Limited Partnership) ©
PEREREEBABPEEREGR)Y SIEEN#ER
Shanghai Jingsheng Investment Management Co.,  Interest in controlled corporation 45,551,670 (L) 6.34
Ltd.®
FERBREBBERATO R EE R
Mr. Zuo Lingye (42 % ) © Interest in controlled corporation 96,200,660 (L) 13.39

TR SO

SEEBE R R
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Name of substantial shareholder

TERFHE BR

Capacity/Nature of Interest
S E#aHE

Number of Shares Approximate percentage

interested
BEREMERMAEBEY

of shareholding
L SEET =R M
(%)

Tsing Young Holding Limited®
Gaocheng Holdings GP, Ltd®
Gaocheng Holdings GP I, Ltd®
Gaocheng Fund I, L.P.©®
Gaocheng Fund II, L.P.®

GC HCM Holdings Limited®
YSZ Holdings Limited®

JVF Holdings Limited®

Ms. Hong Jing®

IO

Genesis Capital | LP?

Genesis Capital Ltd?

Yuan Capital Ltd™

Mr. PENG Zhijian®
FEBELED

SCGC Capital Holding Company Limited®

Shenzhen Capital (Hong Kong) Company Limited®

BIFTE AR (HEB)BRARTO
Shenzhen Capital Group Co., Ltd.®

RYTRFIRERBAR QRO

SVF Il Bandicoot (DE) LLC®)

SVF Il Investment Holdings (Subco) LLC®

SVF Il Investment Holdings LLC®
SVF Il Holdings (DE) LLC®
SVF I Aggregator (Jersey) L.P.©

SVF 11 GP (Jersey) Limited®

Interest in controlled corporation
REAE R R

Interest in controlled corporation
REAE R R

Interest in controlled corporation
REAE R R

Interest in controlled corporation
REAE R R

Interest in controlled corporation
REAE R R

Beneficial Interest

BEntEn

Beneficial Interest

Bantn

Beneficial Interest

Bantn

Interest in controlled corporation
RiEEE e R

Beneficial Interest

Bantn

Interest in controlled corporation
REAE R R

Interest in controlled corporation
REAER R

Interest in controlled corporation
RiEEE e R

Beneficial Interest

Bntn

Interest in controlled corporation
RiEEE e R

Interest in controlled corporation
RiEEE e R

Beneficial Interest

Bntn

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE R R

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE R R

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE R R

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE R R

Interest in controlled corporation
REEE R R

58,325,560 (L)
22,640,948 (L)
35,684,612 (L)
22,640,948 (L)
35,684,612 (L)

2,052,060 (L)
20,588,888 (L)
35,684,612 (L)
58,325,560 (L)
56,509,000 (L)
56,509,000 (L)
56,509,000 (L)
56,509,000 (L)
50,165,430 (L)
50,165,430 (L)
50,165,430 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)

41,041,130 (L)

8.12

3.15

497

3.15

497

0.29

2.87

497

8.12

7.87

7.87

7.87

7.87

6.98

6.98

6.98

5.71

5.71

5.71

5.71

5.71

5.71

SR EFSR A FERE
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Name of substantial shareholder
FERRENS BE

Capacity/Nature of Interest
57 #atE

Number of Shares Approximate percentage

interested ™
BEREMERMEBAEY

of shareholding
BhisKRaEST
(%)

SoftBank Vision Fund II-2 L.P.©

SB Global Advisers Capital Markets Limited®

SB Global Advisers Limited®
SoftBank Group Overseas GK®
SoftBank Group Corp.©

Matrix Partners China V, L.P.(0
Matrix Partners China V-A, L.P.(0
Matrix China Management V, L.P.(10)

Matrix China V GP GP, Ltd.(%

Interest in controlled corporation
R EE MR

Interest in controlled corporation
R EE MR

Interest in controlled corporation
S EE

Interest in controlled corporation
R EE M ER

Interest in controlled corporation
R EE M ER

Beneficial Interest

BEngn

Beneficial Interest

BEngn

Interest in controlled corporation
R EE MR

Interest in controlled corporation
S EE Rl

41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
41,041,130 (L)
32,892,050 (L)

3,420,660 (L)
36,312,710 (L)

36,312,710 (L)

5.71

5.71

5.71

5.71

5.71

4.58

0.48

5.06

5.06

Notes:

1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

2) As at 31 March 2024, there were 718,354,420 Shares in issue.
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Zhaosen Holding Limited is a limited liability company which is owned by (i) Xiasen
Limited as to 1%, an exempted company with limited liability wholly owned by Mr.
Wang and (ii) Huisen Holding Limited as to 99%, a limited company incorporated in the
BVI wholly owned by Sen Talent Holdings Limited, a BVI limited company, which is in
turn wholly owned by Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., as the trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang (as settlor and protector) for the benefit of Mr. Wang and his family. As such,
each of Mr. Wang, Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., Sen Talent Holdings Limited and Huisen
Holding Limited is deemed to be interested in 81,054,370 Shares owned by Zhaosen
Holding Limited under the SFO.

Ms. Zhou Dan (J&7}), Mr. Wang's spouse, was granted, taking into account of the Share
Subdivision, (i) 783,410 options on 1 January 2019 pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Plan, which were all exercised and 783,410 Shares were issued pursuant to the
Pre-IPO Share Option Plan immediately after the completion of the Global Offering and
the Share Subdivision, and (ii) 1,277,160 options on 1 March 2023, which were not
vested. The issued 783,410 Shares are held by Chunsen Holding Limited, one of the
employee shareholding platforms incorporated in the BVI wholly owned by Futu Trustee
Limited under the Sen Talent Trust, and Ms. Zhou Dan is one of the beneficiaries.
For details, see “Statutory and General Information-D. Pre-IPO Share Option Plan-2.
Outstanding share options” in the Appendix IV of the Prospectus. Ms. Zhou Dan is also
deemed to be interested in the Shares Mr. Wang is interested in under the SFO.

Weisen Holding Limited is a limited liability company which is owned by (i) Xisen
Limited as to 1%, an exempted company with limited liability wholly owned by Mr. Ji
and (ii) Guosen Holding Limited as to 99%, a limited company incorporated in the BVI
wholly owned by Sen Platform Holdings Limited, a BVI limited company, which is in
turn wholly owned by Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., as the trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Ji (as settlor and protector) for the benefit of Mr. Ji and his family. As such, each of
Mr. Ji, Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd., Sen Platform Holdings Limited and Guosen Holding
Limited is deemed to be interested in 80,644,370 Shares owned by Weisen Holding
Limited under the SFO. As of the date of this report, Mr. Ji was granted 1,500,000
options pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan on 1 March 2023, details of which
are set out in “Statutory and General Information-D. Pre-IPO Share Option Plan-2.
Outstanding share options™ in the Appendix IV of the Prospectus.

TR -F/I 2R F FERSE

Zhaosen Holding Limited & — R AR A &) - H (i) Xiasen
Limited(E k=2 EREN —RERELERATDHEE
19%F A4 K (ii) Huisen Holding Limited (— SRR & B 4 5
RESEMEKIMBRAR)HEEII%ESZ © Huisen
HoldingLimited 5 2% & 4 /R R B¥ 5 B PR 2 A1 Sen Talent
Holdings LimitedZ & #E4& - iSen Talent Holdings Limited
FRArkTrust (Singapore) Ltd EABR T AEWEAZTA
RIREN) BT TREREREMNGER LHETHZ
SEAZEHA Bt - BEZHERAEKEA - £5
A -~ Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd. + Sen Talent Holdings Limited
KHuisen Holding Limited & B #47 A&7 Zhaosen Holding
Limited3% 7 #981,054,370A% A% 7 7 #E B 2 o

TRENEBRAA L+ (BEEERMDIFA) ()7 2019
FIAIARBE A AHABEEBRETEERT
78341017 RERRIE - BREBEITE - WERBERIR
BERBRMDIFMATHREREE AR ERERE
FTEIZE17783,41088 B 0 + e (ii)iA 202343 B1 A &%
127716010 BEARHE - RBE - ZZ B2 817783,410
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BrBRsadMRINBEIHERFaz— ZTFAH
Futu Trustee Limited#24%Sen Talent Trust2 &R - M
AR+ AEZEAZ— - BEFE  E2HBK
ERMENCEER —MER D E X AFBEAIE
RERETE] — 2 M ARITIERE AR AE] - RIBFEH RHIE 5
Bl ARZEREEAREREFEORDFHES
WS o

Weisen Holding Limited 2 —=R AR AR+ E (i) Xisen
Limited iR e E 2 BMEN —KERCBRATNHES
1% &9 A% #E K2 (i1)Guosen Holding Limited (— RN B 4 R
FEEEMAMERAE)EEII%EE © Guosen
Holding Limited g5 2% /&8 4 3 R B & /5 PR 2 @1Sen Platform
Holdings LimitedZ= & # A - i Sen Platform Holdings
Limited g Ark Trust (Singapore) Lid. fE &40 4= (fEAE
FAARREN) BLRAERERENERLZAETN
ZEAZEHE - At - REJZIHFRARKL - &2
St 4 ~ Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd. ~ Sen Platform Holdings
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Jingwei Chuangda (Hangzhou) Venture Capital Partnership (Limited Partnership) (&%
BEE(MUNBIZEZEES B XE(ABRE5%), “Jingwei Chuangda’)) is a
limited liability partnership established in the PRC with Hangzhou Jingwei Tengchuang
Investment Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (fi /N &R 42 B EI3% & & 18
ABPE(BRAE)), an Independent Third Party whose general partner is Shanghai
Jingwei Equity Investment Management Co., Ltd. ((E/B& AREREERARA
7], “Shanghai Jingwei"), acting as its general partner. Shanghai Chuangji Investment
Center (Limited Partnership) (LB EIBIZREF L (BRE %), “Chuangji
Investment”)) is a limited liability partnership established in the PRC with Shanghai
Changchuang Investment Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (/& 38 8145
EEBAEBMEBRAR)), an Independent Third Party whose general partner is
Shanghai Jingsheng Investment Management Co., Ltd. ( E/E&BIREEEEAR A
7], “Shanghai Jingsheng”), acting as its general partner. Both Shanghai Jingwei and
Shanghai Jingsheng are investment companies controlled by Mr. Zuo Lingye. As such,
Mr. Zuo Lingye is deemed to be interested in 96,200,660 Shares collectively held by
Jingwei Chuangda and Chuangji Investment under the SFO.

Gaocheng Holdings GP, Ltd is the general partner of Gaocheng Fund I, L.P., which
wholly owns GC HCM Holdings Limited and YSZ Holdings Limited, both of which are
companies established in the Cayman Islands. Gaocheng Holdings GP II, Ltd is the
general partner of Gaocheng Fund II, L.P., which wholly owns JVF Holdings Limited, a
company established in the Cayman Islands. Gaocheng Holdings GP, Ltd and Gaocheng
Holdings GP II, Ltd are both wholly owned by Tsing Young Holding Limited, which
in turn is wholly owned by Ms. Hong Jing. As such, Ms. Hong Jing is deemed to be
interested in 58,325,560 Shares collectively held by GC HCM Holdings Limited, YSZ
Holdings Limited and JVF Holdings Limited.

Genesis Capital | LP (“Genesis Capital”), an exempted limited partnership established
in the Cayman Islands in July 2015, of which the general partner is Genesis Capital Ltd.,
which is wholly owned by Yuan Capital Ltd. and thus in turn wholly owned by Mr. Peng
Zhijian. As such, each of Genesis Capital Ltd., Yuan Capital Ltd. and Mr. Peng Zhijian is
deemed to be interested in 56,509,000 Shares held by Genesis Capital.

SCGC Capital Holding Company Limited (“SCGG”) is a company incorporated under
the laws of the BVI, which is owned as to 93.83% by Shenzhen Capital (Hong Kong)
Company Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Shenzhen Capital Group Co.,
Ltd. CRINTBIFT IR E B AR A =], “Shenzhen Capital”). As such, each of
Shenzhen Capital (Hong Kong) Company Limited and Shenzhen Capital is deemed to be
interested in 50,165,430 Shares held by SCGC.
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SVF Il Bandicoot (DE) LLC (“SVF Bandicoot”) is a company incorporated in Delaware,
United States, which is directly owned by SVF II Investment Holdings (Subco) LLC. The
sole member of SVF Il Investment Holdings (Subco) LLC is SVF II Investment Holdings
LLC, which is controlled by SVF Il Holdings (DE) LLC. The sole member of SVF II
Holdings (DE) LLC is SVF II Aggregator (Jersey) L.P., whose general partner is SVF Il
GP (Jersey) Limited and sole limited partner is SoftBank Vision Fund I1-2 L.P., both of
which are in turn ultimately wholly owned by SoftBank Group Corp., a company listed on
Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 9984). As such, each of SVF Il Investment Holdings
(Subco) LLC, SVF Il Investment Holdings LLC, SVF Il Holdings (DE) LLC, SVF Il
Aggregator (Jersey) L.P., SVF Il GP (Jersey) Limited, SoftBank Vision Fund II-2 L.P., SB
Global Advisers Capital Markets Limited, SB Global Advisers Limited, Softbank Group
Overseas GK and SoftBank Group Corp. is deemed to be interested in 41,041,130 Shares
held by SVF Bandicoot.

Matrix China V GP GP, Ltd. is the general partner of Matrix China Management V, L.P.,
which is the general partner of both Matrix Partners China V, L.P. (“Matrix V") and
Matrix Partners China V-A, L.P. (“Matrix V-A"). As such, each of Matrix China V GP
GP, Ltd. and Matrix China Management V, L.P. is deemed to be interested in 36,312,710
Shares collectively held by Matrix V and Matrix V-A under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of our Directors, as at 31 March 2024,
we were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or the chief executive of
our Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFQ, or which
would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred therein.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2024 was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement that would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corparate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouse
or children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe for the share capital or debt
securities of the Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ AND THE SINGLE LARGEST GROUP OF
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report, each of the Directors and the members of the Single
Largest Group of Shareholders confirms that as at 31 March 2024, he/she did not have
any interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly,
with our business and requires disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules. From time
to time our non-executive Directors may serve on the boards of both private and public
companies within the broader information technology and software industries. However, as
these independent non-executive Directors are not members of our executive management
team, we do not believe that their interests in such companies as directors would render us
incapable of carrying on our business independently from the other companies in which
these Directors may hold directorships from time to time.

CONFLICT OF INTERESTS BETWEEN THE GROUP AND THE
SINGLE LARGEST GROUP OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received the annual confirmation from the Single Largest Group of
Shareholders in respect of the conflict of interests between the Group and the Single
Largest Group of Shareholders, and the Single Largest Group of Shareholders confirmed
that there was no conflict of interests between the Group and the Single Largest Group
of Shareholders from the Listing Date to the date of this report. The independent non-
executive Directors also reviewed whether there was any conflict of interests between the
Group and the Single Largest Group of Shareholders. The independent non-executive
Directors confirmed that there was no conflict of interests between the Group and the
Single Largest Group of Shareholders from the Listing Date to the date of this report.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.20, 13.21 AND 13.22
OF THE LISTING RULES

There was no information required for disclosure by the Company under Rules 13.20,
13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.
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CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions constitute connected transaction, or continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules and are required to
be disclosed in this report in accordance with Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. Details of
related party transactions carried out in the normal course of business are set out in Note
32 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed below and payments of
remuneration to certain Directors, which constitute continuing connected transactions fully
exempt from the connected transaction requirements under Rule 14A.92 or Rule 14A.95
of the Listing Rules, no related party transactions disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements constitutes a connected transaction or a continuing connected transaction as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. During the Reporting Period, the Company
has fully complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Please see below the information required to be disclosed in compliance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Contractual Arrangements
Reasons for using the Contractual Arrangements

The operation of a cloud-based unified Paa$ infrastructure to serve as the technology
bedrock of all of the Group’s solutions and services, including the cloud-based HCM
solutions and the professional services business by the Onshore Holdco is subject to
the restrictions under PRC regulations relating to the value-added telecommunication
services. To comply with PRC laws and regulations and the Listing Rules, we determined
that it was not viable for our Company to hold the Consolidated Affiliated Entity directly
through equity ownership. Instead, we decided that, in line with common practice in
industries subject to foreign investment restrictions in the PRC, through the Contractual
Arrangements amongst (1) Beijing WFQE, (2) the Onshore Holdco, and (3) the Registered
Shareholders, we would be able to (i) gain effective control over the Consolidated Affiliated
Entity; (ii) all of the economic benefits generated by the businesses currently operated
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entity going forward; and (iii) have an exclusive option to
purchase all or part of the equity interest in or all or part of the assets of or inject registered
capital into the Onshore Holdco when and to the extent permitted by PRC law.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations and the Listing Rules, while availing
ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective control over all of our
operations, the Contractual Arrangements were entered into on 25 September 2018 and
were restated and amended on 13 August 2020, 9 April 2021 and 27 December 2021,
whereby Beijing WFOE will acquire effective control over the financial and operational
policies of Onshore Holdco, and will become entitled to all the economic benefits derived
from its operations.
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Summary of the Material Terms of the Contractual Arrangements

A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the Contractual
Arrangements entered into by and among Beijing WFOE, Onshore Holdco, and the
Registered Shareholders is set out below.

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Under the exclusive business cooperation agreement (the “Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement”), Onshore Holdco appoints Beijing WFOE as its exclusive
services provider to provide Onshore Holdco the following services during the term of the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement:

(1) the use of any relevant software legally owned by the Beijing WFOE;

(2)  development, maintenance and updating of software in respect of the businesses of
the Onshore Holdco;

(3)  design, installation, daily management, maintenance and updating of network
systems, hardware and database;

(4)  providing technical support and professional training services to relevant staff of
the Onshore Holdco;

(5)  providing assistance in consultancy and research of relevant technology; and

(6)  other services negotiated and specified from time to time, based on the actual
business requirements of the Onshore Holdco and the services capacity of the
Beijing WFOE, to the extent permitted by PRC laws and regulations.

In consideration of the services provided by Beijing WFOE, Onshore Holdco shall pay
Beijing WFOE monthly fees, which shall be of reasonable prices in accordance with the
scope and nature of the services, and shall consist of 100% of the total consolidated
profit of Onshore Holdco, after deduction of any accumulated deficit of Onshore Holdco
in the preceding financial year(s), working capital, expenses, taxes and other statutory
contributions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Beijing WFOE may adjust the scope and
amount of service fees according to PRC tax law and tax practices, and Onshore Holdco
shall accept such adjustments. Beijing WFOE shall calculate the service fees on a monthly
basis and issue a corresponding value-added tax invoice to the Onshore Holdco, at the
tax rate stipulated by current PRC laws regarding value-added tax. Notwithstanding the
payment agreements in the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, Beijing WFOE
may adjust the payment time and payment method, and the Onshore Holdco shall accept
any such adjustment.
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Loan Agreements

Pursuant to the loan agreements (the “Loan Agreements”), Beijing WFOE provided
Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji, being shareholders of Onshore Holdco with a loan in the aggregate
amount of RMB351,286,200 to fund business activities and other uses (including
acquiring shares in the Onshore Holdco held by its other then shareholders) as permitted
by Beijing WFOE. Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji agreed that the proceeds from the transfer of any
and/or all of the shares they hold in Onshore Holdco, pursuant to the exercise of the right
to acquire such shares by Beijing WFOE under the Exclusive Option Agreement (defined
below), shall only be used by Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji to repay the loan to the extent permitted
under the PRC law. The Loan Agreements will remain effective until 10 years after the
actual remittance date of such loan, which is extendable upon agreement by the parties
to the Loan Agreements. During the term of the Loan Agreements, Beijing WFOE has the
right, at its sole and absolute discretion, to accelerate maturity of loan at any time upon the
occurrence of certain circumstances.

Exclusive Option Agreement

Under the exclusive option agreement entered into among Beijing WFOE, the Registered
Shareholders, and Onshore Holdco (the “Exclusive Option Agreement’), Beijing
WFOE have a right to require the Registered Shareholders to transfer any and all of the
shares of Onshore Holdco they hold to Beijing WFQOE and/or a third party designated by
it, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time, for a nominal price, at the lowest
purchase price that permitted by the PRC laws or, for Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji, at the price
equivalent to the aggregate amount of the loan provided to them by Beijing WFOE under
the Loan Agreements.

Share Pleage Agreement

Pursuant to the share pledge agreement (the “Share Pledge Agreement’), each
Registered Shareholder, has pledged all of such shareholder’s shares in Onshore Holdco
as a security interest, as applicable, to respectively guarantee Onshore Holdco and the
Registered Shareholders’ performance of their obligations under the relevant contractual
arrangement, which include the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, Exclusive
Option Agreement, Proxy Agreement and the Loan Agreements. If Onshore Holdco or
any of the Registered Shareholder breaches their contractual obligations under these
agreements, Beijing WFOE, as pledgee, will be entitled to certain rights regarding the
pledged shares. In the event of such breaches, upon giving written notice to the Registered
Shareholders, Beijing WFOE to the extent permitted by PRC laws may exercise the right
to enforce the pledge, which is being paid in priority with the shares of Onshore Holdco
from the proceeds from auction or sale of the shares and request the amount owed by
Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji under the Loan Agreements be repaid immediately. Each of the
Registered Shareholders agrees that, during the term of the Share Pledge Agreement, such
Registered Shareholder shall not transfer the shares, place or permit the existence of any
security interest or other encumbrance on the shares or any portion thereof, without the
prior written consent of Beijing WFQOE. The Registered Shareholders may receive dividends
distributed on the shares only with prior consent of Beijing WFOE.
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Proxy Agreement

Under the proxy agreement entered into among Beijing WFOE, the Registered Shareholders,
and Onshore Holdco (the “Proxy Agreement”), the Registered Shareholders has
irrevocably undertaken to appoint Beijing WFOE or its designated persons (including but
not limited to directors and their successors and liquidators replacing but excluding those
non-independent or who may give rise to conflict of interests) to exercise certain rights
relating to all shares held by the Registered Shareholders during the term of the Proxy
Agreement to act on behalf of such Registered Shareholder as his/its exclusive agent and as
his/its attorney-in-fact to exercise such Registered Shareholder’s rights in Onshore Holdco
according to the articles of association of Onshore Holdco.

Confirmations from the Registered Shareholders

Each of Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji has confirmed to the effect that (i) his interests do not fall
within the scope of communal properties, and his spouse does not have the right to claim
any interests in the Onshore Holdco (together with any other interests therein) or exert
influence on the day-to-day management and voting matters of the Onshore Holdco; and
(i) in the event of his death, disappearance, incapacity, divorce, marriage or any other
event which causes his inability to exercise his rights as a shareholder of the Onshore
Holdco, his successors (including his spouse) will not take any actions that would affect
his obligations under the Contractual Arrangements.

Spouse undertakings

The spouse of each of Mr. Wang and Mr. Ji, has signed undertakings to the effect that
(i) she undertakes not to make any assertions in connection with the shares of Onshore
Holdco held by Mr. Wang or Mr. Ji; (ii) she confirms that the performance, amendments
and termination of the Contractual Arrangements do not require her further authorization or
consents; (iii) she undertakes to execute all necessary documents and to take all necessary
actions to ensure the proper performance of the Contractual Arrangements; (iv) in the event
that she obtains any shares in Onshore Holdco, she shall be bound by the Contractual
Arrangements and comply with the obligations thereunder as a shareholder of Onshore
Holdco, and upon Beijing WFOE's request, she shall sign any document in the form and
content substantially same as the Contractual Arrangements; (v) she further undertakes
that she will not take any action that may violate the purpose or intention of the Contractual
Arrangements under any circumstances; and (vi) any undertaking, confirmation, consent
and authorization she makes shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of her loss of or restriction on capacity, death, divorce or other similar
gvents.

For details of the major terms of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the sub-
section headed “Contractual Arrangements — Summary of the material terms of the
Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus of the Company dated 30 March 2023.

Save as disclosed herein, during the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no material
change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted, and none of the Contractual Arrangements has been unwound as none of the
restrictions that led to the adoption of Contractual Arrangements has been removed.
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Restrictions under the FITE Regulations

On 7 April 2022, the State Council of the PRC issued the Decision to Amend and
Abolish Certain Administrative Regulations, which makes amendments to the 2016 FITE
Regulations. As compared to the 2016 FITE Regulations, the 2022 FITE Regulations
amends the concept of “foreign invested telecommunication enterprises” to “the enterprise
which is legally formed by foreign investors within the territory of the PRC and is engaged
in provision of telecommunications services”, being connected to the concept of “foreign-
invested enterprises” under the Foreign Investment Law. The 2022 FITE Regulations adds
“except as otherwise provided for by the State” to Article 6 of the 2016 FITE Regulations,
demonstrating that there may be exceptions of foreign investors’ shareholding ratio
in telecommunications sectors under relevant provisions. The 2022 FITE Regulations
also removes the qualification requirements (i.e., a good track record and experience in
operating value-added telecommunications business) for foreign investors that hold equity
interest in PRC companies conducting value-added telecommunication business as set out
in the 2016 FITE Regulations and streamlines application process of telecommunication
business operation permit and shorten the review time period.

Particulars of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity

Our Consolidated Affiliated Entity, namely, Beijing Beisen Cloud Computing Co., Ltd.,
or our Onshore Holdco, is a limited liability company established in Beijing, the PRC
on 17 May 2005, which is principally engaged in operation of cloud-based unified
Paa$S infrastructure to serve as the technology bedrock of all of the Group’s solutions
and services, including the cloud-based HCM solutions and the professional services
business.

As at 31 March 2024, the beneficial interest of Beijing Beisen Cloud Gomputing Co., Ltd.
was held as to 47.67% by Mr. Wang, and 43.28% by Mr. Ji.

For the purposes of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and in particular the definition of
“connected person”, the Consolidated Affiliated Entity will be treated as our Company’s
subsidiary, and the directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Consolidated Affiliated Entity and their respective associates will
be treated as our Company’s “connected persons”. As such, transactions between these
connected persons and our Group (including for this purpose the Consolidated Affiliated
Entity) other than those under the Contractual Arrangements shall comply with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company.
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Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual Arrangements

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the revenue of Onshore Holdco, subject to the
Contractual Arrangements, was RMB186.7 million, accounting for approximately 21.8% of
the consolidated revenue of the Group.

As at 31 March 2024, the total assets of Onshore Holdco, subject to the Contractual
Arrangements, was RMB180.7 million, accounting for approximately 9.5% of the total
assets of the Group.

Review of the Transactions Carried Out under the Contractual Arrangements
during the Reporting Period

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements
and confirmed that: (i) the transactions carried out during the year ended 31 March 2024
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual
Arrangements, have been operated so that the revenue generated by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entity has been substantially retained by Beijing WFOE, (i) no dividends or
other distributions have been made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entity to the holders of
its equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to our
Group; and (iii) any new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between our Group
and the Consolidated Affiliated Entity during the year ended 31 March 2024 are on normal
commercial terms or on terms more favorable to our Group in the ordinary and usual
course of our Group's business, fair and reasonable, or advantageous, so far as our Group is
concerned and in the interests of our Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Board had reviewed the overall performance of and compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Group’s auditor has carried out procedures in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants on the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements and have provided
a letter to our Directors with a copy to the Stock Exchange stating that (a) nothing has
come to our attention that causes us to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Company’s board of directors; (b) nothing
has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and (c) with respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions with
Onshore Holdco under the contractual arrangements, nothing has come to our attention
that causes us to believe that dividends or other distributions have been made by Onshore
Holdco to the holders of the equity interests of Onshore Holdco which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and Actions taken by the
Company to Mitigate the Risks

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual Arrangement. Further
details of these risks are set out on pages 63 to 68 in the Prospectus.

o If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the structure
for operating our businesses in China do not comply with applicable PRC laws
and regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations change in the
future, we could be subject to severe consequences, including the nullification
of the contractual arrangements and the relinquishment of our interest in our
Consolidated Affiliated Entity.

° Our contractual arrangements may not be as effective in providing operational
control as direct ownership. Our Consolidated Affiliated Entity or their shareholders
may fail to perform their obligations under our contractual arrangements.

o The shareholders of our Consolidated Affiliated Entity may have conflicts of interest
with us, which may materially and adversely affect our business.

o I we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets of our
Consolidated Affiliated Entity, the ownership or asset transfer may subject us to
certain limitations and substantial costs.

o We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by our Consolidated Affiliated
Entity that are material to our business operations if our Consolidated Affiliated
Entity declare bankruptcy or become subject to a dissolution or liquidation
proceeding.

° Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and implementation
of the Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact the viability of our current
corporate structure, corporate governance and business operations.

o Our contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax

authorities, and a finding that we owe additional taxes could substantially reduce
our consolidated profit and the value of your investment.
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Our Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation of our Group’s
businesses with the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and our compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements, including:

o major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from government authorities will be
submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence
basis;

o our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

o our Company will disclose the overall performance and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements in our annual reports; and

o our Company will engage external legal advisors or other professional advisors,
if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Beijing WOFE and our Consolidated
Affiliated Entity to deal with specific issues or matters arising from the Contractual
Arrangements.

DIRECTORS’ AND THE SINGLE LARGEST GROUP OF
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no Director or an entity connected with a Director or a
member of the Single Largest Group of Shareholders was materially interested, either
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract which is significant in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting for the year ended 31 March 2024.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no contract of significance was entered into between the
Company, or one of its subsidiary companies and its Controlling Shareholders or any of
their subsidiaries (as applicable) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed for the year
ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report between the Company and a person
other than a Director or any person engaged in the full-time employment of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Company shall indemnify out of the assets of
the Company, any Director against any liability, action, proceeding, claim, demand, costs,
damages or expenses, including legal expenses, whatsoever which he/she may incur as a
result of any act or failure to act in carrying out his/her functions other than such liability
(if any) that he/she may incur by reason of his/her own actual fraud or willful default. No
Director shall be liable to the Company for any loss or damage incurred by the Company
as a result (whether direct or indirect) of the carrying out of his/her functions unless that
liability arises through the actual fraud or willful default of such Director. No person shall
be found to have committed actual fraud or willful default under the Articles of Association
unless or until a court of competent jurisdiction shall have made a finding to that effect.
As of the date of this report, the Company has arranged appropriate directors’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors.

STAFF, REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

As at 31 March 2024, we had 1,854 employees (as at 31 March 2023: 2,085 employees).
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s total staff costs amounted to approximately
RMB1,108.4 million, including salaries, wages, bonuses, share-based compensation,
pension costs, other social security costs, housing bengfits and other employee benefits.
The Group continued to optimize the incentive-based system in line with business
development needs and implemented remuneration policies with competitiveness.

Our Directors receive compensation in the form of fees, salaries, bonuses, other
allowances, benefits in kind, contribution to the pension scheme and other share-based
compensation. We determine the compensation of our Directors based on each Director's
responsibilities, qualification, position and seniority.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining, with the delegated
responsibility from the Board, the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management of the Group in accordance with the remuneration policy. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of non-executive Directors. Details of the Directors’ remuneration during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. No
amount was paid to any Director or any of the five highest paid individuals disclosed in
note 10 to the consolidated financial statements as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Company or as a compensation for loss of office. In addition, there was no arrangement
under which a Director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.
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SHARE SCHEMES

We adopted the Pre-IPQ Share Option Plan on 15 July 2019, which was amended on 23
April 2020, 26 September 2021 and 31 December 2021. We have also adopted the RSU
Plan on 31 December 2021.

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION PLAN

The Pre-IPQ Share Option Plan of our Company was adopted by the Board on 15 July
2019, and amended on 23 April 2020, 26 September 2021 and 31 December 2021.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan. The
terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan are not subject to the provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules as it does not involve any grant of options by our Company to subscribe
for new Shares after Listing.

Summary of Terms

Purposes

The purposes of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan are to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentives to the Directors, employees and consultants of
the Company, and to promote the success of the Company's business.

Participants

We granted options (the “Options”) to employees, consultants and directors of the
Company and/or related entity(ies), which include, among others, the Onshore Holdco,
Beijing WFOE and Chengdu WFQE.

Maximum Number of Shares

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued pursuant to all Options
shall not exceed 79,728,830 Shares (proportionally adjusted to reflect any share dividends,
share splits, or similar transactions).

Prior to the Listing, the Company had granted Options to subscribe for an aggregate of

79,725,600 Shares to Directars, senior management and employees of the Group, of which
Options to subscribe for 23,761,790 Shares had been exercised prior to the Listing Date.

Our Company will not grant any further Options under the Pre-IPQ Share Option Plan upon
Listing.
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Administration

The Pre-IPO Share Option Plan shall be administered by the Board or a committee
designated by the Board (the “Administrator”) in accordance with any applicable laws,
regulations, rules of any jurisdiction applicable to the Options and the memorandum and
the then effective articles of association of the Company. Once appointed, such committee
shall continue to serve in its designated capacity until otherwise directed by the Board. The
Board may authorize one or more officers or directors to grant the Awards and may limit
such authority as the Board determines from time to time.

The Administrator determines and approves, among other things, the participants eligible
to receive Options, the number of Options to be granted to each eligible participant, the
forms of award agreements for use under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan, and the terms
and conditions of each Options granted including, but not limited to, the vesting schedule,
repurchase provisions, rights of first refusal, forfeiture provisions, form of payment (cash,
Shares, or other consideration) upon settlement of the Options, payment contingencies,
and satisfaction of any applicable performance criteria.

Maximum Entitlement of a Participant

There are no restrictions on the maximum entitlement of a participant under the terms of
the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan.

Exercise period

Subject to applicable laws, any Option granted shall be exercisable at such times and
under such conditions as determined by the administrator under the terms of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Plan and specified in the award agreement.

An Option shall be deemed to be exercised when written notice of such exercise has been
given to the Company in accordance with the terms of the Option by the person entitled
to exercise the Option and full payment for the Shares with respect to which the Option is
exercised.

Vesting Schedule

The Awards to be issued to any grantee under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan shall be
subject to the vesting schedule as specified in the award agreement of such grantee. The
Administrator shall have the right to adjust the vesting schedule of the Options granted to
the Grantees.
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Acceptance of Options
No consideration is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of the Option.
Exercise Price or Consideration

The exercise or purchase price, if any, for an Option shall be determined by the
Administrator. In addition, subject to the applicable laws, the consideration to be paid
for the Shares to be issued upon exercise or purchase of an Option under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Plan, including the method of payment, shall also be determined by the
Administrator.

Terms, remaining life and conditions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan

Unless terminated earlier, the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan has a term of ten (10) years
after the date of adoption on 15 July 2019. In general, the term of each Option shall be
the term stated in the award agreement. Subject to the applicable laws, the Awards shall
be transferable (i) by will and by the laws of descent and distribution and (ii) during the
lifetime of the grantee, only to the extent and in the manner approved by the Administrator.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the grantee may designate one or more beneficiaries of
the grantee’s Options in the event of the grantee’s death on a beneficiary designation form
provided by the Administrator.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan was about
five years and one month.

Termination

The Board may at any time amend, suspend or terminate the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan;
provided, however, that no such amendment shall be made without the approval of the
Company’s shareholders to the extent such approval is required by applicable laws.
No Option may be granted during any suspension of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan or
after termination of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan. Unless otherwise determined by the
Administrator in good faith, the suspension or termination of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Plan shall not materially adversely affect any rights under Options already granted to a
grantee.
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Outstanding share options granted

As of 31 March 2024, share options to subscribe for an aggregate of 79,725,600 Shares
had been granted to Directors, senior management and employees of the Group, of which
(1) share options to subscribe for 23,761,790 Shares had been exercised and issued
immediately after the completion of the Global Offering, (2) share options to subscribe for
3,164,360 Shares had been exercised and issued during the Reporting Period, (3) share
options to subscribe for 3,543,800 Shares were lapsed during the Reporting Period and
(4) options to subscribe for 49,113,150 Shares were outstanding and held by grantees.
No further Options can be granted after Listing. The total number of new Shares available
for issue under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan as at the date of this annual report is
45,875,369, which represents approximately 6.38% of the total issued Shares as at the
date of this annual report.

Following the Listing, there is no grant of options under the Pre-IPO Share Options Plan.
Details of the share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan during the
Reporting Period are set out below:
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Employee Participants of the Group
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(1) Ms. Zhou Dan is the spouse of Mr. Wang, an executive Director and chairman of the (1) AN XL AEEEHATEEREZTS TN
Board. 1 e

(2)  Mr. Xu Hao has served as a consultant of the Group from November 2018 to March )  H2018F11AZE2020438 - REBEER/EREER
2020, details of which are set out in the “Waivers and Exemption — Waiver and BHER - AREFEHRAKREREE3 2 ROIME
Exemption in Relation to the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan” of the Prospectus. N—BRERAFHEENERES SRR LA

=D

(3)  Five years from the date of grant. () BREAHERF -

(4 Such Options were granted before the Listing Date and therefore the share closing price  (4) A SFEAER LM BHIAIRL - Bt - EEEE
immediately before the date of grant of the Options is not applicable. BAEE B AT Z R BT ETER -

(5)  The Options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan are subject to fulfilment of ~ (5)  IR¥RE IR AR & Al B AR 811 HH B R AE 3%
the key performance index (“KPI’) of such year, meaning the KPI of the grantee for the FENBEREBIER(KPIDBRR - IEARRLER
applicable year duly determined by the Company. HETE B AR AR i B E AUKPI o

(6)  None of the grant to any participant was in excess of 1% individual limit. (6) BTS2 EE QR TEBB1 %A ERIREE -

(7)  Details of the valuation of the Options, including the accounting standard and policy ~ (7) ~ PEREGE(E (B 75 & R B2 & A B R AT 2U3R A 10
adopted for the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan, are set out in note 24 to the consolidated SRR REER) B R A S B B R R M 5E24 o
financial statements.
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RSU Plan

The Company has conditionally adopted the RSU Plan by Shareholders’ resolutions
dated 31 December 2021 (as amended by further resolutions of the Shareholders on 23
March 2023, with effect from the Listing Date). The RSU Plan will comply with amended
provision in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules which became effective from 1 January 2023.
The Company may appoint a trustee (the “RSU Trustee”) to administer the RSU Plan
with respect to the grant of any Award (as define below), by way of restricted share unit(s)
(the “RSU(s)"), which may vest in the form of Shares (the “Award Shares”) or the actual
selling price of the Award Shares in cash in accordance with the RSU Plan.

The total number of Shares that may be issued in respect of RSUs granted under the RSU
Plan during the Reporting Period divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue
for the Reporting Period was 0.2%.

Eligible Persons to the RSU Plan

Any individual, being an employee (the “Employee(s)”), Director (including executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) or a person
(other than an employee, a Director or a Director of any member of the Group or any
affiliate of the Group, solely with respect to rendering services in such persons’ capacity
as an employee or director of any member of the Group or any affiliate) who provide
services to the Group on a continuing and recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course
of business which are in the interests of the long-term growth of the Group (the “Service
Provider(s)") of any member of the Group or any affiliate (including nominees and/
or trustees of any employee benefit trust established for them but excluding “investee
companies”) (an “Eligible Person” and, collectively “Eligible Persons”) who the
Board considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the Group
or any affiliate is eligible to receive an award granted by the Board (an “Award”), by way of
RSUs, which may vest in the form of Award Shares or the actual selling price of the Award
Shares of RSUs in cash in accordance with the RSU Plan.

Purpose of the RSU Plan
The purpose of the RSU Plan is to align the interests of Eligible Persons with those of our
Group through ownership of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on Shares

and/or the increase in value of the Shares, and to encourage and retain Eligible Persons to
make contributions to the long-term growth and profits of our Group.
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Awards

An Award gives a selected participant a conditional right, when the RSU vests, to obtain
the Award Share or, if in the absolute discretion of the Board, it is not practicable for the
selected participant to receive the Award in Shares, the cash equivalent from the sale of
the Award Shares. For the avoidance of doubt, the Board at its discretion may from time
to time determine that any dividends declared and paid by our Company in relation to the
Award Shares be paid to the selected participant even though the Award Shares have not
yet vested.

Grant of Award

(i

80

Making the Grant

The Board may, from time to time, at their absolute discretion, select any
Eligible Person to be a selected participant (the “Selected Participant”) and
grant an Award to a Selected Participant by way of an award letter (the “Award
Letter”). The Award Letter will specify the grant date, the number of Award
Shares underlying the Award, the vesting criteria and conditions (including the
Performance Target(s)), the vesting date and such other details as the Board
may consider necessary. Subject to the determination of the Board otherwise, no
amount is payable by the grantee on the acceptance of an Award, and no purchase
price is payable by the grantee on vesting of an Award.

Each grant of an Award to any Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder
of our Company, or any of their respective associates shall be subject to the prior
approval of the Independent Non-Executive Directors of our Company (excluding
any independent non-executive Director who is a proposed recipient of an Award).
Our Company will comply with the relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules for any grant of Shares to connected persons of our Company.

Beisen Holding Limited  Annual Report 2023/2024

-7

BB TEE2EE —HARTNOEN - RERHIK
MEAEBRIGEBRD  NEFTSE2EBBERA
BEL2EE RO ARG RE T ERE - BIEG
SEXREBRNEERNRS - RRERRE - BER
BIlRDHARE  EFSNATERBEERAAR
FEE I B B IR ROK A 2 (BRI T E 28
Z o

R Em
() &

SR TRHE2ENBEREMNAERALR
BESEE ((BESRE]) - WIALERE) H (88
W) 2 A EEE S EE R LR o 2E)H
ERTARM B - BREERE) . BB M EAE
BERERGH(BRREBRR  BEAHR
EFCUERRLEZHMFE BESFER
BIRFESN » HIR N A B A BB ST SHE (T 3R
B MEARRERESEERS -

BRAXRRREAES - KRRTRABKEE
PR (K& B HERBEA) R L EE - 15
AELARBARBRBULIIFATEST(TEER
B REZREER ANEMBIETESR I
o AR AL AR IR E A TR BB
SFETARAIE AR HAEREARE -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

(i)

Restrictions on Grant and Timing of Grants

The Board may not grant any Award to any selected participant in any of the
following circumstances:

A

where any requisite approval from any applicable regulatory authorities has
not been granted;

where any member of our Group will be required under applicable
securities laws, rules or regulations to issue a Prospectus or other offer
documents in respect of such Award or the RSU Plan, unless the Board
determines otherwise;

where such Award would result in a breach by any member of our Group
or its directors of any applicable securities laws, rules or regulations in any
jurisdiction;

but for the relevant waivers from the Stock Exchange or approval of
Shareholders or independent Shareholders, where such grant of Award
would result in a breach of the RSU Plan Limit (as defined below), the
Individual Limit (as defined below), Service Providers Limit (as defined
below) and the Director, Substantial Shareholder Limit and Chief Executive
Limit (as defined below) or the 25% minimum public float requirement as
required under the Listing Rules (or such other percentage as approved or
agreed by the Stock Exchange), or would otherwise cause our Company
to issue Shares in excess of the permitted amount approved by the
Shareholders;

where an Award is to be satisfied by way of issue of new Shares to the
RSU Trustee, in any circumstances that cause the total Shares issued or
allotted to connected persons to be in excess of the amount approved by
the Shareholders;

after inside information has become to our Company’s knowledge until
(and including) the trading day after our Company has announced the
information;
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G. during the period commencing one month immediately before the earlier
of:

1. the date of the Board meeting (as such date is first notified to the
Stock Exchange under the Listing Rules) for approving the results
of the Company for any year, half-year, quarterly or any other
interim period (whether or not required under the Listing Rules);
and

2. the deadline for the Company to announce its results for any year or
half-year under the Listing Rules, or quarterly or any other interim
period (whether or not required under the Listing Rules), and
ending on (and including) the date of the results announcement. No
Award shall be granted during any period of delay in publishing a
results announcement;

H. during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the publication of the
annual results of our Company or, if shorter, the period from the end of the
relevant financial year up to the publication date of the results; and

during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the publication date of
the quarterly (if any) or half-yearly results or, if shorter, the period from the
end of the relevant quarterly or half-year period up to the publication of the
results.
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Maximum Number of Shares to be granted

The aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made pursuant to the RSU Plan
(excluding Award which have been lapsed in accordance with the RSU Plan) will not
exceed 6% of the issued share capital of the Company as of the date of approval of the
RSU Plan (being 68,349,127 Shares prior to the Share Subdivision), and subsequently
adjusted to 683,491,270 Shares following the Share Subdivision without Shareholders’
approval (the “RSU Plan Limit"), i.e. 41,009,476 Shares. The Company may seek (i) to
refresh the RSU Plan Limit once every three years with Shareholders’ approval by way of an
ordinary resolution, or (ii) to refresh the RSU Plan Limit within the aforementioned three-
year period with independent Shareholders’ approval by way of an ordinary resolution, in
accordance with the Listing Rules. For the avoidance of doubts, unless otherwise waived
by the Stock Exchange, the RSU Plan Limit shall not exceed 10% Shares of issued Shares
at the relevant time.

As of the date of this report, grant of 1,710,000 Awards have been made pursuant to the
RSU Plan, among which 150,000 Awards have been lapsed. The total number of shares
available for issue under the RSU Plan were 41,009,476, which represented approximately
5.70% of the Company’s total number of issued shares as at the date of this report. For the
purpose of Rule 17.09(3) of the Listing Rules, 41,009,476 was calculated by the number of
RSUs available for grant under the RSU Plan (39,449,476) plus the number of new Shares
that may be issued pursuant to the grant of RSUs (1,560,000) minus the number of vested
RSUs (0) as of the date of this report.

Save as the RSU Plan Limit or as otherwise approved by Shareholders by way of an
ordinary resolution in accordance with the Listing Rules, for any 12-month period, the
aggregate number of Shares granted to any Selected Participant shall not exceed 1%
of the total number of the issued Shares at the relevant time (the “Individual Limit”)
without Shareholders’ approval by way of an ordinary resolution in accordance with Rule
17.03D(1) of the Listing Rules.

Subject to the RSU Plan Limit or as otherwise approved by the Shareholders by ordinary
resolution in accordance with the Listing Rules, the maximum aggregate number of Shares
which may be issued upon the vesting or exercise of the Awards to be granted to Service
Providers pursuant to the RSU Plan shall not exceed 0.5% (the “Service Providers
Limit") of the issued Shares at the relevant time without Shareholders’ approval by way of
an ordinary resolution.

Subject to the Individual Limit, if the grant of Awards to a Director (including an
independent non-executive director) of any member of the Group or any affiliate of the
Group, a substantial Shareholder or the chief executive of the Company would result in
the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all Awards granted to such person in any
12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the total number of the issued Shares at the relevant
time, such grant of Awards must be approved by the independent Shareholders by way of
an ordinary resolution in accordance with Rule 17.04(4) of the Listing Rules.

SR EFSR A FERE

R R (7 a9 8 B LR

MER AL E - BIEBEZREIRGD EMFTEIMIEZ
— IR HFTERO A (TEEEREZ R RD
AL ET B R WA EEE)) NS BB E Bt & R HIAX
DB E B HIARR R B 1T AR ANG % (7 AR 10 77 41
Al 568,349, 12788 B8 17) + BER R R IFMEZ AL A
683,491,270 % A% 17 ([ 5 PR %l B {3 B AL &t &I EBR ) - 2D
41,009,476 %15 o WRIE ETHARRI - AR A FRK()E
BREAEBRABRENAAMENBER T =FEH—
R BRBIRE D BEALFTE] EBR ¢ k(i) e R IA L 8
RBEOHNAENBR TE LR = FHRRNEHNT
PRHIRDENFTEI LR - Aot BRIEMIRIT
% o BEIFREIMD EMETE LR TGBIBE B
B2 TN EI10% °

HEAREAH  EREBEZBHIRG B EE D
1,710,000 228 - £ F1150,000(7 2B E kR0  HRIEZ
PR il A% 1) B8 (i 5181 ] 27T HO IR0 A8 20 541,009,476 % -
HIRRARTRE BEIARRE BTN AEES5.70% °
P EMARRE7.093) &M F + 41,009 47682 JyiRIEH =
AFRE A HARZ IR IR BAAT 8 T AT IR R
HIRS 1 B AL BB (394494760%) hn_EAR B IR F O IR AR
1 BT AT BE 1T R T AR B B (15600008%) 3 £ B 5 B
KSR IR D BN B E O FTESH -

B MRBIRD B ArFT &) LR RIRE LR RANSTT
A BRB RN AHESN - FEEF2EAHE - K
IEARERARYE TR ASE7.03D()IRIA B BIRERN T
A - BT EEE2RE N RN AT SEBA
BRI 2 A TAR () AR B0 1% (B BUPR &R ) -

B MRBIROD B ALFT &) LR RIRIE EHRASTT
PAEBIRFERZR AT AHLESN - RIEBIRIAEBRER
BT AE - RIRIBR RGO EAIET 8B ERITE
BT RIGRHENEREN TERITORDESEH
PMFEBE M ED ETRM0.5%(RBRHER
g -

EEFIRBARRT - WEAEEEAKERRZHA
SEEABBERRNES(BREBIYIFNTES) - K
RAEBEREEIETRABR T RESEHEM12
EA MR E TZALHA REBIE BT Mg T HT
E R An B A R O A TA (D AR BM0.1% - LEAREE
BV T ARYE - T AR BISE17.04(4) /B 48 B 7 IR AT
BRFERETT A o

LHEZERERAT 83



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

Rights attached to the Award

Save that the Board at its discretion may from time to time determine that any dividends
declared and paid by our Company in relation to the Award Shares be paid to the selected
participants even though the RSUs have not yet vested, the selected participant only has
a contingent interest in the Award underlying an Award unless and until such Award are
actually transferred to the selected participant, nor does he/she have any rights to any
related income until the RSUs are vested.

The Award Letter may require the selected participant to grant a power of attorney to the
Board or any Person designated by the Board to exercise the voting rights with respect to
the Shares and the Company may require the selected participant exercising such Award to
acknowledge and agree to be bound by the provisions of the currently effective Articles, the
Shareholders Agreements and other documents of the Company in relation to the Shares (if
any), as if the Selected Participant is a holder of Ordinary Shares thereunder.

The RSU Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any Award Shares which
are held under the Trust that have not yet vested.

Issue of Shares and/or transfer of funds to the RSU Trustee

The Company shall, within a reasonable period as determined by the Board (or its duly
appointed administrator), from the Grant Date, (i) issue and allot Shares to the RSU Trustee
and/or (ii) transfer to the RSU Trustee the necessary funds and instruct the RSU Trustee
to acquire Shares through on-market transactions at the prevailing market price, so as to
satisfy the Awards.

The Company shall not issue or allot Award Shares nor instruct the RSU Trustee to acquire
Shares through on-market transactions at the prevailing market price, where such action
(as applicable) is prohibited under the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance
or other applicable laws from time to time. Where such a prohibition causes the prescribed
timing imposed by the RSU Plan Rules or the trust deed to be missed, such prescribed
timing shall be treated as extended until as soon as reasonably practicable after the first
business day on which the prohibition no longer prevents the relevant action.

Assignment of Awards

Unless express written consent is obtained from the Board, any Award granted under the
RSU Plan but not yet vested are personal to the selected participants to whom they are
granted and cannot be assigned or transferred. A selected participant shall not in any
way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest in favor of any other
person over or in relation to any Award, or enter into any agreement to do so, unless a
waiver is granted by the Stock Exchange to allow a transfer of Awards to a vehicle (including
a trust or a private company) for the benefit of the Selected Participant and his/her family
member (e.g. for estate planning or tax planning purposes), provided such transfer would
continue to meet the purpose of the RSU Plan and other requirements under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules.
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Vesting of Awards

The Board may from time to time while the RSU Plan is in force and subject to all
applicable laws, determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the Award to
be vested. The vesting period of any Award granted under the RSU Plan, and as specified
in the relevant Award Letter, should not be less than 12 months, unless a shorter vesting
period is approved by the Board.

Within a reasonable time period as agreed between the RSU Trustee and the Board from
time to time prior to any vesting date, the Board will send a vesting notice to the relevant
selected participant and instruct the RSU Trustee the extent to which the Award Shares held
in the trust shall be transferred and released from the trust to the selected participant or
be sold as soon as practicable from the vesting date. Subject to the receipt of the vesting
notice and notification from the Board, the RSU Trustee will transfer and release the
relevant Award in the manner as determined by the Board or sell the relevant Award Shares
and pay the actual selling price to the selected participant within a reasonable time period (in
both cases with the related income, if any).

If there is an event of change in control of the Company by way of a merger, a privatization
of the Company by way of a scheme or by way of an offer, all Awards will become vested
and exercisable immediately and no longer be subject to forfeiture or repurchase right
of the Company, according to the terms of the RSU Plan at such times and under such
conditions as determined by the Board and set forth in the letter containing the offer or
grant of the relevant Awards unless the Board determines otherwise.

Consolidation, subdivision, bonus issue and other distribution

In the event the Company undertakes a subdivision or consolidation of the Shares,
corresponding changes will be made to the number of outstanding RSUs that have
been granted provided that the adjustments shall be made in such manner as the Board
determines to be fair and reasonable in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the
benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the RSU Plan for the
selected participants. All fractional shares (if any) arising out of such consolidation or
subdivision in respect of the Award Shares of a selected participant shall be deemed as
returned shares and shall not be transferred to the relevant selected participant on the
relevant vesting date. The RSU Trustee shall hold returned shares to be applied towards
future Awards in accordance with the provisions of the RSU Plan rules for the purpose of
the RSU Plan.

In the event of an issue of Shares by the Company credited as fully paid to the holders
of the Shares by way of capitalization of profits or reserves (including share premium
account), the Shares attributable to any Award Shares held by the RSU Trustee shall be
deemed to be an accretion to such Award Shares and shall be held by the RSU Trustee as
if they were Award Shares purchased by the RSU Trustee hereunder and all the provisions
hereof in relation to the original Award Shares shall apply to such additional Shares.
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In the event of any non-cash distribution or other events not referred to above by reason
of which the Board considers an adjustment to an outstanding Award to be fair and
reasonable, an adjustment shall be made to the number of outstanding RSUs of each
selected participant as the Board shall consider as fair and reasonable, in order to prevent
dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available
under the RSU Plan for the selected participants. The Company shall provide such funds,
or such directions on application of the returned shares or returned trust funds, as may be
required to enable the RSU Trustee to purchase Shares on-market at the prevailing market
price to satisfy the additional Award.

In the event of other non-cash and non-scrip distributions made by the Company not
otherwise referred to in the RSU Plan rules in respect of the Shares held upon trust, the
RSU Trustee shall sell such distribution and the net sale proceeds thereof shall be deemed
as related income of the Award Shares or returned trust funds of the returned Shares held
upon trust as the case may be.

Termination of Continuous Service

Except as otherwise determined by the Board at the time of the grant of the Award or
thereafter, upon termination of an employee’s continuous service the applicable restriction
period, all Awards that are at that time unvested shall lapse or repurchased in accordance
with the Award Letter; provided, however, that the Board may (a) provide in any Award
Letter that restrictions or forfeiture and repurchase conditions relating to Awards will be
waived in whole or in part in the event of terminations resulting from specified causes,
and (b) in other cases waive in whole or in part restrictions or forfeiture and repurchase
conditions relating to Awards.

If a selected participant ceases to be an Eligible Person for reasons other than those stated
in the above paragraph, any outstanding RSUs and related income not yet vested in the
form of Award Shares shall be immediately lapsed and forfeited, unless the board or its
delegate(s) determines otherwise at their absolute discretion.
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Alteration of the RSU Plan and the Awards

The RSU Plan may be altered in any respect (save for the RSU Plan Limit) by a resolution
of the Board provided that no such alteration shall operate to affect adversely any
subsisting rights of any selected participant unless otherwise provided for in the rules of
the RSU Plan, except:

(if)

(i)

with the consent in writing of selected participants amounting to three-fourths in
nominal value of all RSUs held by the RSU Trustee on that date;

with the sanction of a special resolution that is passed at a meeting of the selected
participants amounting to three-fourths in nominal value of all RSUs held by the
RSU Trustee on that date; or

as required by the Listing Rules or other applicable laws and/or regulations.

Termination and remaining life

The RSU Plan shall terminate on the earlier of:

(1)

(if)

the end of the period of ten years commencing on the date on which this scheme
is adopted except in respect of any non-vested RSUs granted hereunder prior to
the expiration of the RSU Plan, for the purpose of giving effect to the vesting in the
form of Award Shares of such RSUs or otherwise as may be required in accordance
with the provisions of the RSU Plan; and

such date of early termination as determined by the Board provided that such
termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any selected participant under
the rules of the RSU Plan, provided further that for the avoidance of doubt, the
change in the subsisting rights of a selected participant in this paragraph refers
solely to any change in the rights in respect of the RSUs already granted to a
selected participant.

As such, as of the date of this report, the remaining life of the RSU Plan is approximately 7
years and 6 months.

Administration of the RSU Plan

The RSU Plan shall be subject to the administration of the Board in accordance with the
RSU Plan and, where applicable, the trustee deed. The authority to administer the scheme
may be delegated by the Board to a committee of the Board or any person(s) as deemed
appropriate at the sole discretion of the Board.
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Outstanding RSUs granted

During the Reporting Period:

(1)

(if)

(i)

On 1 August 2023, the Board resolved to grant a total of 1,170,000 RSUs to 20
grantees, being the employees of the Group, to subscribe for a total of 1,170,000
Shares pursuant to the RSU Plan, among which the offers of 130,000 RSUs were
declined and therefore lapsed. As a result, the Company actually granted a total of
1,040,000 RSUs, representing an aggregate of 1,040,000 Shares to 18 grantees
pursuant to the RSU Plan. The RSUs granted are subject to, amongst others, a
vesting schedule in tranches and fulfilment of performance targets. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 1 August 2023;

On 10 October 2023, the Board resolved to grant a total of 80,000 RSUs to 4
grantees, being the employees of the Group, to subscribe for a total of 80,000
Shares pursuant to the RSU Plan, among which 20,000 RSUs were lapsed in
November 2023. The RSUs granted are subject to, amongst others, a vesting
schedule in tranches and fulfilment of performance targets. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 10 October 2023; and

On 8 January 2024, the Board resolved to grant a total of 320,000 RSUs to 6
grantees, being the employees of the Group, to subscribe for a total of 320,000
Shares pursuant to the RSU Plan. The RSUs granted are subject to, amongst
others, a vesting schedule in tranches and fulfilment of performance targets. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8 January 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, save for the aforesaid grant of RSUs, no other RSUs had been
granted or agreed to be granted by the Company under the RSU Plan during the Reporting
Period. Accordingly, the total number of RSUs available for grant under the scheme
mandate of the RSU Plan were 41,009,476 and 39,589,476 respectively as at 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2024. Details of movement in RSUs under the RSU Plan during the
Reporting Period pursuant to Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules are set out below.
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Weighted
average
closing price
Closing price  of the shares
Number of Number of of shares  immediately
outstanding ~ Number of outstanding  immediately  before the
RSUs held RSUs granted RSUsheld  hefore the dates on
asat  during the Number of asat date on which whichthe  Fair value of
31 March Reporting Number of RSUs ~ Number of 31 March theRSUs  RSUswere  RSUsatthe
Name or category of grantee 2023 Period  Date of Grant ~ RSUS lapsed cancelled  RSUs vested 2024 were granted vested date of grant
20235 120245 RERR
IA3ARE IANERE  BERH ROEAE SHAR
HATE  HENA B&NE CHBNER ERENZE HERTE ZWHERE EAgH  RIERG
RREIRG RHHEBEH RREENL BREEC SREEL ZREEO BEHE[RS i BEmaR
AR REURR EfHE ROEGHE SHAN EORE BE BE EURE ZROKHR FHKTR RE
Other employee participants 0 1,040,000¢ 1 August 2023 0 0 0 1,040,000 HK$8.76 N/A Note®
per Share
AfhEE2EE N23F8A1H GR8T6AETT TER e
80,000 10 October 2023 20,000 0 0 60,000 HK$5.620 N/A Note®
per Share
N23F10A/108 BR80T TER fizEe
320,000 8 January 2024 0 0 0 320,000 HKS$4.71 N/A Note®
per Share
NUF1A8A GRATET TER e
Total 0 1,440000 20,000 0 0 1,420,000
@5t
Notes: B
(1) The RSUs granted shall be vested over one to four years from the dates of grant. 1) BENTRERMDSEMERNSEE BBE—ZENER

The RSUs granted under the RSU Plan are subject to fulfilment of the key performance
index (“KPI") of such year, meaning the key performance index of the grantee for the
applicable year duly determined by the Company.

Since the adoption of the RSU Plan, no awards had been made to (i) any Director, chief
executive, substantial shareholder or their respective associates; or (ii) related entity
participant or service provider. In addition, there is no participant with options and
awards granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limit.

The offers of 130,000 RSUs were declined and therefore lapsed. As a result, the
Company actually granted 1,040,000 RSUs only on 1 August 2023.

Details of the valuation of the share awards of the Company during the Reporting Period,
including the accounting standard and policy adopted for the share schemes, are set out
in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The purchase price of all RSUs mentioned in the table above is nil.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Pre-IPO Share Option Plan” and “RSU Plan”
above, there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
Major Customers

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

GENERAL MANDATE TO REPURCHASE SHARES

Our Directors have been granted a general unconditional mandate to exercise all the
powers of our Company to repurchase our own securities with a total number of up to 10%
of the aggregate number of issued shares of the Company at the date of passing of the
shareholder resolution (i.e. on 20 September 2023).

The repurchase mandate only relates to repurchases of our Shares made on the Stock
Exchange, or on any other stock exchange on which our Shares are listed (and which
are recognized by the SFC and the Stock Exchange for this purpose), subject to and in
accordance with all applicable laws and the Listing Rules.

This general mandate to repurchase Shares will expire at the earliest of:

(@) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(b)  the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the
Company is required by any applicable laws or the Articles of Association to be
held; or

(c)  the revocation or variation of the authority given under the shareholder resolution

by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting
of the Company.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company repurchased a total of 107,000 Shares
(the “Shares Repurchased”) on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate consideration
(including transaction costs) of HK$455,205.99. All of the Shares Repurchased were
subsequently cancelled in March 2024. The repurchase was effected because the Board
considered that a share repurchase in the then conditions demonstrates the Company's
confidence in its own business outlook and prospects and would, in the long term, benefit
the Company and create value to the Shareholders. Particulars of the Shares Repurchased
for the year ended 31 March 2024 are as follows:

fMHE HESXREFELAF LHESF

HE04FIANBILFE  NARNEZEIER A &
107,0005% %1 ((FREBEIBE 4R ) - REBLABE(BEZZK
AX) £455,205.9978 7T  FTEB R AR (D BE12 A 20243 A5
o ERBERE  UERNMEHEDRG - ZEEA
RAEBEFEBNRERASHBEREDL - 2EAREERE
HRHWARRAEEE AN EHEESE - #E
204F3ANBLLFE - FIEERGFBNT

No. of Highest Lowest
Shares price paid price paid Aggregate
Month of repurchase repurchased per Share per Share consideration
oA 7 RIS E SEREFfERSE SEREGRER REE#E
(HK$) (HKS$) (HK$)
(#&3T) (7&3T) (#&3T)
February 2024 202442 A 107,000 4.35 4.15 455,205.99
Total @t 107,000 4.35 4.15 455,205.99

During the Reporting Period, the trustee of the RSU Scheme has purchased 2,332,200
Shares on the Stock Exchange, at a consideration ranging from HKD3.03 to HKD5.10 per
share, representing an aggregate of approximately HKD9.2 million (including commission
and transaction costs). The Shares purchased during such period will be used as awards
for the participant(s) in the RSU Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold

or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

In August 2023, the Group made donation in the amount of RMB100,000 to Zhuozhou
Civil Affairs Bureau (ZH T ERIBUS) in support of flood victims in Zhuozhou.

In December 2023, the Group donated RMB100,000 to Gansu Provincial Charity
Federation (H &R& & ZHA 422) to support relief efforts in areas affected by the
earthquake that struck Jishishan County in Gansu.

In September 2023, the Group donated goods to support the fund raising and charity event
organized by Chengdu High-tech Zone Guixi Street Office (X & & 3T @ R HE P =
Bz).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability. The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board is of the opinion that the
Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 93 to 118 of this report.

AUDITOR

During the Reporting Period, PricewaterhouseCoopers has resigned as the auditor of the
Company on 29 February 2024 and KPMG was appointed as the auditor of the Company
on 18 March 2024. The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 have been audited by KPMG.

KPMG shall retire and being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment, and a resolution to
this effect shall be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. Save as disclosed above, there was
no change in the auditor of the Company in the preceding three years.

By order of the Board of Directors
Beisen Holding Limited

Mr. Wang Zhaohui

Chairman

Chengdu, the PRC, 25 June 2024
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CORPORATE CULTURE

“To create talents through the means of technology and to help Chinese enterprises to
equip themselves with world-leading talent management capabilities” is the mission of the
Company.

The Company is a leading company engaged in human resources technology in China.
Through the use of innovative integrated HCM SaaS and talent management platforms,
we provide Chinese enterprises with end-to-end total solutions for all technologies
and products in human resource management scenarios, including HR software, talent
management methodology, employee service ecosystems and low-code platforms. We
help enterprises to achieve digital management covering the entire employee lifecycle
including recruitment, onboarding, management and offboarding, so as to quickly improve
their efficiency for human resource management, to improve their talent management
capabilities and help the employees to achieve rapid growth, so as to achieve smart
decision making. The vision of the Company is to become one of the most reliable human
resources technology companies to clients.

The Company is firmly committed to a high level of corporate governance and adherence
to the governance principles and practices emphasizing transparency, independence,
accountability, responsibility and fairess. These principles and practices are reviewed
and revised regularly as appropriate to reflect the ever changing regulatory requirements
and corporate governance development. The Board believes that the high standards
of corporate governance is the essential core for sustaining the Group’s long term
performance and value creation for our Shareholders, the investing public and the other
stakeholders.

The Company also recognizes the importance of integrity, ethical conduct, and responsible
business practices, which are instilled and continually reinforced across the Group. It
strives to foster a culture of compliance, good corporate governance, and ethical behavior
with its stakeholders to build trust and credibility.

The Board has established the Company’s purpose, values, and strategy, and has satisfied
itself that the Company’s culture is aligned. By acting with integrity and leading by
example, the Directors will further and continue to promote the desired culture within the
Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board is committed to achieving good corporate governance standards.

The Board beligves that good corporate governance standards are essential in providing a
framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate our business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the CG Code contained
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, since the Listing Date and during the rest of the Reporting
Period, the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set out in the CG Code.
The Directors will periodically review on the Company’s corporate governance policies and
will propose any amendment, if necessary, to ensure compliance with the code provisions
from time to time.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions since the Listing Date.
Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he
or she has complied with the requirements as set out in the Model Code since the Listing
Date and during the rest of the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the Group’s businesses,
strategic decisions and performance and makes decisions objectively in the best interests
of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a Director to perform his/
her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is spending sufficient time
performing such responsibilities.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six Directors, consisting of three executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Dirgctors.

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Zhaohui (Chairman)

Mr. Ji Weiguo (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Liu Xianna (Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Du Kui

Mr. Zhao Honggiang

Mr. Ge Ke

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management — Directors” on pages 40 to 45 of this report.

All of our Directors have obtained the legal opinions referred to in Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules on 20 June 2023, before the commencement of trading in the Shares on the
Stock Exchange, and confirmed that they understood their duties as Directors.

Save as disclosed in this report, to the best knowledge of the Board, there has been no
other financial, business, family, or other material/relevant relationships among members
of the Board.

In terms of gender diversity, while there has already been one female Director on the
Board as at 31 March 2024, the Company and the Nomination Committee recognize
the importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board level and are committed to
continue to identify female candidates and ensure at least one member of the Board shall
be female.

As at 31 March 2024, our workforce (including the senior management) consisted of 918
male employees and 936 female employees, representing approximately 49.5% and 50.5%
of the total workforce, respectively. The Company will continue to take gender diversity
into consideration during recruitment and increase the minority gender proportion at
all levels over time with the ultimate goal of achieving gender parity. In recognizing the
particular importance of gender diversity and that gender diversity at the Board level and
our management level can be improved, we are using our best endeavors to ensure the
principles of board and gender diversity are integrated into our recruitment process for
staff at a mid to senior level so that we will have a pipeline of potential employees (including
senior management) and successors to our Board and engage more resources in training
staff (particularly female staff) who have extensive and relevant experience in our business,
with the aim of promoting them to the senior management or directorship of our Group.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the board should meet regularly
and board meetings should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals involving active participation, either in person or through electronic means of
communication, of a majority of directors.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code requires the chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other directors.

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at least four times
a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of no less than fourteen days are
given for all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend
and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the Board held 5
Board meetings to review, among others, the Group’s overall strategy, business prospect,
financial and operating performance, review of the Company’s annual and interim
results announcements and reports, regulatory compliance, corporate governance, the
forthcoming annual general meeting, reappoint external auditors and Board members and
other significant matters. The Company will comply with code provision C.5.1 of the CG
Code to convene Board meetings at least four times a year at approximately quarterly.

For other Board meetings and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. The agenda and accompanying Board papers are dispatched to the Directors or
Board committee members at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings.
When Directors or Board committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views
known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept by the joint
company secretaries of the Company with copies circulated to all Directors for information
and records.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and Board commitiee meetings are recorded in sufficient EEE@ENEFLECCRNSHITIRS ALK
detail about the matters considered by the Board and the Board committees and the @EEENERLZESHEENSIEMFTEMAIRE -

decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each ~ B IEEZRHMEMME - SEETQ@ENEEEE
Board meeting and Board committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments €€ EHLIRVBENEF LT EHENA R
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board ~ IR FZEEREE @ UEHRFIELER - 22285

Sy

meetings are open for inspection by the Directors. VAR ESER] -

The AGM is scheduled to be held on 20 September 2024. For details, please refer to the  AXERAE A 1202459 4208 2217 - 5B 2RI
circular for the AGM. RBEFTREHIBEK o

The attendance of each Director at the Board and Board committee meetings and the ~ FREHIAN  KEEHEARFEELTS S ==L 8
general meetings of the Company during the Reporting Period is set out below: EELBRERRSBEAEHINDAT

Meetings Attended/Number of Meetings Eligible to Attend

BHHERE SERHEEERY
Annual  Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General General
Board  Committee ~ Commitiee  Committee Meeting Meeting
Name of Director B= EFE EREAT FHREE REZE® RFREFEXE BRBHIXE
Executive Directors: pfTES:
Mr. Wang Zhaohui THHELE 505 - - " 1 il
Mr. Ji Weiguo REREE 5/5 - 1 - 1 1
Ms. Liu Xianna AEHat 55 - - - 1" 11
Independent
Non-Executive Directors: BUFRTES:
Mr. Du Kui HEEE 55 33 1 1 1 1
Mr. Zhao Honggiang AR 505 303 - - 1" 1
Mr. Ge Ke BHEE 55 33 n 1n n n

In addition to the regular Board meetings, during the year ended 31 March 2024, the ~ BREE S FEHI®ZIN - BE204EIANNBIEE - &
Chairman also held a meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the — ERINFEBZIEITE S LTB— NS EMES
attendance of other Directors. WHHFE o
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are held by Mr.
Wang Zhaohui and Mr. Ji Weiguo, respectively. The Chairman focuses on the Board’s
work related to the operation and management of the Company. The chief executive officer
provides overall strategic planning and business direction of the Group and management
of the Company. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period to the date of this report, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

We have received from each of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Du
Kui, Mr. Zhao Honggiang and Mr. Ge Ke, the confirmation of their respective independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has duly reviewed the
confirmation of independence of each of these Directors. We consider that our independent
non-executive Directors have been independent for the Reporting Period and remain so as
at the date of this report.

Mechanisms to Ensure Independent Views

The Company ensures independent views and input are available to the Board via the
below mechanisms:

1. The Board composition and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors should be reviewed by the Nomination Committee on an annual basis,
in particular the portion of the independent non-executive Directors and the
independence of the independent non-executive director who has served for more
than nine years.
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2. Awritten confirmation was received by the Company under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules from each of the independent non-executive Directors in relation to his/ner
independence to the Company. The Company considers all its independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

3. In view of good corporate governance practices and to avoid conflict of
interests, the Directors who are also directors and/or senior management of the
Company’s controlling shareholders and/or certain subsidiaries of the controlling
shareholders, would abstain from voting in the relevant Board resolutions in
relation to the transactions with the controlling shareholders and/or its associates.

4, The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent non-executive Directors at
least once annually.

5. All members of the Board can seek independent professional advice when
necessary to perform their responsibilities in accordance with the company policy.

The Board reviews the mechanisms for ensuring independent views and input are
available to the Board on an annual basis, whether in terms of proportion, recruitment and
independence of independent non-executive Directors, and their contribution and access
to external independent professional advice.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for an
initial term of three years commencing from 30 March 2023, which may be terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for
an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 30 March 2023 and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than two months’ notice in writing served by either
party on the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term. The appointments
of Directors are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the
Articles of Association.
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Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is not three or multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include any Director who wishes
to retire and not offer himself for re-election. The Articles of Association also provides
that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-glection.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board and
Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the Company and is
collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides direction to
the management by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors
the Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-gxecutive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and
providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate
actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company and may,
upon request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company's expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities
relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily
operation and management of the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of any legal action taken against them arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

The Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to
effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive induction on the
first occasion of his/ner appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and full awareness of a Director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction
shall be supplemented by regular meetings with senior management of the Group to
understand the Group’s businesses, governance policies and regulatory environment.

The Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
would be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors are continually provided with
information relating to the developments in the legal and regulatory regime and the
business and market environments to facilitate the execution of their responsibilities.
Continuing briefings and professional development for the Directors were arranged by the
Company and its professional advisers.
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The training records of the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024 are summarized
as follows:

HE2024F3R3N A IEFEMNE RIS T

Participated in

continuous
professional
development "¢
2HESE
Directors BTE BEDR
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wang Zhaohui (Chairman) TR S () v
Mr. Ji Weiguo (Chief Executive Officer) WIBBSE A (FTiABEE) v/
Ms. Liu Xianna (Chief Financial Officer) AEBR L (BEHIFE) v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAERITES
Mr. Du Kui B AE v
Mr. Zhao Honggiang FEZsR ST v/
Mr. Ge Ke BnisE v/
Note:  Attended training/seminar/conference arranged by the Company or other external parties Miat - HEBRAARSEMING ZBENEEmE e

or read relevant materials
BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authorities and duties, and
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties. The terms of reference of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee are
posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
Shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set out under the section
headed “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Zhao Honggiang, Mr. Ge Ke and Mr. Du Kui. Mr. Zhao Honggiang, who has financial
management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee include, but not limited to, the following:

o making recommendation to the Board on the appointment or change of external
auditors to our Board, and monitoring the independence of external auditors and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards;

° examining the financial information of our Company and reviewing financial
reports and statements of our Company;

° overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system and internal control
procedures;

° dealing with other matters that are authorized by the Board or involved in relevant
laws and regulations; and

o to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings to review the interim
and annual financial results and reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems and internal audit function, and relevant scope of works and
connected transactions and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about possible
improprieties and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and make recommendations to the Board, and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, and reappointment of the external auditors and approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement.
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The Company's annual results for the year ended 31 March 2024 have been reviewed by
the Audit Committee on 25 June 2024. The Audit Committee considers that the annual
financial results for the year ended 31 March 2024 are in compliance with the relevant
accounting standards, rules and regulations and appropriate disclosures have been duly
made. The Group’s internal control and risk management systems were reviewed regularly
by the management of the Company. With the view of enhancing the Group’s internal
control and risk management system, the Group had an internal audit function to review
the Group’s internal control system during the year ended 31 March 2024 and recommend
actions to improve the Group’s internal controls. Based on the review, the Audit Committee
is of the view that the Group’s internal control and risk management systems were generally
effective and adequate and in compliance with the requirements of code provision D.2.1 of
the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2024 in all material respects.

Remuneration Committee

We have established a Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ge Ke and
Mr. Du Kui and one executive Director, namely Mr. Ji Weiguo. Mr. Ge Ke serves as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee include, but not limited to, the following:

° making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
all Directors” and senior management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

° reviewing and approving management's remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board'’s goals and objectives;

° reviewing and approving the compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment and
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct;

o reviewing and/or approving matters relating to shares schemes under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules; and

° dealing with other matters that are authorized by the Board.
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The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model as described in code provision
E.1.2(c) (i) of the CG Code to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management, including salaries,
bonuses, pension rights, compensation payments and benefits in kind.

The Company has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan and the RSU Plan. The
performance targets attached to the RSUs granted under the RSU Plan mainly included the
employees’ performance ranking, their contribution to the Group and, in some cases, the
performance of the departments of the employee participants.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting to review
and make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure for
all Directors’ and senior management remuneration and the remuneration packages
of non-executive Directors and review and determine the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. During the Reporting Period, the
Remuneration Committee had reviewed the proposal of granting RSUs according to the
Company’s RSU Plan, and made recommendations to the Board.

The remuneration payable to the senior management of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2024 is shown in the following table by band:
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Annual Remuneration

Number of individual(s)

FEMe AB
RMBO to RMB500,000 3
ARBEOTE A RE500,0007T

RMB13,500,001 to RMB14,000,000 1
AR #13,500,001 702 A R #514,000,0007T

RMB15,500,001 to RMB16,000,000 1
AR #15,500,001 702 A R #516,000,0007T

RMB16,000,001 to RMB16,500,000 1
AR #16,000,001 702 A R #16,500,0007T

Total 6
#st

Further details of the remuneration payable to the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in notes 33 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements in this report.
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Nomination Committee

We have established a Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ge Ke and
Mr. Du Kui and one executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Zhaohui. Mr. Wang Zhaohui
serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, but not limited to, the following:

o reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) required of the Board annually and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate Strategy;

o making recommendation to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors in particular the chairman and the
chief executive;

° evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board before
appointments are made by the Board and formulating, or assisting the Board to
formulate, a board diversity policy for the Company;

o identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors and selecting or
making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorship;

o assessing and reviewing the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
and

o dealing with other matters that are authorized by our Board.

The Nomination Committee should seek independent professional advice to perform its
responsibilities, when necessary, at the Company’s expense.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take into account
various aspects as well as factors concerning board diversity as set out in the Company’s
board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.
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During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, the nomination policy and succession
planning for Directors, assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors,
review the time devoted by the Directors and make recommendations to the Board on
the re-appointment of Directors. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Nomination Policy
Director Nomination Policy

The Company adopted a nomination policy in compliance with the CG Code with
effect from the Listing Date, which establishes written guidelines to Nomination
Committee to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships
with reference to the formulated criteria. The Nomination Committee shall propose suitable
candidates to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to the Shareholders
for appointment as directors of the Company at general meetings. The Board, through the
delegation of its authority to the Nomination Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure
that Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and
knowledge in business, finance and management skills critical to the Group’s business to
enable the Board to make sound and well considered decisions. Collectively, they have
competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable to the Group.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall identify director candidates with appropriate
qualifications in accordance with the provisions under the Listing Rules, the Articles of
Association and applicable laws and regulations.

The Nomination Committee will take into account whether a candidate has the
qualifications, skills, experience and gender diversity that add to and complement the
range of skills, experience and background of existing Directors by considering the
highest personal and professional ethics and integrity of the director candidates, proven
achievement and competence in the nominee’s figld and the ability to exercise sound
business judgment, skills that are complementary to those of the existing Board, the ability
to assist and support management and make significant contributions to the Company’s
success and such other factors as it may deem are in the best interests of the Company
and its Shareholders. The Company shall review and reassess the nomination policy and
its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy on the Board has been
created or is expected on a regular basis or as required. The Nomination Committee
utilizes various methods for identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and professional search firms. All director candidates,
including incumbents and candidates nominated by Shareholders are evaluated by the
Nomination Committee based upon the director qualifications. While director candidates
will be evaluated on the same criteria through review of resume, personal interview and
performance of background checks. The Nomination Committee retains the discretion to
establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary based on the composition,
skill sets, age, gender and experiences of the collective Board rather than on the individual
candidate for the purpose of diversity perspectives appropriate to the requirement of the
Company’s business.

Board Diversity Policy

We are committed to promoting the culture of diversity in the Company. We have strived to
promote diversity to the extent practicable by taking into consideration a number of factors
in our corporate governance structure.

We have adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of
our Board. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, we seek to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
race, cultural background, educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
knowledge and experience in the areas of business administration, education, development
policy, accounting and engineering. Our Board Diversity Policy is well implemented as
evidenced by the fact that there are both male and female Directors ranging from 47 years
old to 60 years old with different nationalities and experience from different industries and
sectors. After due consideration, our Board believes that based on our existing business
model and specific needs, and the background of our Directors, the composition of our
Board satisfies the principles under the Board Diversity Policy.
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We will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of our Company,
including but not limited to our Board and the senior management levels. In particular,
given that one out of six of our Directors is female, our Board will, taking into account the
business needs of our Group and changing circumstances from time to time that may affect
our Group’s business plans, use its best endeavors to actively identify suitably qualified
female individuals to become our Board members (keeping in mind the importance of
management continuity and the timeline for retirement and reappointment of Directors
under the Articles). We will also continue to ensure that there is gender diversity when
recruiting staff at mid to senior level so that we will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to our Board in due time to ensure gender diversity
of our Board. Qur Group will continue to emphasize training of female talent and providing
long-term development opportunities for our female staff. During the process, we may face
the issue of whether the supply of personnel of a particular gender in the human resources
market matches the required qualifications, experience and skills required for positions
within the Company. Despite these challenges, we will endeavor to maintain gender
balance in the workforce.

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of our Board
members. Our Nomination Committee will continue to review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and we will disclose in our
corporate governance report about the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy on an
annual basis.

Corporate Governance Functions

Our Gompany is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance with a
view to safeguarding the interests of our Shareholders, by complying with the CG Code set
out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules and the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board and the Audit Committee had reviewed
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management of the Group, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
the disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

We have devoted ourselves to establishing and maintaining risk management and internal
control systems consisting of policies and procedures that we consider to be appropriate
for our business operations, and we are dedicated to continuously improving these
systems. We have adopted and implemented comprehensive risk management policies
in various aspects of our business operations, such as information system, regulatory
compliance, human resources and financial reporting. The Group’s system of internal
control is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems
and fulfilment of the business objectives. The internal control system is reviewed on
an ongoing basis by the Board in order to make it practical and effective in providing
reasonable assurance in relation to protection of material assets and the Shareholders’
interests.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify, assess and
manage different types of risks. As the first line of defense, business units are responsible
for identifying, assessing and monitoring risk associated with each business or
transaction. The management, as the second line of defense, defines rule sets and models,
provides technical support, develops new system and oversees portfolio management. It
ensures that risks are within acceptable range and that the first line of defense is effective. As
the final line of defense, the internal audit function assists the Audit Committee to review
the first and second lines of defense.

Our Board is responsible and has the general power to supervise the operations of our
business, and is in charge of managing the overall risks of our Company. It is responsible
for considering, reviewing and approving any significant business decision involving
material risk exposures. Our Board will monitor the ongoing implementation of our risk
management policies and corporate governance measures. The Audit Committee under
our Board comprises three members, namely Mr. Zhao Honggiang, Mr. Ge Ke and Mr.
Du Kui, with Mr. Zhao Honggiang (being our independent non-executive director with the
appropriate professional qualifications) as chair of the audit committee.

Information System Risk Management

We pay close attention to risk management relating to our information system as sufficient
maintenance, storage and protection of user data and other related information is critical to
our success. We have designed and adopted strict internal procedures to ensure that our
data is protected and that leakage and loss of such data are avoided.
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Regulatory Compliance Risk Management

In order to effectively manage our regulatory compliance and legal risk exposures, we have
adopted strict internal procedures to ensure the compliance of our business operations
with the applicable rules and regulations. In accordance with these procedures, our in-
house legal department performs the basic function of reviewing and updating the form
of contracts we enter into with our customers, suppliers and other business partners. Our
legal department examines the contract terms and reviews all relevant documents for our
business operations, including licenses and permits obtained by the counterparties to
perform their obligations under our business contracts and all the necessary underlying
due diligence materials, before we enter into any contract or business arrangements.

Our in-house legal department is responsible for obtaining any requisite governmental
pre-approvals or consents, including preparing and submitting all necessary documents
for filing with relevant government authorities, within the prescribed regulatory timelines.
We continuously improve our internal policies according to changes in laws, regulations
and industry standards, and update internal templates for legal documents. We undertake
compliance management over various aspects of our operations and employee activities.
We have also established an accountability system in respect of employees’ violations
of laws, regulations and internal policies. In addition, we continually review the
implementation of our risk management policies and measures to ensure our policies
and implementation are effective and sufficient. We have an employee code of conducts
in place, which contains internal rules and guidelines regarding basic working rules,
work ethics, confidentiality, negligence, anti-bribery and anti-corruption. We provide our
employees with regular training and resources to explain the guidelines contained in the
employee code of conducts.

Human Resources Risk Management

We have established internal control policies covering various aspects of human resources
management such as recruiting, training, work ethics and legal compliance. The demand
in our industry for qualified talent is intense and we may be adversely affected by the
departure of any key employees. Each of our executive officers and key employees has
entered into with us an employment agreement containing confidentiality, intellectual
property and non-compete provisions.
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We also require our employees to conform to high ethical standards. We have in place an
employee handbook and a code of conduct which is distributed to all our employees. The
handbook contains internal rules and guidelines regarding work ethics, fraud prevention
mechanisms, negligence and anti-corruption. In particular, our code of conduct explicitly
requires that all employees comply with any applicable anticorruption laws, regulations
and policies, and they are prohibited from making illegal or improper payments to any
government official, either on their own or via third parties. Additionally, our employees
and their family members are not allowed to solicit or accept gifts, travel, hospitality or
anything of value to the extent such favors or advantages may influence their professional
judgments. Under our firm-wide whistleblowing policy, we make our internal reporting
channel open and available for our employees to report, on an anonymous basis, any non-
compliance incidents and acts, including bribery and corruption.

We provide employees with regular training, as well as resources to explain the guidelines
contained in the employee handbook. We also provide regular and specialized training
tailored to the needs of our employees in different departments, through which we enable
our employees to better comply with applicable laws and regulations in the course of
conducting business.

Financial Reporting Risk Management

We have a complete set of accounting policies and procedures in connection with our
financial reporting risk management, such as financial reporting management, internal
control, investment management and budget management. Our financial department
reviews our management accounts and internal control procedures based on such policies
and procedures. In addition, we provide regular training to our financial department staff
to ensure they understand our accounting policies and procedures and implement them in
our daily operations.

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal Control

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted annual review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control and risk management systems for the year ended 31 March
2024, covering the material financial, operational and compliance controls, which are
considered effective and adequate. The Audit Committee has reviewed the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience, training and budget of the accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions on an annual basis.
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INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the Listing Rules and the
overriding principle that inside information should be announced immediately when it is
the subject of a decision.

The Company has put in place an internal policy for the handling and disclosure of inside
information in compliance with the SFO. The internal policy sets out the procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely
manner and provides the Directors, senior management, and relevant employees of
the Company a general guide in monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries. Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited. The procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information are as follows:

o the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure requirements
under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong;

o the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair disclosure by pursuing
broad, non-exclusive distribution of information to the public through channels
such as financial reporting, public announcements and its website; and

o the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or inside
information.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has regularly reviewed and enhanced its risk
management, internal control systems and inside information disclosure policy. We
believe that our Directors and members of our senior management possess the necessary
knowledge and experience in providing good corporate governance oversight in connection
with risk management and internal control. The Board has conducted an annual review of
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems and considers these
systems effective and adequate in general.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the
Company and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are
necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 119 to 124.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the independent auditor of the Company, KPMG, in respect of
audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out below:

ESMMBEERRENHRE

BEHR RS RENEEBE2024FIANA LFED
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AR R LR BT A A SR B 0 6 & A R SRR ML P B
RETR AN E19E 1248 B EBENRE -
BB EH BN &

BENUFIANAILFE - RBRH IR

SN FARRBIAZEENRE A S EHH B
BT -

Fees Paid/Payable

Bft EFRER

Service Category (RMB000)
BR#HER AREFT)
Audit services %R 2,600
Non-audit services FERZEURTE 0
Total st 2,600

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Liu Xianna, our executive Director, is one of our
joint company secretaries of the Company and is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and ensuring that Board policy and procedures, and
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. She was appointed as a joint company
secretary since 31 December 2021.
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In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance with the Listing
Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, since 31 December 2021, the Company also
appointed Ms. Au Wai Ching, a senior manager of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited (a corporate services provider) as another joint company secretary
of the Company who possesses the qualifications as required under Rule 3.28 of the
Listing Rules, to assist Ms. Liu Xianna to discharge her duties as company secretary of the
Company. Ms. Liu Xianna is Ms. Au Wai Ching’s primary contact person in the Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, each of Ms. Liu Xianna and Ms. Au Wai Ching has
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a policy on payment of dividends (the “Dividend Policy”) in
compliance with code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code with effect from the Listing Date,
which establishes an appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the dividend
payment of the Company.

The Board considers sustainable returns to Shareholders whilst retaining adequate
reserve for the Group’s future development to be an objective. Under the Dividend Policy,
dividends may be declared from time to time and be paid to Shareholders provided that the
Group is profitable and without affecting the normal operations of the Group. In summary,
the declaration of dividends and the dividend amount shall be determined at the sole and
absolute discretion of the Board, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable,
taking into account the following factors:

o general business conditions of the Company;

o financial results of the Company;

o capital requirements of the Company;

o interests of the Shareholders; and

° any other factors which the Board may deem relevant.
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The Company will continue to periodically re-evaluate the dividend policy in light of the
financial position and the prevailing economic climate. The determination to pay dividends
will be made at the discretion of the Board and will be based upon the earnings, cash flow,
financial conditions, capital requirements, statutory fund reserve requirements of the Group
and any other conditions that the Directors deem relevant.

As at 31 March 2024, no arrangement was reached pursuant to which the shareholders of
the Company waived or agreed to waive their dividends.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with the Shareholders through various communication channels.
To enable Shareholders and other stakeholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner based on a good understanding of the Group’s operations, businesses and
financial information, the Company adopted the shareholders’ communication policy
with the objective of ensuring equal, timely, effective, transparent, accurate and open
communications with the Shareholders. The policy also sets out a number of ways to
ensure effective and efficient communication strategies with Shareholders and other
stakeholders are achieved, including but not limited to corporate communications (in
both English and Chinese, to facilitate Shareholders understanding), posting of relevant
information on the corporate website and Shareholders meetings.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution should be proposed
for each substantially separate issue at general meetings of the Company, including
the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general meetings of
the Company will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
announcement will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

General meetings provide an opportunity for constructive communication between the
Company and the Shareholders. For Shareholders to communicate their views on various
matters affecting the Company and the Company to solicit and understand the views of
shareholders and other stakeholders, the Company adopts a number of mechanisms,
including encouraging Shareholders to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to
attend the meetings.
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Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 17 of the Articles of Association, the Directors shall on a members’
requisition forthwith proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.
A members’ requisition is a requisition of one or more members holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the voting rights, on a one vote per share
basis, of the issued shares which as at that date carry the right to vote at general meetings
of the Company. The members’ requisition must state the objects and the resolutions
to be added to the agenda of the meeting and must be signed by the requisitionists
and deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office of the Company, and
may consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.
If there are no Directors as at the date of the deposit of the members’ requisition or if the
Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the members’ requisition
duly proceed to convene a general meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights
of all the requisitionists, may themselves convene a general meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall be held no later than the day which falls three months after the expiration of
the said 21 day period. A general meeting convened by requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner as nearly as possible as that in which general meetings are to be
convened by the Directors.

Putting Forward Proposals at Annual General Meetings

The Company must hold an annual general meeting of the Company every financial year
other than the financial year of the Company’s adoption of the Articles of Association
and such annual general mesting must hold within six (6) months after the end of the
Company’s financial year, unless a longer period would not infringe the Listing Rules, if
any. A meeting of members or any class thereof may be held by means of such telephone,
electronic or other communication facilities and participation in such a meeting shall
constitute presence at such meeting.

To facilitate communication between the Company, Shareholders and the investor
community, the corporate website has been adopted as the designated hub for publication
of the corporate information, such as principal business activities and latest development
of the Company and the Group. Also, it provides information on corporate governance
of the Group as well as the compositions and functions of the Board and the Board
committees.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send written enquiries to
the Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

The Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the

following:

Address: 18th Floor, Huarui Mansion, Xiaoyunli South Street No. 9 Courtyard

Chaoyang District, Beijing

Email: ir@beisen.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the original duly signed
written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above

address and provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect

thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential
for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue
with Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. At the annual general meetings, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are

available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The AGM is scheduled to be held on 20 September 2024. For details, please refer to the

circular for the AGM.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy during the Reporting Period. The Board conducted such review from
various angles, including whether the policy provided sufficient channels to shareholders

to access to the Company, and the availability and quality of the two-way dialogue with

shareholders through channels such as investor meetings.

The Board considered that the Company was able to carry out effective two-way
communication with its investors and shareholders by way of regular meetings and
timely updates of the Company’s financial results and developments in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations. Accordingly, the Board considered the policy to be

effective and adequate.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s eighth amended and restated memorandum and articles of association

were adopted on 18 March 2024 and were effective from 18 March 2024. The said

amended and restated memorandum and articles of association is available on the

Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
ORVR A

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Beisen Holding Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Beisen Holding Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 125 to 233, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss, the consolidated statement of changes
in (deficits)/equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2024 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards)
("lIESBA Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matter

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. This matter was
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this

matter.

REEIER
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Revenue recognition

IR

Refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.20.

B2HEA P BRR T M 6K M52 207 M & ET R o

The Key Audit Matter
RRETER

The Group mainly derives revenue separately or in combination from cloud-
based human capital management (“HCM”) solutions and professional
Services.
EEEFZUBEFEGASH AR mANEREIE(THCM)
FR T R B RIS EFUA o

Cloud-based HCM solution revenues mainly include subscriptions for
unlimited access to, or limited number of usages of, the Group’s cloud-
based HCM solutions over the contract term. Revenue is generally recognised
over the contract term under unlimited access subscription model and is
recognised upon the later of virtual items consumption and expiration under
limited number of usage subscription model. Professional service revenues
mainly include revenues generated from the implementation services and
value-added services associated with the cloud-based HCM solutions.
Implementation service revenues are recognised over the service periods;
value-added service revenues are primarily recognised at a point in time when
the services are completed and acknowledged by customers.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

B EmAEE SR

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition included the following:
BRI A RO EAZFEEATAR

° assessing, with the assistance of our IT specialists, the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of management’s key
internal controls over:

J ERMTERB BB T - fHAEIRERR A6 aR
i BmRESENE - B

- the general IT controls of the relevant information technology
systems;
—  (ERAE BRI R e —ARITEER

= IT application controls over the completeness and accuracy
of revenue transaction details contained within the relevant IT

systems;
—  TEAEFHEBTERAEFTEEHNRARZFHEN
TR I FERE A

° assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies adopted in
revenue recognition by inspecting the main terms and conditions in
selected contracts;
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Key audit matter (Continued) REEHERGE

Revenue recognition

W A 252

Refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2.20.
B2 AR A PSR R AT 6 S M 512,20 R BV & ETBUR o

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

RREER R E MM EEER

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s revenues from cloud- e recalculating the cloud-based HCM solution revenues under limited

based HCM solutions and professional services were RMB632.23 million and number of usage subscription model with the assistance of computer-

RMB222.51 million, respectively. assisted audit techniques using data extracted from relevant IT
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We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter because revenue is
one of the key performance indicators of the Group and is, therefore, subject comparing the cash receipts recorded in the general ledger to bank

to possible manipulation by management to meet targets or expectations. transaction records, on a sample basis; and
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° testing the cloud-based HCM solution revenues under unlimited
access subscription model and professional service revenues, on a
sample basis, by inspecting the key terms of revenue contracts with
customers and in addition, for completed professional services,
completion report acknowledged by customers. Recalculating the
revenue recognised for selected samples.
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Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
all the information included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consoalidated financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by
IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BUZBEHE (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit
gvidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BUZBEHRE (&)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is
Cheung Tsz Chung.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

25 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FEREBRE

for the year ended 31 March 2024

HE2024F3A31B IEFE
Year ended 31 March
HEIASHLLERE
2024 2023
20245F 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BfaE AR®TT AREETIT
Revenues from contracts with customers REBEPEHHKRA 6 854,741 750,914
Cost of revenues SHERA 9 (339,814) (335,350)
Gross profit EF 514,927 415,564
Selling and marketing expenses SHEREHAS 9 (437,773) (386,855)
General and administrative expenses —MRATE R 9 (184,889) (165,725)
Research and development expenses EERZ 9 (350,870) (303,329)
Net impairment losses on financial assets SRMEENENEERE
and contract assets Jiagisbe st 31 (3,779) (2,909)
Other income E U A 7 70,652 37,405
Other gains, net H bl exH 58 8 2,010 37,737
Operatingloss  ®®®&® (369,722) (368,112)
Finance income B U A 8,469 7,643
Finance costs EUR DN (2,019) (3,072)
Finance income,net ~ HMEgASE@E 2000000000000 B 6450 - 4571
Fair value changes of redeemable convertible A & [ AT (8 SR AR Y
preferred shares RN BEEE) 28 (2,810,841) (2,241,362)
Loss before income tax BXFRiSIRBIEE (3,194,113) (2,604,903)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fris#i (), #He 12 (14,474) 5911
Loss for the year FRNBR (3,208,587) (2,598,992)
The notes on pages 133 to 233 form part of these financial statements. F1BEE2EMMI B ZENBIRERA—D ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (CONTINUED)
mETHEER (&)

for the year ended 31 March 2024

BHE2024F3AN B IEFE
Year ended 31 March
HEIAMHILFERE
2024 2023
20245F 20235
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BfaE AR®TTT ARBFIT
Loss is attributable to: DT&REEGESIR -
— Owners of the Company S UNEIEZEPN (3,208,587) (2,598,992)
— Non-controlling interests — FEIE A M - -
(3,208,587) (2,598,992)
Loss per share for loss attributable to the ENFEBERERSE ARGEGE
ordinary equity holders of the Company HEREECISRARRT
(expressed in RMB per share) FI7R)
—Basic and diluted —BEARREE 13 (4.48) (12.16)
Fussiiontholsar L ERER . (3.208,587) | (2,598,992)
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Ht2E A (5518) :
lterm that may be reclassified to profit or loss AJEZ DR E R ) HE
— Currency translation differences —EiinE s (92,475) (288,414)
lterms that may not be reclassified to profit or loss THEF P EE R E A
— Currency translation differences —EiinE s 119,782 (243,838)
— Fair value changes of redeemable convertible —H B FEERBRE A ] & D A
preferred shares due to own credit risk EREERNALBEES 28 - (2,110)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HIBREE#HFENREM2E
for the year, net of tax KA (8518) 27,307 (534,362)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRNREEGREHE (3,181,280) (3,133,354)
Total comprehensive loss is atiributable to: Bl FT&IEEEDEEISEHA :
— Owners of the Company S VYNCIEZZ =N (3,181,280) (3,133,354)
— Non-controlling interests — JEIERR A - -
(3,181,280) (3,133,354)
The notes on pages 133 to 233 form part of these financial statements. F1BEE2REMMFEREZERBHRERA—D ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

meEMBRAR

at 31 March 2024

H202453 A31H
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
20245 720234
3A31H 3A31H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE AR¥TT AREFTT
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment L E Y] 14 35,809 50,193
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 16 25,293 56,814
Intangible assets B AE 15 1,180 592
Deferred income tax assets FIEFTSHEE 25 4,668 19,142
Other receivables and prepayments H fth FE IR IE SR TR 50E 20 1,940 12,947
Contract acquisition costs B HEUSAA 6 29,716 31,215
Financial assets at fair value through profitor loss AR BEFABENESREE 18 5,420 27,881
Restricted cash ZRRHIIR e 21 1,030 1,030
Total non-currentassets ~  FabwERE 0000000 105,056 199814
Current assets BN E
Contract acquisition costs B HBUSA 6 23,567 20,913
Contract assets BHEE 6 3,025 2,350
Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIA 19 31,161 22,593
Other receivables and prepayments H R R IE R FA S 5B 20 28,692 13,996
Financial assets at fair value through profitor loss ~ #Z AR BEFABRZHEHEE 18 1,129,980 1,015,410
Term deposits TEHATFE K 21 350,756 186,818
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 21 52 175
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEY 21 234,101 408,709
Total current assets mEERE 1,801,334 1,670,964
Total assets EE#E 1,906,390 1,870,778
EQUITY/(DEFICITS) #E (Hh)
Share capital &N 22 49 15
Share premium iD= (E 22 13,146,247 623,064
Reserves i 23 (943,493) (1,164,394)
Accumulated losses RETEE (11,047,935) (7,815,314)
Equity/(deficits) attributable to owners RATHEB AEG
of the Company W2 (B4 1,154,868 (8,356,629)
Non-controlling interests FEEAR - -
Total equity/(deficits) ~~~ ®a GeMesw 0000000000 1,154,868 | (8,356,629
The notes on pages 133 to 233 form part of these financial statements. F1BEE2EMMI B ZENHIRERA—ID ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

REMBERRER (F)

at 31 March 2024

720243 A31H
As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
12024 720234
3A31H 3A31H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE AR®TT ARBETIT
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities ERBRE
Redeemable convertible preferred shares A] f& [ AT 348 ST A% 28 - 9,408,379
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 738 22,312
Contract liabilities BHBE 6 55,202 30,055
Total non-current liabilities  #mbffes 0 95,940 9460746
Current liabilities mERAE
Trade payables B S FRIAE 26 2,564 6,766
Other payables and accruals HAbERIERIETEA 27 210,079 256,664
Contract liabilities AHaE 6 460,936 469,334
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 22,003 33,897
Total current liabilities mBAFEE 695,582 766,661
Total liabilities AEEE 751,522 10,227,407
Total equity/(deficits) and liabilities ER (S RAREA 1,906,390 1,870,778
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 June 2024. B R H2024F6 A 25 B HEHEIT IR REEEA o
Ji Weiguo Liu Xianna
RER 1=
Director Director
EF EE
The notes on pages 133 to 233 form part of these financial statements. F1BEE2REMM B EZENBHRERA—D ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN (DEFICITS)/EQUITY
ma (S Eaenx

for the year ended 31 March 2024
B E2024F3R31 B LFE

Note

Attributable to owners of the Company

AREEE AEG
Non-
Share Share Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium Reserves losses Sub-total interests deficits
e
BA BRiDmE #E RiEE Nt B e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Wit ARBTE ARBTE ARBTR ARETR ARETL ARBTL ARBTR

Balanceat1April2022  W22FARIRMEE®R 15 6800 87107 (521632 (5280350 <. (5:2803%0)
Comprehensive loss: 2EEGHE -
Loss for the year FREE = = - (259899) (2598992 - (25999)
Fair value changes of redeemable BH=ERBER
convertible preferred shares ) 7] FE ] ] 8540
due to own credit risk BERNAAER
e 23,28 - - (2,110) - (2,110) - (2,110)
Currency translation differences BB - - (532,252) - (532,252) - (532252
Total comprehensive loss FRZEEHRESE
e year e S T bo362) (2508992 (3138384 o (313835
Transactions with owners in HESAUEREA
their capacity as owners: SRETHRS
Share-based payments MROAERONR A - - 57,075 - 57,075 - 57,075
Total transactions with ownersin ~ BEFALEEFA
their capacity as owners SNETHRS
o3 = - 57,075 - 57,075 - 57,075
Balance at 31 March 2023 R202353A31 A
e 15 623064  (1,164,394) (7,815314)  (8,356,629) - (8,356,629)

The notes on pages 133 to 233 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN (DEFICITS)/EQUITY (CONTINUED)
e (B, EERER ()

for the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE2024F3AN B IEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

- XNGE 2PN
Non- Total
Share Share Accumulated controlling  (deficits)/
capital  premium  Reserves losses  Sub-total interests equity
#
(B
Bx RipEE f#im RiER it #a g
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
iz ARBTRT ARBTT AR%TRT ARBTR AR®TRT ARWTT AR®TT
Balance at 31 April 2023 1#2023%4 5 1A A0 15 623,064 (1,164,394) (7,815,314) (8,356,629) - (8,356,629)
Comprehensive loss: 2EEE -
Loss for the year FAEIE - - - (3,208,587) (3,208,587) - (3,208,587)
Currency translation differences EBHEER - - 217,307 - 27,307 - 27,307
Total comprehensive loss FRZEGIREE
for the year - - 21,307 (3,208,587) (3,181,280 - (3,181,280)
Transactions with owners in HEFAURREEA
their capacity as owners: SRETHRS
Conversion of redeemable convertible 7 B B AT SR A B AL %
preferred shares to ordinary shares AT AR 23,28 32 12,206,083 24,034 (24,034) 12,206,115 - 12,206,115
Issuance of ordinary shares HENAREERH
relating to initial public offering, VEERET
net of underwriting commissions M eHEAe Rk
and other issuance costs HABATRA 1 198,903 - - 198,904 - 198,904
Share-based payments DR AERAMATR 24 - - 292,380 - 292,380 - 292,380
Issuance of shares under IS A= N 4=
Pre-IPQ share option plan AR 81817
k4 1 118,617  (114,466) - 4,152 - 4,152
Purchase of own shares BEBERD - - (8,774) - (8,774) - (8,774)
Cancellation of shares R G - (420) 420 - - - -
Total transactions with ownersin ~ BEFALIEEEA
their capacity as owners SNETHRS
o3 34 12,523,183 193,594 (24,034) 12,692,777 - 12,692,777
Balance at 31 March 2024 R202453R31HM
e 49 13,146,247  (943,493) (11,047,935) 1,154,868 - 1,154,868

The notes on pages 133 to 233 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERaRER

for the year ended 31 March 2024

BE2024F3A31AILEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
k=3 AR%TT AREETIT
Cash flows from operating activities BETDHEENRQRE
Cash used in operations LEFTANIRES (87,311) (155,168)
Interest received BYFI B 4,842 6,416
Income tax paid BATETISH - (43)
Net cash outflow from operating activities = #EEZEMEEMREAHBR (82,469) (148,795)
Cash flows from investing activities BRETBEENHRERE
Payments for property, plant and equipment ME - BB R EREANR (15,075) (38,080)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEMREFTSHKIE
plant and equipment 259 82
Payments for intangible assets REREEMNR (964) (274)
Payments for financial assets at fair value IR AR EET ABED
through profit or loss CREEMNK 3.3(a) (2,491,085) (3,225,000)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at BER AR EERF AEZA
fair value through profit or loss CREEMSHIE 3.3(a) 2,413,352 3,544,801
Purchase of term deposits BETEHER (374,965) (693,046)
Proceeds from maturities of term deposits TEHATF SR B ER AT IS 208 219,059 717,210
Placement of restricted cash FEREZRHRE (52) (132)
Withdrawals of restricted cash RV R HIIR & 175 137
Loan repayment from employee EENEFUER - 1,452
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from BREFHEENRS
investing activities (W), RN BE (249,296) 307,150

The notes on pages 133 to 233 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
RERETRER (B)

for the year ended 31 March 2024

HZE2024F3A3N B IEFE
2024 2023
20245 20235
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE AR®TT ARBETIT

Cash flows from financing activities MEITBEENHRaRE
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares BRI E L BARATSROE -

in relation to global offering, net of NGEHEE XA

underwriting fees and commissions 22 198,904 =
Proceeds from issuance of shares under BRI ERT BB 1T FT1S 5K IA

share option plan 3,984 -
Payment for listing expenses AR (174) (358)
Payment for own shares BB RM R (9,096) -
Principal elements of lease payments HEMNKOERE IS 16 (33,740) (36,551)
Interest elements of lease payments HEM KT S35 16 (2,019) (3,072)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from METDHEENRS

financing activities BA (FH) B8 157,859 (39,981)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBEEEY

cash equivalents (WD) BNRE (173,906) 118,374
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of A EEMRERALEE D

the financial year 408,709 288,706
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and EESBHHRSRRLEFE YN

cash equivalents 4 (702) 1,629
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year FFRHAERREFEY 234,101 408,709
The notes on pages 133 to 233 form part of these financial statements. F1BEE2REMMFEEEZENBHRERAN—D ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& M5 R

2.1

General information

Beisen Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries, including
consolidated structured entities, (collectively, the “Group”) are primarily engaged
in providing cloud-based human capital management (“HCM”) solutions in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), which enables customers to recruit,
gvaluate, manage, develop and retain talents efficiently.

The Company is an investing holding company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 6 April 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Act, (Cap.22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office is PO Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

On 13 April 2023, the Company completed its public offering and the international
offering (the “Global Offering”), and its ordinary shares were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”), unless otherwise
stated.

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied throughout all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that other financial assets are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies in Note 2.8.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

2.1

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS
Accounting Standards requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate
is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS Accounting Standards
that have significant effect on the consolidated financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 4.

2.1.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

134 Beisen Holding Limited

The Group has applied the following amendments or annual improvements for the
first time for their annual reporting period commencing 1 April 2023:

° IFRS 17, Insurance contracts

° Amendments to IAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates

o Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

o Amendments to IAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

o Amendments to I1AS 12, International tax reform — Pillar Two mode! rules
None of these developments have had a material effect on how the Group’s results
and financial position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or

presented. The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
eV BRRHE (&)

Basis of preparation and summary of material 2 RERERTIESHHFRESEGE

accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The following certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been
published that are not mandatory during all the years presented and have not been

early adopted by the Group.

21 WEEER

o

2.1.2 BHRERKFEE

IR BRI HIFTETER] ~ JERINEAT R 2 FE

AT BB G E RRERARAEFE
EEMEI RGN - BARKEHARIETRE

Effective for

annual periods
beginning on or after
RLUTHB=Rz &%
B EYF B RIR £ 3

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

B R & ST 2E RN 2B 755 K2 BB B 75
AR BT UEETA)

Amendments to IAS 1

BUFR & SR 1SR (IBETA)

Amendments to IAS 1

BUFR & SR 1SR (IBETA)

Amendments to IFRS 16

B PR B 7 e 5 22 Al 251655 (18 5T AN)

Amendments to IAS 21

BUFR & e R 2158 (IBFTA)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

I R B 75 e e 2 A1 35 955 J2

B PR B 75 s 5 A RI B 75 (B 5T AS)
IFRS 18

B B B 75 e 5 E B 2B 1855%
IFRS 19

B B B 75 S 5 E B 2B 1955%
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28

BIFR 75 3R 5 R RSB 1055 K
BB & ETAERIZE285% (B RT A)

Supplier Finance Arrangements
HEERE Lk

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

BEEDERRE IR

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

SRR EREN B E

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

EREENHEEEE

Lack of Exchangeability

TR Z Al A3t

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments

eI ADBERGEZEFT

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

ISR R A 51 R 4R BR

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

HFNBEZAEETAR : HE

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture

REEEABENRRAERRZHANEEHERTE

1 January 2024
2024F1 518

1 January 2024
20241 B18
1 January 2024
2024F1 B18
1 January 2024
20241 B18
1 January 2025
20251 A18
1 January 2026

20265F1 18

1 January 2027
202751 318
1 January 2027
202751 318
To be determined

The Group will adopt the above new or revised standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards as and when they become effective.
Management has performed preliminary assessment and does not anticipate any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position and
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss upon adopting these standards,

amendments to standards and interpretations to the existing standards.
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2.2

2.2.1
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PMBRERME ()

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Subsidiaries
Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has
contral. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

Intra-Group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with
the Group’s accounting palicies.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-
controlling interests (“NCI”) either at fair value or at the NCI's proportionate share
of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss as
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive loss for the year
between NCI and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity.
Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.2

2.2.1

@)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)
Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Arrangements

On 25 September 2018, Beijing Beisen Cloud Technology Co., Ltd. (3t 3k
FERLHBR AR, “Beijing WFOE”) entered into a series of contractual
arrangements (collectively, the “Contractual Arrangements”) with Beijing Beisen
Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. (At RILAREFTE D B R A F], “Beisen
Cloud Computing”) and its shareholders, who collectively hold 99.9555%
equity interests of Beisen Cloud Computing; the remaining minority interests
were subsequently acquired by the Co-founders in the year ended 31 March 2019
and 2022, and are subject to the Contractual Arrangements accordingly. The
Contractual Arrangements enable Beijing WFOE and the Group to:

° exercise power to direct relevant activities of Beisen Cloud Computing
and its subsidiaries (collectively “the PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities”);

° exercise equity holders’ voting rights of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities;

° receive substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, in consideration for the business
support by the Beijing WFOE, at the Beijing WFQOE's discretion;

° obtain an exclusive and irrevocable option to purchase all or part of
the equity interests in Beisen Cloud Computing from its shareholders
for a purchase price of RMB10, to the extent permitted under PRC law
or the lowest price permitted under PRC law shall apply. At the Beijing
WFOE's request, the registered equity holders of Beisen Cloud Computing
will promptly and unconditionally transfer their respective equity
interests in Beisen Cloud Computing to Beijing WFOE or its designated
representative(s) after the Beijing WFOE exercises its purchase option,
either in part or in full; and

° obtain a pledge over the equity interests of Beisen Cloud Computing from
its shareholders as a collateral security for the obligations to perform the
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements.
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PMBRERME ()

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Subsidiaries (Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)
Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Company has right to exercise
power over the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, receives variable returns from
its involvement with the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
Therefore, the Company is considered to control the PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities. Consequently, the Company regards the PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities as controlled structure entities and consolidates the financial position and
statements of comprehensive loss of these entities in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective as direct legal
ownership in providing the Group with direct control over the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and such uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could
impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities. The directors, based on the advice of its PRC
legal advisor, consider that the Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with
the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost
includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.3

2.4

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial information of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The functional currencies of the
Company and its subsidiaries outside mainland China are United States dollars
(“US$” or “USD”), while the functional currencies of the Company’s subsidiaries
in the mainland China are RMB. As the major operations of the Group during
all the years presented are within the mainland China, the Group determined to
present its consolidated financial statements in RMB (unless otherwise stated).

Translation of foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end
exchange rates, are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in
equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment
hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss, and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as at fair
value through other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive
incomey/(loss).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

2.4

(c)

2.5

140 Beisen Holding Limited

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currency translation
Translation of foreign currency financial statements

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value
adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income/(loss)
and accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to the extent that the translation
difference is allocated to NCI.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income/(loss). When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of
the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified
to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical costs less depreciation.
Historical costs include expenditure that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.5

2.6

(a)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost, net
of their residual values at 5%, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of
leasehold improvements, the shorter lease term as follows:

— Electronic equipment
— Furniture and office equipment
— Leasehold improvement

3 years

5 years

shorter of estimated useful lives
and remaining lease terms

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with
the carrying amount and are recognised in “other gains, net” in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive 10ss.

Intangible assets

Software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

Costs associated with maintaining software are recognised as expenses as
incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing
of identifiable and unique software controlled by the Group are recognised as
intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

° It is technically feasible to complete the software or database so that it will
be available for use;

° Management intends to complete the software or database, and use or sell
it;

° There is an ability to use or sell the software or database;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

2.6

(a)

(b)

(c)

142 Beisen Holding Limited

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)
Software (Continued)

° It can be demonstrated how the software or database will generate probable
future economic benefits;

° Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the software or database are available, and

° The expenditure attributable to the software or database during its
development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software or database
include employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised
from the point at which the asset is ready for use. There were no development costs
meeting these criteria and capitalised as intangible assets for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2024.

Research and development expenditures

Research and development expenditures that do not meet the criteria in (a) above
are recognised as expenses as incurred. Development costs previously recognised
as expenses are not recognised as assets in subsequent period.

Amortization method and period

The Group’s intangible assets mainly represent software for internal use. The useful
lives of software are 2 to 10 years, which is the best estimation under current

business needs. The management estimates the useful lives of the intangible assets
based on the expected usage of the software.

Annual Report 2023/2024

2.6

(a)

(b)

(c)

RANEERFREHBREE )

| B E ()
BrfF(#8)

o AR BRI R R

Al RERVAR B AR

s BRANENM - M REMEIRTTHKH
BWEAKLEZR M HBURE : &

s REMHBEBEBEEMEHARENIE

e

BN AT BIRE — B M ERBIERA
BREEERAREBEEERNEERD -

BEMMCMRERAARS AEFEE  1H
ZEE IR AR EEE - BE 20235 22024
FIANBILLFE  MEAERAFAZEEE
RENE BERERE -

PFRZH

RFE EX () IR E B 3 S R EE A A
REEM - EAERSERNFEKRAREER
R ERSEE -

88755 R A

AEBNBEETEASARERNEMS - K
HEVRIE B FHIR2EI0F - EREFIEHH K
TEVREMF - EEEDRIBEEHNEMAE
HETEEERAE R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.7

2.8

()

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization
and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest

levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows, which are largely

independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-

generating units). Non-financial assets (other than goodwill) that suffered an

impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each

reporting period.

Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“0CI”) or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

2.8

(a)

(b)

144 Beisen Holding Limited

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or OCI. For investments in equity instruments, this will depend on whether

the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value through OCI (*FVOCI”).

See Note 17 for details of each type of financial assets.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date,
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Annual Report 2023/2024

2.8

(a)

(b)

RANEERFREHBREE )

®REE (&)
B (1)

RIRAARBEFENEENS @ KakEERK
PABSEREMEERE - RS TAMNKR
BmE W BB ARIEEURN AN EE
R ERYA R ITE N A & 2 -
BaEREARINSRAABEN AR MBEZER
BH(RAREEFARM2EEE) -
BEURSREREENFS - F2HMET -
AEBEEREEEEZSEENEBEAED
REHIBREBHRE -

fEER#EILRERE

ERBEMNENSREERR S AER X
ZRAEEAFBERNLEEENBE - &
WEREEREENRSRENENERLE
=% AASEEYE FEBAARNMERR
NN ERE - BRSBEES TR LR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.8

(c)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus,
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not part
of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in “other gains, net” together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continuea)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for
selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through profit or loss, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in “other gains, net”. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in “other gains,
net” and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or financial
assets at FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within “other gains, net” in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.8

(c)

(d)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as “other

income” when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in “other gains,
net” in profit or loss as applicable.

Impairment

The Group has the following types of assets subject to IFRS 9's expected credit
loss model:

° Trade receivables and contract assets
° Other receivables

° Term deposits

° Restricted cash

° Cash and cash equivalents
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

2  Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)  Impairment (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Generally, credit losses
are measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls between the
contractual and expected amounts.
The expected cash shortfalls of trade and other receivables and contract assets are
discounted using the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an

approximation thereof if the effect is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

= 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that result from default
events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a
shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months);

and

- lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.8

(d)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except
for the following, which are measured at 12-months ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date; and

- other financial instruments (including loan commitments issued) for
which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life
of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial instrument (including a
loan commitment) has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment, that includes forward-
looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

2  Basis of preparation and summary of material

accounting policies (Continued)
2.8 Financial assets (Continued)
(d)  Impairment (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the

debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the market, economic or legal environment
that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor's ability to meet its

obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or
a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such

as past due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the debtor is unlikely
to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to

actions such as realising security (if any is held).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.8

(d)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continuea)

The Group considers a financial instrument to have low credit risk when its credit

risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-
impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have

occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable
events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
- a breach of contract, such as a default;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group
would not consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

2.8

(d)

2.9

152 Beisen Holding Limited

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment (Continued)
Wirite-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract assets is written off to
the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as
a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected
in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are initially
measured at their transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a significant
financing component and other receivables are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost.

Annual Report 2023/2024

2.8

(d)

2.9

RANEERFREHBREE )

& Bl R 7 (#9)
ot {E (#%)
W IHER

BFAREEA M ZHIE  SREEZE
FREEXANEER THE - ZIENBEFEREA
SEBREEFABBEEEIRABRAELERSH
REnEREERMIEZ SR -

i SE AT 2 B E R R D - HBRETTI
Bz MR s AR AR ERE -

5 R R E A

B RWFARTE A EGRRTIEETH
ARG M EULE P RIFRIR - B8 5 R EMEUK
HEHE - FEANMEERET L LB
o AR AREEEWE - RS ERRBE
E BADBERIFRBDEE

TEBEEARMEXD 285 REFIANTRE
RGERTE - BEEARMEX D EHEW
AR E UGB F R R A BEMRHK
RETE o B RUGIRERIRE R AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.10

2.11

2.12

2.13

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Term deposits

Term deposits represent cash placed with banks with original maturities over three
months. If collection of term deposits is expected in one year or less, they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Term deposits are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
Interest earned is recorded as finance income in profit or loss during the periods
presented.

Restricted cash

Restricted cash primarily represents: (i) deposits at bank for letters of guarantee,
and (ii) deposits that were pledged to banks as required for foreign exchange
forward contracts. The Group can only use segregated bank accounts for those
restricted cash and cash in the segregated accounts can only be used for the
respective businesses as designated and therefore not available for general use by
the other entities within the Group.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes
cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to

the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

2.14

2.15

154

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Redeemable convertible preferred shares

Redeemable convertible preferred shares issued by the Company are redeemable
upon occurrence of certain future events and at the option of the holders. This
instrument can be converted into ordinary shares of the Company at any time at
the option of the holders or automatically converted into ordinary shares upon
occurrence of an initial public offering of the Company or agreed by majority of the
holders as detailed in Note 28.

The Group designated the redeemable convertible preferred shares as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. They are initially recognised at fair
value. Any directly attributable transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

Subsequently, the component of fair value changes relating to the Company’s own
credit risk is recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts recorded in
other comprehensive income related to credit risk are not subject to recycling in
profit or loss, but are transferred to retaining earnings when realised. Other fair
value change relating to market risk are recognised in profit or loss.

Redeemable convertible preferred shares are classified as non-current liabilities
until the Preferred Shareholders can demand the Company to redeem the preferred
shares within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.16

(a)

(b)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current
period’s taxable income, based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers whether
it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The
Group measures its tax balances either based on the mast likely amount or the
expected value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

2.16

(b)

(c)

156

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations
where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are also not recognised for those related to the
income taxes arising from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement
the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities separately in
relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.17

(a)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Employee benefits
Pension obligations and other social welfare benefits

Full-time employees of the Group in mainland China are entitled to staff welfare
benefits including pension, work-related injury benefits, maternity insurances,
medical insurances, unemployment benefits and housing fund plans through a
PRC government-mandated defined contribution plan. Chinese labor regulation
requires that the Group make contributions to the government for these benefits
based on certain percentage of the employees’ salaries, up to a maximum amount
specified by the local government. The Group has no legal obligation for the
benefits beyond the required contributions. There is no forfeited contribution that
may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonuses is recognised as a liability when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation for payment of bonus as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.
Liabilities for profit sharing and bonus plans are expected to be settled within 1
year and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

2.18

158

PMBRERME ()

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Share-bhased payments

As disclosed in Note 24, the Group adopted 2019 Stock Incentive Plan and 2020
Stock Incentive Plan (collectively, “Employee Stock Ownership Plan”, or
“ESOP”), under which it receives services from employees and directors who have
contributed or will contribute to the Group as consideration for equity instruments
of the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant
of the equity instruments is recognised as an expense in profit or loss with a
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

° including any market performance conditions (e.g., the entity’s share price)

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (e.g., profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period), and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g., the requirement
for employees to save or hold shares for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each
period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the share options are exercised, the Company issues new ordinary shares.
The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited
to share capital and share premium.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.19

2.20

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as finance
COSts.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the goods or services is
transferred to a customer. Depending on the terms of the contract, control of the
goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods and services is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

° creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

2.20

160

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For such
arrangements, the Group allocates revenue to each performance obligation based
on its relative standalone selling price. The Group generally determines relative
standalone selling prices based on its standard price list, taking into consideration
market conditions and its overall pricing strategy.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents the contract in
the consolidated statements of financial position as a contract asset or a contract
liability, depending on the relationship between the entity’s performance and the
customer's payment.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods
and services that the Group has transferred to a customer. A receivable is
recorded when the Group has an unconditional right to consideration. A right
to consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of the consideration is due.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of
consideration that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good or service to
the customer, the Group presents the contract liability when the payment is made
or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due from the customer).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.20

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The accounting policy for the Group’s revenue sources

The Group mainly derives revenue separately or in combination from cloud-based
HCM solutions and professional services.

@)

Cloua-based HCM solutions

The Group charges subscription fees for unlimited access to, or limited
number of usages of, its cloud-based HCM solutions over the contract
term.

Under unlimited access subscription model, customers are provided with
access to one or more of the Group’s SaaS solutions over the contract term.
Revenue is generally recognised over the contract term.

Under limited number of usage subscription model, customers first
purchase certain number of Sendou (#x ) from the Group, and redeem
Sendou for related SaaS solutions upon usage. Unused Sendou will
be forfeited when the contract term expires. The Group concludes that
the breakage of Sendou does not satisfy the constraints of variable
considerations, considering that the amount is highly susceptible to
external factors, and based on historical data, breakage ratios for different
customers are widespread. Related revenue is recognised upon the later of
Sendou consumption and expiration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

2  Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The accounting policy for the Group’s revenue sources (Continued)

()

162 Beisen Holding Limited

Professional services

The Group provides customers with a selection of professional services,
including implementation services and other value-added services
associated with the cloud-based HCM solutions, as well as HR related
trainings services.

Implementation services are provided to new Saa$S solution subscriptions
to assist customers with configuration and testing of the Group’s solution.
Implementation service is determined to be a separate performance
obligation considering, a) customers’ accesses are granted upon purchase
and customers can start using the SaaS solutions immediately by following
the user manual, b) implementation services do not involve the modification
or writing of additional software code, but rather involves setting up the
software’s existing code to function in a particular way for the customers’
benefits. Revenues from implementation services are recognised over the
Service periods.

Value-added services can be purchased separately from cloud-based HCM
solutions at customers’ discretion. They are clearly distinct from cloud-
based HCM solutions. During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024,
revenues from value added services are primarily recognised at a point in
time when the services are completed and acknowledged by customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2  Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The accounting policy for the Group’s revenue sources (Continued)

(c)

(@)

Incremental costs of obtaining customer contract

Sales commissions earned by the Group’s sales force are considered
incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract with a customer.
Sales commissions for initial contracts are deferred and then amortised on
a straight-line basis over a period of benefit that the Group has estimated
to be four years. In arriving at this estimated period of benefit, the Group
evaluated both qualitative and quantitative factors which include the
estimated life cycles of its offerings and its customer attrition. The Group
amortises capitalised costs for renewals paid to customers over the renewal
contract terms, or elects to expense as incurred if the amortization period
is one year or less. Amortization expense of capitalised cost of obtaining
customer contracts is included in sales and marketing expenses on the
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. The Group also assesses
whether the carrying amount of contract cost has exceeded the remaining
amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive, less that costs
that relate directly to providing those goods or services that have not been
recognised as expenses.

Practical expedients applied

The Group expenses incremented cost to obtain a contract if the
amortization period is one year or less.

The promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant
financing component is not adjusted if the Group expects, at contract
inception, that the period between when the Group transfers a promised
good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or
service will be one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

2.21

2.22

164

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable
assurance that the grants will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in profit or loss
over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate. The Group does not have government grants relating to property,
plant and equipment, and other non-current assets.

Leases

The Group leases certain offices. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain various terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the
date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Lease payments
are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
finance costs over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present
value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise that option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be determined, or the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

2.22

2.23

Basis of preparation and summary of material
accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of less than 12 months. Low-value assets
represent leased assets with value below amounts equivalent to US$5,000.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received

° any initial direct costs, and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful
lives and the lease terms on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset's useful life.

In May 2020, the IASB made an amendment to IFRS 16 Leases which provides
lessees with an option to treat qualifying rent concessions related to the Covid
pandemic in the same way as they would if they were not lease modifications. The
Group has applied the practical expedients and the relative impacts on consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss were considered not material.

Dividend distribution

Dividend payable is recognised only when it is authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

3.1

(a)

166 Beisen Holding Limited

Financial risk management 3 SRREER
Financial risk factors 31 &MEEER
The Group'’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, AEEMIZHEHERSESRRERE - JNER
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management program focuses B EERBREEBESRER - AEBEMEE
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse [B\f B I 5T B FE R & B 35 &9 N Al FRORIME -
effects on the Group’s financial performance. W= RKEERELAREBHERRNEETF
s/,
E
Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the board of directors. EREEREEESHENBRRET EEE
The management identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with BEASESEEMNETEE AR EEE
the Group’s operating units. E e
Foreign exchange risk (a) SMEREE
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through intra-group loans which AEEEHNEERREZRENEERNAF]
give rise to intra-group loans receivable and cash balances that are denominated B EREEAINE (BIR G FTF R E BRI ThEEE
in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of the BN E ) SHER S E RN R Bl fEERE R &
operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk Rt  EEAEHRRBRHNEEETZRBER
are primarily HK$ and RMB. The Group ensures that the net exposure is kept to AR - REBEVENBER MZEHEXRE
an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where FHNE - DARET A EA RN 18 - WE(R T ER &Y
necessary to address short-term imbalances. [R B F R AR I AT EE LAY K T o
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period TREIIASERR SRR AEEEE R
to currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a BEMSREEMNINEEE LN BB ERN
currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For BEEREENBENEERRFE - AAES
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated H| - FTEGRRSSBERRERARIZREEEEX
using the spot rates at the end of the reporting period. Differences resulting from BMESBARE - LARBAINNEMEERTIEE
the translation of financial statements of operation with a functional currency other BNV BREARERNEENEREEME
than RMB into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded. R ZFEFERRIESD o
At 31 March 2024
#20245%3A31H
HK$ RMB
BT ABR#%
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR%TT
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIBEEFEY 3,199 1,089
Intra-group loans receivable due from a subsidiary SEARQEFEER—FEMNE
RNAIER - 42,560
Gross exposure arising from recognised EEREERBBEEAN
assets and liabilities [R\ Bz AEER 3,199 43,649
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
eV BRRHE (&)

3.1

(a)

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 SRuEEERE)
Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 £RREER(E)
Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (a) SMEREE (#8)
Sensitivity analysis GRS T
At 31 March 2023
7R2023F3 A31H
HK$ RMB
BT AR
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT AREETIT
Cash and cash equivalents Re RRSFED 64 1,408
Gross exposure arising from recognised assets and liabilities EEREERBEEAEN
[B\fe 4B 5E 64 1,408

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s loss before
income tax that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed
that the pegged rate between HK$ and USD would be materially unaffected by any
changes in movement in value of the USD against other currencies.

THRARBRAALMERERERTE - &
S5 50 95 5 R L AL O B s
12 8 1 7K o B4 19 o T S JRL 8 B B 2
B o BUTE B TRETROEMIER
ST A A B R E AR BT
SEAVE -

2024 2023
20245 2023

(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/

Increase/ increase in loss Increase/ increase in loss

(decrease) after tax and (decrease) in after tax and

in foreign accumulated  foreign exchange accumulated

exchange rates losses rates losses

BRREGRR BREEEER

ShEE=S AR SN e = 2 EE

/i (WD)  (ED) 8in i CRA) R g

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%TT ARBTFT

HK$ BT 5% (160) 5% 3)
-5% 160 -5% 3
RMB AR# 5% (2,182) 5% (70)
-5% 2,182 -5% 70
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

3.1

(a)

(b)

(i

168 Beisen Holding Limited

Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation
of the instantaneous effects on each of the Group entities’ loss after tax and
accumulated losses measured in the respective functional currencies, translated
into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period,
including intra-group loans from Beisen HK to the subsidiary, Sendou Shanghai
which are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of Beisen
HK and not designated as part of the net investment in Sendou Shanghai. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily in relation to its cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, term deposits as well as trade receivables, other
receivables and contract assets. The carrying amounts of each class of the above
financial assets represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to financial assets.

Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and term deposits

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and term
deposits, the Group only transacts with stated-owned financial institutions in the
PRC or reputable banks and financial institutions having high-credit-quality in
the PRC, Hong Kong and the United States of America. There has been no recent
history of default in relation to these financial institutions. The expected credit loss is
immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

3.1

(b)
(i)

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 SEEEEE(E)
Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 £RREER(E)
Credit risk (b) 15 EmBE ()
Credit risk of trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets (i) B ZERFIE - AMERNEREIEERNE
Emg
The Group has policies in place to ensure that trade receivables with credit terms REBEHEBE U ERRAAS RIFEEDE
are made to counter-parties with an appropriate credit history and management WX ZEFELH ABEERNE 5 EYGIE -
performs ongoing credit evaluations of the counterparties. BEBEBURGHFHITHERSETE -
The Group makes periodic collective assessments or individual assessment AEERBERLEELE - BELR - B0k
as appropriate on the recoverability of trade receivables, other receivables and TARA L EEE 5 EYGRIE - M EIKRGRIE
contract assets based on historical settlement records, past experience, current REHNEBEEERSTALERINEE  HE
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of SEWGRIE - M ERFIBNE Y EEN K
trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets. 5] 14 HE 17 5 HA & B8 AT Al sk (@ B a7 4 (R AB R
TE) °
The main exposure to credit risk at each of the reporting dates is the carrying REREAHANFAEERRMO SN EEE
value of the Group's trade receivables and contract assets. On that basis, the loss FEBRRIERENEERNREE - LU ER
allowance as at 31 March 2023 and 2024 was determined as follows for both trade £ 7R20235 20243 31 B K & 5 FEGRIA
receivables and contract assets: REHNEEBERBHEHOETNT
0to6 Tto12 Over
As at 31 March 2023 R2028F3A31H months months 1102 years 2 years Total
0E6A  7E12(8A 122 2EPAE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Expected loss rate TEEER 2.97% 18.98% 50.28% 100.00% 13.41%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BEAENRETT)
— trade receivables —BHRENHIE 18,582 3,220 3,902 666 26,370
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BEAENRETT)
— contract assets —EHNEE 2,436 - - - 2,436
Loss allowance (RMB'000) EiEEEARETT) 624 611 1,962 666 3,863

ZE - =F /2T F FERSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 SRuEEERE
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 &RtREER(E)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) 15EmEE (1)
(ii)  Credit risk of trace receivables, other receivables and contract assets (Continued) (i) B ZEWFIE - EMERHIEREIRERE
B (&)
0to6 Tt012 Over
As at 31 March 2024 R024F3IA3H months months 110 2 years 2 years Total
0E6EA 7E12(8A 1226 2Bk o hy

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TE AEBTRT AR®TR AEBTRT AR®TR

Expected loss rate TR AR 4.81% 21.17% 74.50% 83.45% 13.57%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BEREAENRETT)

— trade receivables —E S RWHE 29,141 2,149 1,918 1,922 36,330
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BEREAENRETT)

— contract assets —RNEE 3,223 - - - 3,223
Loss allowance (RMB'000) BEEEARETT) 1,587 141 1,429 1,604 5,367
The loss allowances for trade and other receivables and contract assets as at 31 202453 AN B M E 5 R H A EWFIA R & &)
March 2024 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows: BEFERERPYVEERENEERAT

Contract assets

SEE

Year ended 31 March

HE3ANAILLEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR#®TT ARETT
At the beginning of the year REF] 86 34

Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss RENEE =R

during the year B TR B N 112 52
At the end of the year RER 198 86
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

3

3.1
(b)
(i)

< 5 B 1R (49)
3.1 & EBSE R (W)

Financial risk management (Continued) 3

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) (b) 15 EmBE ()
Credit risk of trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets (Continued) (i)  EZEWHE - AMERSTEREEERN S
Emg (&)
Trade receivables
B R ERIE
Year ended 31 March
HBEIANALEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFIT
At the beginning of the year REA] 3,717 858
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during G RFEIB TS HER K
the year [ESTE R I AN 3,689 2,919
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible FASE B SH e KGR IE
AT (2,297) -
At the end of the year RER 5,169 3,777

Impairment on other receivables is measured as 12-month expected credit losses
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

BRIEEE R B A RER AR LR AIEIE I - K&
W B R EZ1218 AR E E B RATE -

Other receivables

Hfth FE U R IR
Year ended 31 March
HEIANALEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BETT ARBTFT
At the beginning of the year REH) 195 822
Reversal in loss allowance recognised in profit or loss REANEIE = R
during the year EiERER (22) (62)
Write-off of loss allowance BB R s = (565)
At the end of the year RER 173 195

—ECEFISR NS FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

3.1

(b)
(i)

(c)

172 Beisen Holding Limited

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 SRuEEERE
Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 &RtREER(E)
Credit risk (Continued) (b) 1SEmEEHE)
Credit risk of trade receivables, other receivables and contract assets (Continued) (i)  EHZEWHE - BEMERHEREEENE
B (&)
Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, G I ES IR EITEH - tNEBAREEAS
such as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. Where EETEFGTE - AIMEEemEE - e SR
financial assets and contracts have been written off, the Group continue to engage BENRAKHE TUME  AEBEBEREHE
in activities to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, W e 2 BB GRIER)ES) © WE B REIZE
these are recognised in profit or loss. B - IS RIERIE SRR ©
Liquidity risk (c) mEELEE
The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the AEBBNEFAENRELREFEY - B
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the policy of the Group is to PEEESNBRENE  WASENBERE
regularly monitor the Group’s liquidity risk and to maintain adequate cash and cash HeEmEERnsEcRRURERTENRE R
equivalents to meet the Group’s liquidity requirements. REEEY - UREAEENREESFK -
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities (or the earliest date TRIINASESHAGRNEEARRABRR
a financial liability may become payable in the absence of a fixed maturity date) BEAARRIRE M EBNFERS QRN HIER (3K
at the balance sheet date of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual (WETEETIHA)SRAEIHEMNNR
undiscounted cash flows: FHH) :
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2and5 years 5 years Total
DIME 1526 2E5F SENE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TT ARETT ARETT ARETR
As at 31 March 2023 RNBEIANE
Trade payables B ST E 6,766 - - - 6,766
Other payables and accruals Hi T ZE R BB
(excluding salary and welfare payable, accrual for — (FBHEEMNZHE K
other taxes) B R AR 31,261 - - - 31,261
Lease liabilities HEEE 35,820 22,444 335 - 58,599
73847 2,444 3% - 9,626

As at 31 March 2024 R2024F3A31H
Trade payables B SN FE 2,564 - - - 2,564
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

3.1

(c)

3.2

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 SRuEEERE)
Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 S b%E R ()
Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) HEYERMEEE ()
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2and5 years 5 years Total
DIME 12 2E5F SERE H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET:T
Other payables and accruals Hit T AR E R
(excluding salary and welfare payable, accrual for ~ (RBIEEMNZHE K
other taxes) B ER AR 13,741 - - - 13,741
Lease liabilities HEARE 22,492 674 80 - 23,246
38,797 674 80 - 39,551

As at 31 March 2023, redeemable convertible preferred shares were classified as
a non-current liability, because the Preferred Shareholders cannot demand the
Company to redeem their preferred shares within 12 months as at 31 March 2023.
All redeemable convertible preferred shares of the Company were converted into
ordinary shares immediately before the completion of the Global Offering on 13
April 2023.

Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to:

° safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that they
can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, and

° maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital by regularly reviewing the capital structure. As a part
of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with the issued share capital. The Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to owners, return capital to owners, issue new shares or repurchase
the Company’s shares. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group’s
capital risk is low.

ZE - =F /2T F FERSE

3.2

R202353 4318 -+ 7] [0 AT SR B SRR D 2R
RIFRBAE - REKE KRR N2023F3
H31B AR ERAR R BR12{E A A B R S
BRMR - BHE023F4A138 AFREETHKAT -
AARMAAEOAESRELREERAER

P o
REEH
AEEEREANBRM

s HEAKERELZENEN  FAMmaEH
FERBRREHREE LA HE MmN SHEH
EWRME - R

°  HRBRENBEARBUREEARRAE o

AEBEBEAENEEEARBUERER - £

RELBBEEN—FD  ARFEEEEELRK

ARBBEITEAFEROER - AREHEH

BEEEAANRNORESRE  AEBAREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 SEEEEEE)
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AREEME
(a)  Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (a) BRARBEIEHEHMESERER
(i) Fair value hierarchy (i) DA E(EE
This section explains the judgments and estimates made in determining the fair REFEEE R B HRANIR AR BEERK
values of the financial instruments that are recognised and measured at fair value in FENEE T AR BERFTER 2 &G
the financial statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs i REEEEAABEMARAZENAE
used in determining fair value, the Group has classified its financial instruments REEE  AEEEREBEETLEAGESFHT
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An explanation of BENRZE - FEAMFANTRAT
gach level follows underneath the table.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1 EFE LRV @t
RMB1000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETT ARBETT ARETT ARETR
As at 31 March 2023 R2023F3A318
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets at fair value through BARBETABRA
profitor loss (Note 18) eREE M)
— Investment in structured deposit ~NEREETNRE - - 1,015,410 1,015,410
— Unlisted equity investment —JEERERE - - 27,881 27,881
Total financial assets HEMEE - - 1043291 1043291
Financial liability EMAR
Redeemable convertible preferred shares AEE A ERELR
(Note 28) (Ft5k28) = - (9,408,379) (9,408 379)
Total financial liability HeMAR - - (9,408,379) (9,408 379)

174 Beisen Holding Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(a)
(i

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

3 eREREEGE

3.3 wR{REMLE )
(a) HFERIREEIIRHLHBETER AR E)

() A EEERE)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
b Bk B st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AER%RTRE AR%TR AR®TR AR®TR
As at 31 March 2024 R2024E3R31A
Financial assets CHEE
Financial assets at fair value through AR BEFAERR
profit or loss (Note 18) eREE (1)
~ Investment in structured deposit - B ERORE - - 828,254 828,254
— Investment in fund management products ~RESEBERMEEA - - 301,726 301,726
~ Unlisted equity investment —F ETIRERE = = 9,420 9,420
Total financial assets BEREE = - 1,135,400 1,135,400

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is
based on quoted market prices at each of the reporting dates. A market
is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

—ECEFISR NS FERE

F1R: HERMSEENERTANA
ABEERSRERBOTERETIR -
i 5 ¥R 8 AT BB B E AR 5 X B A -
RPE &R FRAL - EERBHK
EERERS MRxEHRELRRAF
RHEREETHERRERTERS
ZMIZARESER -  AEEREND
RMEEMANTESRELERERE -
FZETRIIAEIR -

2R WIHERRTHSEENSRTA
(EIMTE TR MR A BERBGEE
RMETE - ZFHERMEEEMAAE
EMHHERWAR) - YHEERVKEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 SRuEEERE
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 LOREEMSE(E)
(a)  Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued) (a) BARBEIEMNEHEERERRE(HE)
(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) (i) FEHEAT AR AE BT E AT EE(ES
&)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the years ended TREVEHZE2023F K2024F3 318 L FEE3
31 March 2023 and 2024. BTEMFEFIFR o

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
BARBEMNARSHENEE
Investment in

Investment in fund Unlisted
structured  management equity
deposits products investment
REWEFER RESTEHE JELT™
HiRE EXNRE BiERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTRT AR®BTR

Opening balance at 1 April 2022 R2022F4 1B &)

R4S B4 1,297,642 - 23,294
Additions NE 3,225,000 - -
Settlements/disposal BE e (3,541,659) - (1,520)
Gains recognised in profit or loss RIBFER R IES 34,427 - 6,107
Closing balance at 31 March 2023 MR2023F3 A3 B/

iR 54 1,015,410 - 27,881
Opening balance at 1 April 2023 R2023F4 B1HH

AW 4E o4 1,015,410 - 27,881
Additions NE 2,158,000 333,085 -
Settlements/disposal wE e (2,371,123) (41,839) -
Gains/(losses) recognised in profit or loss RIBRERH

Wz, (E518) 25,967 4,056 (22,461)
Exchange losses recognised in other comprehensive R E 2 EUR A FERH

income bE &R - 6,424 -

Closing balance at 31 March 2024 MR2024F3A31HK

HiR 4554 828,254 301,726 5,420
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

3.3

(a)
(i)

Financial risk management (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

3 SREREEEE
3.3 LRAEEMEG)

(a) HFERIREEIIRHLHBETER AR E)

(i)  EAEATAEERBAZEAELALEE(ES

&)

Financial liabilities
at fair value through
profit or loss

Redeemable convertible
preferred shares
EARBERA
Bl BaE
A & B AT R (B SE AR
RMB’000
ARETT
Opening balance at 1 April 2022 72022454 A1 8 K ER 9 A 64 6,610,924
Changes in fair value through profit or loss STABENARBEEE 2,241,362
Changes in fair value through AR EEREN AR EEEE
other comprehensive income 2,110
Foreign exchange adjustments P& H TR 553,983
Closing balance at 31 March 2023 1202343 A 31 B EA R 45 84 9,408,379
Opening balance at 1 April 2023 1202344 A1 8 M ER 94 & 9,408,379
Changes in fair value through profit or loss SFABEN AR BEEZS 2,810,841
Foreign exchange adjustments PE H A (13,105)
Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred A fE [o] A] S (B ST AR B2 A m AR
shares to ordinary shares (12,206,115)

Closing balance at 31 March 2024

2024463 A 31 B Y EAR 4584

SECSHSRoNE FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

3.3

(a)
(i)

178 Beisen Holding Limited

Financial risk management (Continued)
Fair value estimation (Continued)
Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued)

Valuation techniques and significant inputs used to determine fair values and
valuation process

The Group has a team that manages the valuation exercise of level 3 instruments
for financial reporting purposes. The team manages the valuation exercise of the
financial instruments on a case-by-case basis. Valuation techniques would be used
to determine the fair value of the Group’s level 3 instruments. External valuation
experts will be involved when necessary.

The valuation of the level 3 instruments mainly included redeemable convertible
preferred shares (Note 28), investment in structured deposits (Note 18), investment
in fund management products (Note 18) and unlisted equity investment (Note 18).
As these instruments are not traded in an active market, their fair values have been
determined by using various applicable valuation techniques, including discounted
cash flow model and market approach etc.

If the fair values of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held by
the Group had been 10% higher/lower, loss before income tax for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2024 would have been approximately RMB104,329,000 and
RMB113,540,000 lower/higher.

The following table presents the (higher)/lower of the loss before income tax for the
year ended 31 March 2023, if the Company’s equity value had increased/decreased
by 10% which leads to the fair value changes of preferred shares:

3

3.3

(a)
(i)

<& i B 2 (4)
A FCIR{E fE R ()
B FEFINERY R E B A 1 ()

EBELL EEFAOEGERTREXGAZE
KRB tE

A ERE BRI P A HH BT
EEANMGE - ZERE—ERHEBERMT
BT o B AKERITE R AR MR
TENAARE - RUEHHEERINDEE
%

FEIRT AR HETE B AR & B A #ER @ i
(M15E28) ~ MERBIEERAIE (MiE18) ~ IR
B EEm IR E (M FE18) FN3E L AR & (=
18) - HRELTAREERENERS  EAA
ERBAFERAZEERNGERN(BIEMER

SREBE R TIHES)ETE °

WEAEEFENEAABETABENS A
BEMAEEEMHA10% - BIEZ=2023
F%2024F3 8318 IEFERIBRFTS T ATE B
1R 12 I E9 AR #5104,329,0007T A R
113,540,0007% °

TREFME AR B R BREEEE N B
0% EHBEBANRABEES - AEE2023F
3A31 A LLFEAE (B N), R A9 B P 15 B AT S

8

Year ended
31 March 2023
B 220234
SANBLEFE
RMB’000
AREETIT
% changes of the Company’s equity value AREMREEEES DL
Increased by 10% HAN10% (929,575)
Decreased by 10% W A10% 929,059
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3
(a) Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued) (a)
(iii) — Valuation techniques and significant inputs used to determine fair values and (i)

valuation process (Continuea)

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant
unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements:

< i B 2 (4)
A FIR{E fE R ()
2 72 RE SRR £ AU & B A 1R (1)

EERL BB ERTREABGAZE
KU RN EHE ()

TREGLE WEIR AL EES B AEATT
B ABBOTEER -

Fair value Range of inputs Relationship of
DREE A BABBHEE .
Significant unobservable inputs to
unobservable inputs fair value
Description As at 31 March EXFTER As at 31 March FAEREANE
fiisdk #3A31R BARE #W3A3AH HAR EESEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023F 202445 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TR ARETT
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
BRORBEHARRE
efEE
— Investment in structured 828,254 1,015,410  Expected rate of return 1.2% ~ 3.5% 1.3% ~3.5%  The higher the expected rate of
deposit TEHA B return, the higher the fair value
-REBUERORE BHERESS
ARBEEES
— Investment in fund 301,726 - Expected rate of return 1.5% N/A The higher the expected rate of
management products TEHA B N@EA  return, the higher the fair value
-RESEEEMIIRE BHERESS
ARBEEES
— Unlisted equity investment 5,420 27,881  Expected Volatility 46.8% 49.4%  The higher the expected volatility,
- ETmRERE LSRR the higher the fair valug
LIRS N
ARBEEES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 SRuEEERE
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 oREEMEE)
(a)  Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued) (a) EARBEEIIENYLHETERE R (IF)
(ii})  Valuation techniques and significant inputs used to determine fair values and (i)  BEERREBEAAGERNREABAEE
valuation process (Continued) KR A E 7R ()
Fair value Range of inputs L
Relationship of
ARME - BABENEE Sanonsi o
Significant unobservable inputs to
unobservable inputs fair value
Description As at 31 March EXFTER As at 31 March FAEREANE
fisdk #3A31R BANE #®3A31H BAR EEDEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 223 20245 2023F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEBTRE ARETR
Business enterprise 1.1 8.7 The higher the multiple, the
value/sales multiple higher the fair value
==V fEEE - An
HERE EBEYRE
Discount for lack 21% 20%  The higher the lack of liquidity
of marketability discount rate, the lower the
(“DLOM") fair value
Rz g et HZ REMERLR X
rE(RZme HE - AnEE
RENETE ) HUE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 SRuEEERE)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 LORMEEMEGE)
(a)  Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value (Continued) (a) BRAIREEIIFRHLBEERA R
(i) Valuation techniques and significant inputs used to determine fair values and (i)  BEERREBEAFNGERNREABAZE
valuation process (Continued) KR A E 7R ()
Fair value Range of inputs
AFEE  Significant BABIEREEE Relationship of
As at unobservable As at unobservable inputs to
Description 31 March 2023 inputs 31 March 2023 fair value
R2023F EXFEE #2023 FRIEREA RS E
s 3A31H ®WA®E 3A31A AREERMRE
RMB'000
ARETTT
— Redeemable convertible preferred shares (9,408,379)  Discount rate 15.0%  The higher the discount rate, the
— A fE AT AR S R AhIR K lower the fair value
BRI RS -
AR EEEE
Risk-free interest rate 4.6% The higher the risk-free rate, the
R fe ) lower the fair value
mERAF RS
AR EEBE
DLOM 1.5% The higher the DLOM, the lower
Bz mismaEnt the fair value
frag Bz i mEn TR
e AR EEBE
Volatility 45.9%  The higher the expected
BEIES volatility, the higher the fair
value
TEER BN
AREEES
(b)  Financial instruments carried at other than fair value (b) HLFEAZBETIEGEHBTR

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets including cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, term deposits, trade receivables and other receivables
and the Group’s financial liabilities, including trade payables, other payables and

accruals approximate to their fair values due to their short maturities.

AEELREE(BRERAEMNAZEEY X
RERE - ERFH

WHRIB) AR A EES BB E(BREEZENK

B 5 U IE R H A

B~ BAENFIARERE R NREER D
HRBEmEE AR EERS -

ZE - =F /2T F FERSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

(a)

(b)

182 Beisen Holding Limited

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates
which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs
to exercise judgement in applying the “Group’s” accounting policies.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below.

Fair value of redeemable convertible preferred shares

The redeemable convertible preferred shares issued by the Company are not traded
in an active market and the respective fair value is determined by using valuation
techniques. Management have used the discounted cash flow method to determine
the underlying equity value of the Company and adopted equity allocation model to
determine the fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred shares.

Details of the valuation models, key assumptions and inputs are disclosed in Note
28.

Recognition of share-based payments expenses

As mentioned in Note 24, the Group has granted share options to its employees.
Management have used the Binomial option-pricing model to determine the total
fair value of the options granted to employees, which is to be expensed over the
vesting period. Significant estimate on assumptions, such as the underlying equity
value, risk-free interest rate, expected volatility and dividend yield, is required to be
made by management in applying the Binomial option-pricing model.

Management estimate the expected yearly percentage of grantees that will stay
within the Group at the end of the vesting periods of the share options (the
‘Expected Retention Rate”) in order to determine the amount of share-
based payments expenses charged to the consolidated income statement. The
Expected Retention Rate is estimated based on historical pattern of retentions and
management’s best estimates.
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(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

(a)

Segment information 5

The Group’s business activities are mainly in providing cloud-based HCM
solutions and related professional services, for which discrete financial information
is available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated by the CODM (Note 2.3).
As a result of this evaluation, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s operation is operated and managed as a single segment and no segment
information is presented, accordingly.

All of the Group’s revenues for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024 were
generated in the PRC.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, all of the Group’s long-lived assets are located in
the PRC.

Revenues from contracts with customers 6
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (a)

Revenue for all the years presented are as follows:

SEEHE
AREBOEBZE T 2 RIRHEEHHCMARRT]
ERAEEERY - AREEBOUEER - &
T ELERKE T HIEHN AT (E2.3) - M
RiZAHE  AAREERRAEENEEIAE
—DRMEEREIE - MWEEIDEER -

SR E 8L 220234 [ 20244F3 A31 A UL EHIFR
BRABEERTHE -

20234 220243 318 - AEEA) 25 & H
BEGMTE -

EREHlA
ERaSNAHES

R FERERBADNT

Year ended 31 March

BEIAMALERE
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARET T

Cloud-based HCM Solutions EHHCMARIR 5 28 632,227 537,259
Professional Services BERS 222,514 213,655
854,741 750,914

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of revenue
recognition is as follows:

RWAEREES DN EPAEBANT

Year ended 31 March

#EIANHLLEE
2024 2023
20244F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARET T

Recognised over time W B TR AR 738,432 635,247
Recognised at a point in time AR EBER 116,309 115,667
854,741 750,914
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

6  Revenues from contracts with customers (Continued) 6
(b)  Contract assets (b)

The Group records a contract asset when revenue recognised for professional
services performance obligations fulfilled over a period of time exceed the
contractual amount of billings for providing related professional services. And
contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables when the Group’s right to the
considerations becomes unconditional.

ERaHIA ()
anaE

AREER —BREHNEREEREETEBD
EHERBABBREHBABEXRRENFARSLH
THRRESANEE - ANEERNEEUE
HENEMNRREGRTSENOBREESHEW
A °

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Contract assets BHEE 3,223 2,436
Less: Allowance for contract assets W BHNEERME (198) (86)
Total contract assets BENEE 3,025 2,350
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
eV BRRHE (&)

(c)

Revenues from contracts with customers (Continued) 6 EFSHURAGE
Contract acquisition costs (c) BHIMERE
The Group has recognised an asset in relation to costs to acquire contracts. This REBESRSANRGEKAER—HEE ° R
is presented as contract acquisition costs in consolidated statements of financial FEMBARRARANZIRE HBUSEA
position.
Contract acquisition costs for initial contracts are amortised on a straight-line basis e E M E NESK AR A S B AHE
over a period of benefits that the Group estimated to be four years, while for the B—BXaBNREREEEN  MEYRNERE
renewal contracts, contract acquisition costs are amortised on a straight-ling basis MEH  HEYNBMBKRAREENEHERE
over the renewal contract terms, or expensed as incurred if the amortization period NIREREEEE - S AR 2 S (5 B i
is one year or less. The management expects the capitalised costs to be completely HMA—FAN) - BEREEE T2 EE
recovered and no impairment loss should be recognised since no losses are TEERA - BN HREMREEE - BRE
expected to be incurred for the related customer contracts when all the costs that AR RaNELERMEE(WEERE
relate to the fulfilment of the contract are taken into account. TEXRENP BRI E RIER) -
As at 31 March
#3A31AH
2024 2023
20245F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBTFT
Total contract acquisition costs A HEUSR AR 53,283 52,128
Less: amounts to be amortised within one year B B —FAEHEN SR (23,567) (20,913)
Contract acquisition costs — non-current A KBS AR — FERNHR 29,716 31,215
The following table shows the changes of contract acquisition costs balances: TRESE KBS ANRBHEE)
Year ended 31 March
B EIANALEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARBTFT
Asset recognised from costs incurred to ME DGR A ERNEE
obtain a contract 25,471 29,012
Amortization recognised as selling and RE AR HRTE K
marketing expenses related to services or products EmiAREHEE k2 HR
during the year B i (24,316) (18,043)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

6  Revenues from contracts with customers (Continued) 6
(d) Contract liabilities (d)

During all the years presented, the additions to the contract liabilities were
primarily due to cash collections in advance of fulfilling performance obligations,
while the reductions to the contract liability balance were primarily due to the
recognition of revenues upon fulfilment of performance obligations.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised during all the years
presented is included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of each period:

ER S A (1)
anAR
RATRABER & K8 15 I0E B mRER

WENETTRHOZEBHNERS - MANAERTR
DERBNEITEORHRERLA -

TRINREAZRINENWAENRIRAEE
ERERHWA S -

Year ended 31 March

BEIAMALERE
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract REIFEAB KB ERTEN

liabilities balance at the beginning of the year EHERBA

404,130 398,407

The amount of contract liabilities expected to be recognised as income after more
than one year is RMB55,202,000 (FY2023: RMB30,055,000). All of the other
contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income within one year.

BARNEBEE - FRERRBPANSHNEES
R ARES55,202,0007T (202381 55« AR
30,055,0007T) ° PR E A DB ETRF R —4F
MFER A °

7  Other income 7 HfulkA

Year ended 31 March

H$E3AHILLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AREETIT
Value added tax (“VAT") refund (a) HETIRE ) 42,389 32,082
Government grants B 27,501 3,707
Additional deductible input tax B E R AETER NFTH0RR 406 1,264
Others HA 356 352
70,652 37,405

(a) According to the VAT tax regulations in the PRC, the applicable VAT tax rate for sales of (a)
computer software is 13% during the years presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

eV BRRHE (&)

8 Other gains, net

8 HkRPH

Year ended 31 March

HEIAJHILEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETIT
Net fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through ~ #E R R BEFABRNESREE
profit or loss (Note 18) Z A EEWEFEFTE18) 7,562 40,534
Net gains/(losses) on disposal of property, plant HEME - BENMEEZ
and equipment Wezs,/ (B518) %58 114 (119)
Net foreign exchange losses HNIE B5 18 58 (3,319) (623)
Others HAth (2,347) (2,055)
2,010 37,737
= = =
9 Loss before income tax 9 FRETRIAIESIR
7B T34 Dk e 42 A N4 W= .
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging: FRPTIS BRI IR AR A T B IRIR IS -
(a) Staff costs () RIEF
Year ended 31 March
HEIAJHILLEE
2024 2023
20245F 20234F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFT
Wages, salaries and bonuses TE  #HekiEA 640,072 705,202
Pension cost-defined contribution plans BIKREKA — AT HRETE 60,702 59,271
Share-based payments (Note 24) VARG A7 A B R Ay 5 B (B 7E24) 292,380 57,075
Housing benefits FEEF 46,972 49,698
Other social security costs H it @ REMR 35,963 36,163
Other employee welfare Ef i 8EH 32,295 32,665
1,108,384 940,074

—ECEFISR NS FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

9 Loss before income tax (Continued)

(b)  Other items

9 MBMERABR
(b) Eft

Year ended 31 March
H#FE3AALLEE

2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETTT

Depreciation and amortisation charge

(Notes 14, 15 and 16)

IrEREHEFS

(PFfFX14 - 155%216)

— property, plant and equipment —W% - BB REE 26,593 23,821
— right-of-use assets —FREEE 31,793 38,432
— intangible assets —EREE 176 92
58,562 62,345
Technical service fees FAT AR & 35,636 37,69
Marketing expenses IR 15,588 24,99
Auditors’ remuneration ZEREMEN &
— Audit services —ZER 2,600 2,500
— Non-audit services — IEZEUR - 488
2,600 2,988
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
eV BRRHE (&)

10
(a)

(b)

Individuals with highest emoluments 10 EEFMAL
Five highest paid individuals (a) hBESHFHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for each EHZE2023F NM2024F3ANHIEFERF - A&
of the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, include 2 and 3 directors whose EHFMEesn AR ATHRARIeE2E RIEE
emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 32. The emoluments paid E o BEOH NN 32T R DT o
to the remaining 3 and 2 individuals for each of the years ended 31 March 2023 HZE2023F N2024F3 AN H I FEKFE » BN
and 2024 are as follows: BT3B M2 AT E BN T -
Year ended 31 March
B$FEIAHILLEE
2024 2023
20245F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETTT
Share-based payment expenses LARRAD BRI RS 39,167 5,208
Wages and salaries TERES 2,580 3,892
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT 706 2,351
Pension cost-defined contribution plans RIRE AR — R EHRETE 128 183
Other social security costs H bt S{RIER A 84 122
Housing benefits FERES 96 117
Total Bt 42,761 11,873
The emoluments fell within the following bands: (h) FHEARMRLITER :
Year ended 31 March
B$FIAHILLEE
2024 2023
20245F 20234
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 (equivalent to 3,500,0017% 75 24,000,000/ 7T
approximately RMB3,172,925 to RMB3,626,200) (FHERHARE3172,9257T
= AR#3,626,2007T) - 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 (equivalent to 4,000,0017% 7T 24,500,000/ 7T
approximately RMB3,626,200 to RMB4,079,475) (FEE R4 A R ¥83,626,2007T
2= AR¥&4.079,4757T) = 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 (equivalent to 5,000,0017% 75 25,500,000/ 7T
approximately RMB4,532,750 to RMB4,986,025) (FEE R LKA R E4,532,7507T
2= AR #4,986,0257T) = 1
HK$15,000,001 to HK$15,500,000 (equivalent to approximately 15,000,001/ 7 215,500,000/ 7T
RMB13,598,250 to RMB14,051,525) (FEE R4 A K #13,598,2507T
2= AR¥14,051,5257T) 1 -
HK$30,000,001 to HK$30,500,000 (equivalent to approximately 30,000,001 7T 230,500,000,% 7T
RMB27,196,500 to RMB27,649,775) (FEE R LA R¥27,196,5007T
= ANR#27649,7757T) 1 -
2 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

11 Finance income, net 11 MBI RER

Year ended 31 March

HE3AJHILLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFIT
Finance income M®B&A 8469 . 7643
Finance costs HMEBRE
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBENF B (2,019) (3,072)
(2,019) (3,072)
Finance income, net MK A RE 6,450 4571
12 Income tax expense/(credit) 12 FrfsRBIZ (E%)
The income expense/(credit) of the Group are analyzed as follows: RNEBABHASEE) 2T
Year ended 31 March
H$E3AJHILLEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFTT
Current income tax BIHEARTIS Y - 43
Deferred income tax (Note 25) EIEFTS L (M 5E25) 14,474 (5,954)
Income tax expense/(credit) FiE RS (HEx) 14,474 (5,911)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

12

(a)

Income tax expense/(credit) (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s loss before income tax differs from the theoretical amount
that would arise using the tax rate of 25%, being the tax rate applicable to the

12 FAfRIRMAX (%) (1)

MERMEARIEHEAER Z W E25%:T
B REEZRPTSH BB ERIA R EE RS

major consolidated entities as follows: FEMZEREIOT ¢
Year ended 31 March
HEIASHLLFEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETIT
Loss before income tax FRET1STRRIES 1R 3,194,113 2,604,903
Taxation calculated at the statutory tax rate of BB A E R ER25%
25% in mainland China ZBIE (798,528) (651,226)
Tax effects of: AT BB T2
Effect of preferential tax rates BEHE 2 30,538 36,707
Effects of different tax rates in overseas jurisdictions RgINaEE ERN TR EL
2 704,613 569,554
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose PARIE B M AR 2 RS 16,919 10,973
Research and development expenses super-deduction I 2 B S R RE 4 (29,962) (35,356)
Tax effects of unused tax losses not recognised W ARERARBARIBEE
TRiss 2 90,894 63,676
Income not subject to tax BARBUWA - (239)
14,474 (5.911)

Cayman Islands

The Company is incorporated under the law of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to Cayman Islands income tax. As such, the operating
results reported by the Company, including the fair value change of redeemable
convertible preferred shares (Note 28), is not subject to any income tax.

—ECEFISR NS FERE

(a) PIRES

ARRRBEFASFHSEVEMKLASHEHS
RANEFTIEEHRRBER DR - BAMNFESE
EMEH - At AABMREMLERE
BREAELTEREERNAABEZS (T
28) + BIABMEMFTEH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

12

(b)

(c)

(d)

192 Beisen Holding Limited

Income tax expense/(credit) (Continued)
Hong Kong Income Tax

Hong Kong Income Tax rate is two-tiered profits tax regime, under which the tax
rate is 8.25% or assessable profits on the first HK$2 million and 16.5% or any
assessable profits in excess of HK$2 million. Hong Kong Income Tax was provided
for the assessable profit that was subject to Hong Kong Income Tax during all the
years presented.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its operations in PRC was
calculated at the tax rate of 25% or 15% for enterprises qualified as “High and
New Technology Enterprises” (“HNTE") on the assessable profits for all the years
presented, based on the existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof.

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the PRC that was effective from 2018 onwards, enterprises engaged
in research and development activities are entitled to claim 175% of their
research and development expenses so incurred as tax deductible expenses when
determining their assessable profits for that year (“Super Deduction”). According
to the relevant laws and regulations that was effective from 2022, the tax deductible
ratio was increased to 200%. The Group has made its best estimate for the Super
Deduction to be claimed for the Group’s entities in ascertaining their assessable
profits during all the years presented.

PRC Withholding Tax (“WHT”)

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT Law”), distribution of
profits earned by PRC companies since 1 January 2008 to foreign investors
is subject to withholding tax of 5% or 10%, depending on the country of
incorporation of the foreign investor, upon the distribution of profits to overseas-
incorporated immediate holding companies.

During all the years presented, the Group did not have any plan to require its PRC
subsidiaries to distribute their retained earnings and intended to retain them to
operate and expand the business in the PRC. Accordingly, no deferred income tax
liability on WHT was accrued as at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

13 Loss per share
(a) Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

13

(a)

BERER
EF

BRERERRAR RS ARHAEER AL
B BT E BB RETE

period.
Year ended 31 March
BEIANALLEE
2024 2023
20244 20235
Numerator: BF:
Loss for the year and attributable to owners of RREIHEA AELFEAEE
the Company (in RMB'000) (AR®ETIT) (3,208,587) (2,598,992)
Denominator: SE:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BT RRMET S
outstanding, basic (i) EK() 716,515,715 213,740,420
Basic net loss per share attributable to owners of AAEHEA AEEFRER
the Company (in RMB) B FE(ARET) (4.48) (12.16)

(i) The weighted average number of ordinary shares has been retrospectively adjusted for
the effect of the subdivision of each share in the Company’s issued and unissued share
capital with par value of US$0.0001 each into 10 shares of the corresponding class
with nominal value of US$0.00001 each (the “Share Subdivision”) pursuant to the
shareholders’ resolution passed on 23 March 2023, which was effective immediately
before the completion of the Global Offering on 13 April 2023.

(b) Diluted

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

As the Group incurred net losses for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, the
dilutive potential ordinary shares were not included in the calculation of dilutive
loss per share, as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly, dilutive loss
per share for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024 are the same as basic 10ss
per share of the respective periods.

—ECEFISR NS FERE

U]

(b)

EBEINE BB R IBEN20234F3 23 BB
BRREROR R 2 (B4R 20234 A13H 2 FRE & TR AT
) BARREETERBETRATEREE
0.00013E 7T 89 % AR 17 #7 40 45 10AX B AR E1 15.0.000013E 7T
MR AR R A ([ IR R 8 D O BE LB R E -

i

TR IR B T AR
WERE BWAT BRI EI SRR IE
FHHMHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

14 Property, plant and equipment 14 Y% BEREH

194 Beisen Holding Limited

Furniture
Electronic and office Leasehold
equipment equipment improvement Total
R R e

BT NS MEERE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Year ended 31 March 2023 B E2023F3ANHLEE
Opening net book amount FHUREFE 23,891 1813 9,086 34,790
Additions nNE 25,070 237 14118 39,425
Disposals L& (144) (57) - (201)
Depreciation charge WeEEHR (14,316) (741) (8,764) (23,821)
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 34,501 1,252 14,440 50,193

As at 31 March 2023 720235E3A31H

Cost R 78,342 4881 42,269 125,492
Accumulated depreciation REE (43,841) (3,629) (27,829) (75,299)
Net book amount BREFE 34,501 1,252 14,440 50,193

Year ended 31 March 2024 HE202453ANHILEE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 34,501 1,252 14,440 50,193
Additions NE 11,358 50 946 12,354
Disposals HE (122) (23) - (145)
Depreciation charge HEER (17,305) (544) (8,744) (26,593)
Closing net book amount FRIEREFE 28,432 735 6,642 35,809

As at 31 March 2024 72024538 31H

Cost AN 88,755 4,685 35,043 128,483
Accumulated depreciation REE (60,323) (3,950) (28,401) (92,674)
Net book amount BREFE 28,432 735 6,642 35,809
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

eV BRRHE (&)

14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment has been recognised as

14 3% - BB Bax 6 (1)

REBZWE - WE MREOTERRLD T

follows:
Year ended 31 March
HEIAJHILLEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT AREETTT
Cost of revenues 18,774 16,450
Research and development expenses 3,260 3,431
Selling and marketing expenses SHE REHAY 2,903 2,916
General and administrative expenses —mRITHFS 1,656 1,024
26,593 23,821
15 Intangible assets 15 \|LEE
Software
B4
RMB’000
AREETIT
Year ended 31 March 2023 B E2023F3ANALEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 411
Additions NE 274
Disposals L (1)
Amortization charge BB R (92)
Closing net book amount FRIEEFE 592
As at 31 March 2023 720235£3A31H
Cost PR AR 2,252
Accumulated amortization R 3] (1,660)
Net book amount BREFE 592
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE2024F3A3MHLEE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 592
Additions NE 764
Amortization charge BIHE A (176)
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 1,180
As at 31 March 2024 72024E3R31H
Cost DN 3,016
Accumulated amortization REtEE (1,836)
Net book amount BRESE 1,180

—ECEFISR NS FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

15 Intangible assets (Continued) 15 | EE (18)
Amortization of the Group's intangible assets was recognised as follows: REE B EESHERNT
Year ended 31 March
BEIANALLEE
2024 2023
20245F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARBFIT
General and administrative expenses —MERATE R 49 47
Selling and marketing expenses HE REHERX 27 27
Cost of revenues SHE KA 100 18
176 92
16 Leases 16 #HE
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statements of financial (a) RFSMBRAREIPRE

position

The consolidated statements of financial position show the following amounts

relating to leases:

FEMBIRARBETRATRIAEEEEH

As at 31 March

#3A31H

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT

Right-of-use assets EHEEE
— Office —WRE 25,293 56,814

Lease liabilities HEAR

— Current — e 22,003 33,897
— Non-current —IERE 738 22,312
22,11 56,209

196 Beisen Holding Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

16 Leases (Continued) 16 #HE ()

(a)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statements of financial (a) HEFSMBERARMIZAHRIEAGE)
position (Continued)

The movement in right-of-use assets in the consolidated statements of financial ()  4AMIEARKROEBEEEZL SO
position are as follows:

Year ended 31 March

BEIAMALERE
2024 2023
20245 2023F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARET T

Cost [5%.3

At the beginning of the year REA] 117,025 144,010
Additions NE 4,083 27,347
Decreases A (11,981) (54,332)
Mtheendoftheyear o RER ] 09127 117,025
Accumulated depreciation Rith&

At the beginning of the year REF] (60,211) (65,570)
Depreciation charge for the year FRITEER (31,793) (38,432)
Decreases Vs 8,170 43,791
At the end of the year RER (83,834) (60,211)
Net book amount IRERE

At the end of the year AN 25,293 56,814
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

16 Leases (Continued)

(b)  Amounts recognised in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss

The consolidated statements of comprehensive loss show the following amounts
relating to leases:

16 HEER)

(b) REEZEBRERMEZHRA

FAEHBERBERATRERHNERR

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FTREEENEER
— Office —WRE 31,793 38,432
Interest expense (included in finance costs) (Note 11) F 2 F = GE AR ISR A)
(FftEE11) 2,019 3,072
Expense relating to short-term leases B HITHE AR
(included in short-term rental and utilities expenses) GItAEHEES RKESR) 7,801 10,398

The total cash outflow for leases for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024 were
approximately RMB40,811,000 and RMB43,560,000, respectively.

Interest element of the lease payment is presented as cash outflow from financing
activities for the year ended 31 March 2024. Comparative figures have been
adjusted to conform to current year's presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
eV BRRHE (&)

17 Financial instruments by category 17 BENEBSsHEMIR

As at 31 March

»3A31H
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETIT
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: BBIERKATTENSREE ¢
— Trade receivables (Note 19) — B S EWEIE (F15E19) 31,161 22,593
— Other receivables — R IR 12,352 14,465
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) —Re kRS EEBY(FFE21) 234,101 408,709
— Term deposits (Note 21) — EHAFE R (FF5E21) 350,756 186,818
— Restricted cash (Note 21) — ZREIER L (HEE21) 1,082 1,205
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss EBEAnBEFAEENSREE 1,135,400 1,043,291
1,764,852 1,677,081
Financial liabilities SMAR
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REE AT ENEmAE
— Trade payables (Note 26) — B S PS50 (M 3E26) 2,564 6,766
— Other payables and accruals (excluding salary and — HEM R E R ERE A
welfare payable, accrual for other taxes) (MREENF e REN
FESHE th 75 1H) 13,741 31,261
Lease liabilities HEAE 22,7M 56,209
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: BARBEFABENSHRAR
— Redeemable convertible preferred shares (Note 28) — A f& [0 A] 82 48 5 A% (T 728) - 9,408,379
30,046 9,502,615

—ECEFISR NS FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

18 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 18 ROAREHABRZHEMNETE

(a) Classification of financial assets at fair value through profitorloss  (a) RARBEFAAESHENFTESE
The Group classifies the following financial assets at fair value through profit or SEBUATRAREBEAAEGNEHEE
loss: D

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Current assets MEEE
— Wealth management products —BiEm
— Structured deposits —EBHTR 828,254 1,015,410
— Fund management products (i) —HESEEEMR() 301,726 -
Non-current asset ERBEE
— Unlisted equity investment —IE ETRIEIRE 5,420 27,881
1,135,400 1,043,291
(i) As at 31 March 2024, the Group had held certain investments in fund (i) R2024F3A31H - AEBERFAESHSRIA

management products issued by private funds established in Cayman Islands
with principal and accrued interest in total amounted to US42,527,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB 301,726,000).

Up to the date of issuance of these financial statements, carrying values of such
fund management products amounted to RMB174,427,000 and RMB117,449,000
have been recovered by the Group through redemption from the issuers and
disposal to third parties at considerations approximate to their carrying values
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

18 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 18 BARRERARSHH R[S E (I8)

(Continued)

(b) REEZEGRERMEZHRIA

(b)  Amounts recognised in consolidated statements of comprehensive

loss

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, the following gains were
recognised in consolidated statements of comprehensive l0ss:

B E 20235 2202453 A31 B IEFEHIMA - LA
T AR RA R HERRER

Year ended 31 March

HEIASHLLFEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
Fair value gains of financial assets at fair value REAM KSR AR EE
through profit or loss recognised in other gains FFABENSREER
N BEREZE 7,562 40,534
19 Trade receivables 19 HHEKRIE
As at 31 March
®3A31RH
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT
Trade receivables from contracts with customers RERFAELONE ZEWIE 36,330 26,370
Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables B B SRR E R (5,169) (3,777)
31,161 22,593
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

19 Trade receivables (Continued)
(@) The credit terms given to trade customers are determined on an individual basis.

The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

19

(a)

¥ 7 FE W 7R 0R (49)
“TESESOEERERARNLEET -

EREZHBNE S RYRIBBNRER D40
™

As at 31 March

"3A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFIT
—Up to 6 months — B iE6(E A 29,741 18,582
— 6 months to 1 year —6EAE1F 2,749 3,220
—1-2years —1&22% 1,918 3,902
— Over 2 years —2F LAk 1,922 666
36,330 26,370

The Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires the
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the assets. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

20 Other receivables and prepayments

20 HAEKHRARRFMTRIT

As at 31 March

"3A31H
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREETIT
Non-current: JERE :
Rental and other deposits HeREMES 1,740 12,947
Prepayment for purchase of intangible assets BEEFEENTENR 200 -
Subtotal M 190 12.947_
Current: EE
Prepaid services and goods R RERE 15,465 8,418
Rental and other deposits HeREMES 10,532 1,580
Others Hith 2,868 4193
Sub-total U\ 28,865 14191
Total et 30,805 27,138
Less: allowance for impairment of other receivables R B UG R (B (173) (195)
Net book amount RESRE 30,632 26,943
21 Cash and cash equivalents 21 BeRBeERD
As at 31 March
"3A31H
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFIT
Cash at bank and in hand (a) RITRFEIF () 585,939 596,732
Less: Term deposits B EETER (350,756) (186,818)
Restricted cash (b) 2[R HII3R £ (b) (1,082) (1,205)
Cash and cash equivalents BeKREeEEY 234,101 408,709

—ECEFISR NS FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

21 Cash and cash equivalents (Continued) 21 BakR&EFEY(E)

(@) Asat 31 March 2023 and 2024, cash at bank and in hand of the Group were  (a) #2023 20243 A31H - AEEAETRF
denominated in the following currencies: S SIRA T EREHE

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

RMB AR 549,870 357,735
usb ET 32,870 191,308
HKD BT 3,199 47,689

585,939 596,732

(b)  Cash that is restricted as to withdrawal for use or pledged as security is reported (b)) S PRATRHUIR(E A skt SR VER IR O IR & 4R
separately on the face of the consolidated statements of financial position and is AHMBRAKRBILZS - B ALKER S
not included in the total cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statements mEXRNRE RESEEMERA
of cash flows:

As at 31 March

®3A31H
2024 2023
20244F 20234F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Guarantee deposits ERiZE 1,082 1,205
As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, the carrying amounts of the restricted cash are 72023F 20243 A31H - ZRHIRESHERE
denominated in RMB. BIRAREGHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

eV BRRHE (&)

22 Share capital and share premium

22 BERBEHER

Nominal value of
ordinary shares
(With par value of

Number of US$0.00001
ordinary shares each (a))
YEREE
(SEEEE
®EAZRE  0.00001%5T(a))
UsD000
FET
Authorised: EE -
As at 31 March 2022 202243 A31H 452,124 515 45
As at 31 March 2023 720233 A31H 452,124,515 45
Effect of Share Subdivision (a) &N TFARI 22 (a) 4,069,120,635 -
Conversion of preferred shares to ordinary shares (b) 18 Jc AREEH A 3 E@A%(b) 478,754,850
As at 31 March 2024 MR2024E3 A31H 5,000,000,000 50
Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value value
ordinary  of ordinary  of ordinary Share
shares shares shares premium
BiE
EEEHE TEREE $FREE KROREE
UsSD000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FErT ARBTT ARETT
Issued: BT
As at 31 March 2022 202293 A31H 21,374,042 2 15 623,064
As at 31 March 2023 HA2023F3 8318 21,374,042 2 15 623,064
Effect of Share Subdivision (a) IR PR HHE) 522 (a) 192,366,378 - - -
Conversion of preferred shares to Bt A E @Ak (D)
ordinary shares (b) 469,750,850 5 32 12,206,083
Issuance of ordinary shares relating to HE R FHEEREN
initial public offering, net of underwriting TR EETT - HIREHE
commissions and other issuance costs (c) & K EMEETTR () 8,044,000 - 1 198,903
Issuance of shares under Pre-IPO share BB E IR AR E R AR E
option plan (d) FTEIEETTA 5 (d) 26,926,150 - 1 118,617
Cancellation of shares (g) FEEEAR 19 (6) (107,000) - = (420
As at 31 March 2024 720243 A31H 718,354,420 7 49 13,146,247

—ECEFISR NS FERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

22 Share capital and share premium (Continued)

(a) On 23 March 2023, the shareholders of the Company resolved the Share
Subdivision pursuant to which each of the issued and unissued shares with par
value of US$0.0001 each be subdivided into 10 shares of the corresponding
class with nominal value of US$0.00001 each, which was effective immediately

before the completion of the Global Offering on 13 April 2023.

(b) According to the terms and conditions of the redeemable convertible preferred
shares, each redeemable convertible preferred share should be automatically
converted into ordinary shares on a one-on-one basis upon the closing of
the initial public offering. All redeemable convertible preferred shares of the
Company were converted into ordinary shares immediately before the completion
of the Global Offering on 13 April 2023 accordingly. All newly issued ordinary
shares are ranked pari passu with the existing ordinary shares in all aspects.

(c) On 13 April 2023, the Company issued 8,044,000 ordinary shares for
HK$29.70 per share through initial public offering, which raised net proceeds
of approximately RMB199,479,000. The Company’s share capital and share
premium was increased by approximately US$80 (equivalent to RMB1,000) and
RMB198,903,000, being the gross proceeds net of share issuance costs. All
newly issued ordinary shares are ranked pari passu with the existing ordinary

shares in all aspects.

(d) During the year, options were exercised to subscribe for 26,926,150 ordinary
shares in the Company at a consideration of US$582,494 (equivalent to
approximately RMB4,152,000), of which US$269 (equivalent to approximately
RMB2,000) and US$582,225 (equivalent to approximately RMB4,150,000) were
credited to share capital and share premium, respectively. RMB114,467,000 was

transferred from the reserve to share premium.

(e) On 19 March 2024, 107,000 ordinary shares repurchased on 1 February 2024

were cancelled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
eV BRRHE (&)

23 Reserves 23 {#fW
Shares held Changes in
for restricted the fair value
Share-hased  share unit Currency  atiributable
Capital payment plan translation to credit risk Other
reserve  expenses (Note 24(h)) differences change reserves Total
SRR EERE
Dikirs  EfEd SN
Efn Rk A%EE  OARE
BFRE  ARET  (HEA(®) b 1] 20  HURH i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Asat 1 April 2002 RNRE4E1R (1180222) 262816 - mm (21,924) N YAl
Share-based payments (Note 24) IR AR
(Ffi5x24) = 57075 - - - - 57,075
Fair value changes on redeemable comvertible BN B B IEERRE T
preferred shares dug to own credit rsk BEERE G
NhEEE - - - - (2.10) - (210)
Currency translation differences ERBERE - - - (532.252) - - (532.259)
As at 31 March 2023 RABEIA3A (1,180222) 319,891 - (280,029) (24,034) - (1,164,394)
Asat 1 April 2023 RABELATR (1,180222) 319,891 - (280,029) (24,034) - (1,164,394)
Share-based payments (Note 24) ARG AERN
(Ffizx24) = 292,380 - - - - 292,380
Conversion of redemable convertible HEE AR
preferred shares to ordinary shares ERATRER - - - - 24,034 - 24034
Currency translation differences ERBERE - - - 27307 - - 27307
Issuance of shares under Pre-1PQ REERDAEERBER
share option plan CREEIO) - (114.466) - - - - (114.466)
Purchase of own shares B S 5Kk - - (8,354) - - (420) (8774)
Cancellation of shares izl gl - - - - - 420 420
As at 31 March 2024 HAUEIANE (1,180,222) 497,805 (8,354  (252,722) - - (043,493)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

24 Share-based payments

(a)

208 Beisen Holding Limited

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during
all the years presented were as follows:

24

LIt BERE TR

RETRAABFE » FERH ARG RERE K
RHEENFSERENT

Year ended 31 March

HEIAMHLLFERE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFIT
Share-based payments — ESOP (a) ARG AR BERER SR
—EEFRETE(a) 289,481 57,075
Share-based payments — RSU (b) ARG AR BERER SR
— PR #lI & 15 B L (b) 2,899 -
292,380 57,075

Share-based payments — ESOP

On 15 July 2019, the Company adopted the 2019 Share Incentive Plan (the “2019
Plan”), which permits the grant of options to the employees and directors of the
Company and its affiliates. The Maximum number of shares that may be issued
under the 2019 Plan shall be 6,693,252.

On 23 April 2020, the Company adopted the 2020 Share Incentive Plan (the “2020
Plan”, collectively with the 2019 Plan, “Employee Stock Ownership Plan”,
or “ESOP”), whereby the incentive share options granted to employees in 2019
Plan were replaced and superseded by the exact number of share options for each
grantee. There is no change of vesting schedule and other key terms of such award
agreements entered into with each grantee and the classification of share-based
awards immediately before and after the adoption of 2020 Plan. As at 31 March
2021, the maximum number of shares that may be issued under the 2020 Plan was
6,770,877 ordinary shares. This number was increased to 7,911,919 on 9 April
2021, and further increased to 7,972,883 on 26 September 2021 and 31 December
2021 (Collectively, the “Pre-IPO Share Option Plan”).

The options shall vest under service condition and the Company’s successful
IPO. The granted options have a contractual option term of five years or any
extended date determined by the Company’. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
eV BRRHE (&)

24 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a)

24 LIRz {7 BE VR (4F)

Share-based payments — ESOP (Continued) (a) BIRAESERERFTR — B R R (@)
In September 2021, the Company modified 2,658,086 share options granted upon 2021597 - AR RHEIR B & B 15 IRETE
ESOP with the grantees to reduce the number of options to 2,376,179 and exercise BT EE ARY2,658,08610 HE AR #E - 5 HE AR #E X
prices at the same time, and the modified share options were exercised early BB E2,376,1791p - W RRFEEITEE(E - (82K
upon initial listing of the Company’s shares. The resulting ordinary shares will be FERERENA R GIRD &R ETMRERBITT
transferred to trusts with the original option grantees as beneficiaries. The trusts ff - AtEENTRREEZET(EE  RER
will distribute the ordinary shares to those beneficiaries in installments based on BEERERIRA o FrtBIREBRERERZ
the vesting requirements under the original option agreements. Although these VHEBER - nHRZEXm AR EBR -
trust arrangements caused a madification of the terms of these share options (the REZSEETHESHEREGER G ((E
“Modification”), there’s no incremental fair value related to these ordinary shares W) BZELEBRNAABETREREAE
resulted from the modification, and the remaining share-based payments expense BRIIE AN - B E ISR A LARK (2 /2 E 8 89 T 505
for these ordinary shares continued to be recognised over the original remaining THEBTEFIROF AT BEANRER - ERZE
vesting period. Given that these options are still subject to the original service BREZBERRRBEERERXAAEES B K
and IPO vesting condition, they are not considered exercised from accounting - ZEERERSTAEME TSR AET
perspective. fi£
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has extended its estimated HZE2023F3ANBLEFE  ARRIERERE
date of a successful IPO and adjusted the cumulative expenses accordingly in RINETER A AREENEET B - WiEER
the current period, resulting in a reversal of expenses that have previously been BARHARMREHY - BRI R &
charged. [ o
Movements in the number of share options granted to employees under ESOP and ETREEFRFE TEENBRESEZH K
their related weighted average exercise prices are as below: ErEEE NI TEENT ¢
Year ended 31 March
HEAMALEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
Average Average
exercise price EXEICise price
per share Number of per share Number of
option options option options
BinMKkE BERE
FHTER WERE®E TO900E  BERERE
UsD ’000 usb 000
E Fn e T
At the beginning of the period ) 1.23 7,188 1.96 4322
Granted during the period HNET - - 051 3,698
Exercised during the period BT 0.02 (26,122) - -
Forfeited during the period B2l 0.16 (4,068) 354 (232)
Eifect of share subdivision (i) BRI FANZE() - 70,085 - -
Atthe end of the year RER 0.09 47,683 1.23 7,788
(i) It represented the fair values of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of the (i) EREBEROFENOTEETHERNTBR
Share Subdivision. ARfEE-
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REMBHRERME (&)

24 Share-hased payments (Continued) 24 LIB{inHERA TR (18)

(a) Share-based payments — ESOP (Continued) (a) BIRASERER TR — B R RI (1)
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry date and FERBAITER B E W B B RITERER
exercise prices: I

Number of share options

FREx s E

31 March 31 March

Expiry date Exercise price (i) 2024 (i) 2023

20245 2023F

Grant date & B H [ v B 28 1THEME() 3A31H(i) 3H31H

(USD) ’000 ‘000

(1) TFin F1n

1 October 2019 2019F10A3 1R 5 years 0.011-0.192 9,322 3388
5%

1 January 2020 202061 A1H 5 years 0.192 150 15
5%

1 April 2020 20206F4 A1H 5 years 0.192 1,125 204
5%

1 July 2020 20206F7 A1H 5 years 0.192 60 6
5%

1 October 2020 2020F10A1H 5 years 0.192 310 35
5%

1 January 2021 20211 B1H 5 years 0.192 315 40
5%

1 April 2021 2021947318 5 years 0.487 2,604 410
5%

12 July 2021 202147 A128 5 years 0.487 100 11
5%

19 August 2021 202198 A19H 5 years 0.487 - 2
5

2 September 2021 20214F9 A 2H 5 years 0.487 106 11
5%

13 October 2021 20214E10 5131 5 years 0.487 40 8
5%

21 October 2021 20214E10 821 H 5 years 0.487 - 4
5%

11 November 2021 202111 11 H 5 years 0.487 - 2
5%

16 December 2021 2021412 5165 5 years 0.487 30 B
5%
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REMBHRRME (&)

24 Share-based payments (Continued) 24 LIBn B ERA TR (18)

(a) Share-based payments — ESOP (Continued) (a) BIRAESERERFTR — B R R (@)

Number of share options

RERERE

31 March 31 March

Expiry date Exercise price (i) 2024 (i) 2023

20245 2023F

Grant date i B W B B TTEE() 3A31H(i) 38318

(USD) ’000 000

(Z=7T) TFin F1n

30 December 2021 2021412 4308 5 years 0.00001 144 14
56

29 January 2022 2022461 A 29H 5 years 0.487 45 8
56

14 February 2022 2022472 A14H 5 years 0.487 40 13
5%

14 March 2022 202273 A14H 5 years 0.487 20 2
5%

1 April 2022 2022F4 B8 5 years 0.487 2,879 330
5%

18 April 2022 20224 5188 5 years 0.487 43 7
5%

13 June 2022 20226 H13H 5 years 0.487 - 4
5%

11 August 2022 20228 H11H 5 years 0.487 50 12
5

7 November 2022 202211 A7H 5 years 0.487 60 6
5%

1 March 2023 20233 H1H 5 years 0.00001 30,240 3,308
5%

Total &1 47,683 7,788

(i) It represented the fair values of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of the (i) ERERMDIFANZEETHABREN T BRK

Share Subdivision.

Fair value of share options

Management have used the discounted cash flow method to determine the
underlying equity fair value of the Company and adopted equity allocation model to
determine the fair value of the underlying ordinary share. Key assumptions, such as
discount rate and projections of future performance, are required to be determined

by management with best estimate.

DRfEE -
BRiE 2 fRE

EEEDRARSREMIVEEEA R AR
MRS AAEE  URAEaEEAEER
AL ERNAREE - MIRERFERRKRETRR

FXRRBFEEBLREMGERE
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e MR MEE (8

24 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a) Share-based payments — ESOP (Continued)

Based on fair value of the underlying ordinary share, management have used
Binomial option-pricing model to determine the fair value of the share option as at

the grant date. Key assumptions are set as below:

24 LIRin®ERER 3K (1)
(a) LARR A% MUEASfak — 08 R F5A A B (1)
REEMTRRNAAEE EREREMA=

AR EERLEEBRENKL BHNQ
REE - TERREIINT :

Year ended

31 March 2023

B 220234

SANHIEFE

Fair value of ordinary shares (USD) TR EEGET) 5.30-27.46
Contractual terms (in years) B HERARERT) 5
Risk-free interest rate e [ P | 2R 2.6%—4.4%
Expected volatility TEERR B R 41.1%-44.1%
Exercise multiple 1TEREE 2.2
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B e R -
Post-vesting forfeiture rate SRBRISWE 3.0%

(b) Share-based payment - RSU

On 31 December 2021, the Company adopted a restricted share unit plan (the “RSU
Plan”), under which, the maximum number of shares that may be issued under
the RSU Plan is 6% of the issued share capital of the Company as of the date of

approval of the RSU Plan.

The Award shall vest in four years subject to fulfilment of the KPI of each year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e MR MEE (8

24 Share-based payments (Continued) 24 LIBn B ERA TR (18)

(b) Share-based payment — RSU (b) BIBnHERERFTR — SEPRHIRL {7 B AL
Movements in the number of RSUs granted to the Company’s employees under BEZBHRDEBEMFEIRTARGEENT
the RSU Scheme and the respective weighted average grant date fair value are as REIRMDBEGHEREBNMETARTAR
below: AEBEHZSAT

Year ended

31 March 2024

#HE20245F

3AALERE

Number of RSUs

3% PR 5 B R

EM®AE

’000

T3

At the beginning of the period HRERY] =

Granted during the period BT 1,440
Forfeited during the period BRI (20)

At the end of the period RER 1,420
The fair value of each RSU was determined by reference to the market price of the BHZBHIRG BN RA R BEHSRBIEER

Company’s shares at the respective grant date. Weighted average grant date fair

value per RSU was HK$7.71 during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The share-based compensation expenses of RMB 2,899,000 were recognized in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March

2024.

FEARBIRMDATIHERET - i E20245F3
A3BIEFE - &5 R HI8D BEALAY NHEF
HRTEAARBEARIINVET

BZE2024F3 H31 H IEFE RS 2R RE
BT AR #2,899,0007T ) LA B 19 7 ZE 16 6 it B
B
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e MR MEE (8

25 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities

(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

(i)  Movements of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities

Movements in deferred income tax assets are as follows:

25 REFMSMBERAR

(a) CHREERHRBERAR

() BEREEIERARSHRBIEH

BIEFTSTHEENZEZMT

Allowance
for doubtful Lease
accounts  Tax losses liabilities Total
R AR fE RIEEE HEAR/ a%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT AREFTT ARETT ARBTT
As at 1 April 2022 K224 /818 - 23,816 11,766 35,582
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss gz EL, (HBR) 245 10,045 (3,244) 7,046
As at 31 March 2023 120233 A31H 245 33,861 8,522 42,628
As at 1 April 2023 R2023F4A1H 245 33,861 8,522 42,628
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss PiEzF e, (NK) 456 (17,813) (5,111) (22,468)
As at 31 March 2024 20243 A31H 701 16,048 3,411 20,160

214 Beisen Holding Limited  Annual Report 2023/2024
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e MR MEE (8

25 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities (Continued)

(a)
(i)

(ii)

Deferred tax assets and liahilities recognised (Continued)

Movements of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities

(Continued)

Movements in deferred income tax liabilities are as follows:

25 REFFMBERRARKRG

(a) CEHREERHFIERARGK)

(i) EBEREEIERAKRESHRBSEE (1)

BIEFTSTHBENZEZHMT

Change in

Right-of-use fair value
assets gain or loss
KREE

EFRAREE R

RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETTT AR®BTT

Contract

acquisition
costs Total

EHmE
2% 3 et

RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT

As at 1 April 2022 20224 A1H (11,766) (3,313) (7,315) (22,394)
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss Bz e, (GNER) 3,244 (1,967) (2,369) (1,092)
As at 31 March 2023 FA202343 A31 8 (8,522) (5,280) (9,684) (23,486)
As at 1 April 2023 R202354 818 (8,522) (5,280) (9,684)  (23,486)
Credited to profit or loss RigzmHhiEe 4,728 3,132 134 7,994
As at 31 March 2024 720243 A31H (3,794) (2,148) (9,550) (15,492)

Reconciliations to the consolidated statements of financial position

(i) #wEHMBRAZEE

As at 31 March

®3A31RH
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFTT
Deferred tax assets FEFRTEE B 20,160 42,628
Deferred tax liabilities BELEBHIEAE (15,492) (23,486)
4,668 19,142

ZE - =F /2T F FERSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

25
(a)
(ii)

(b)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities (Continued)

25 REFFMBEERRARKRG)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (Continued) (a) ECHEZEERNRIERE R
The net movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows: (i) EIEFFISIRARERBEEIMT -
Year ended 31 March
HBEIAIHILFE
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETIT
At the beginning of the year REH] 19,142 13,188
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (Note 12) PBzE k), e (B EE12) (14,474) 5,954
At the end of the year RER 4,668 19,142
Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) KRMEREBERRAE

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.16, the Group has
not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of unused tax losses arising
from certain subsidiaries of the Group of RMB2,314,320,000 (31 March 2023:
RMB1,626,323,000) as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which
the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.
The remaining unused tax losses on 31 March 2024 will expire on or before 31
December 2034.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

eV BRRHE (&)

26 Trade payables

26 HHEFFREA

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR

T ARET T

Trade payables

BB EN IR

2,564 6,766

The aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

BIRNFRENER ARNRESNAT ¢

As at 31 March

#®3A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFT
Up to 6 months N iEBA61E A 2,564 6,766
27 Other payables and accruals 27 HEMREREER
As at 31 March
#3A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFT
Salary and welfare payable e F & REF| 154,193 184,187
Accrual for other taxes FEETE AT I 42,145 41,216
Accrued service and goods RIS RERE 8,029 24,909
Accrued staff reimbursement JEET 8 TR 3,565 3,377
Personal tax refunds payable FEHEARTL 1,601 1,901
Accrued listing expenses FEET ETRRI 16 191
Others Hi 530 883
210,079 256,664
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRERME (&)

28 Redeemable convertible preferred shares

(a)

(b)

218 Beisen Holding Limited

Issuance Series A to E-2 Redeemabhle Convertible Preferred
Shares

From September 2018 to June 2020, the Company issued 5,051,552 Series A
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (“Series A Preferred Shares”),
8,985,728 Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (“Series B
Preferred Shares”), 2,120,830 Series B-1 Redeemable Convertible Preferred
Shares (“Series B-1 Preferred Shares”), 7,291,583 Series C Redeemable
Convertible Preferred Shares (“Series C Preferred Shares”), 6,173,503 Series
D Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (“Series D Preferred Shares”),
5,024,659 Series E-1 Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (“Series E-1
Preferred Shares”) and 2,556,936 Series E-2 Redeemable Convertible Preferred
Shares (“Series E-2 Preferred Shares”), (collectively with Series E-1 Preferred
Shares, “Series E Preferred Shares”).

Issuance of Series F Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares

On 9 April 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with SVF Il Cortex Subco
(DE) LLC, Mercer Investments (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., Bargate Investment Holdings
One Limited, Fidelity China Special Situations PLC, Fidelity Funds, Fidelity
Investments Funds, Space Trek L.P., MATRIX PARTNERS CHINA V HONG KONG
LIMITED, GC HCM (BVI) Limited, GC HCM Holdings Limited, SCC Growth VI
Holdco E, Ltd. and SCGC Capital Holding Company Limited, and issued 4,104,113;
1,231,234; 1,231,234; 663,808; 552,070; 15,356; 820,823; 410,411; 328,329;
205,206; 697,699 and 410,411 Series F Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares
(“Series F Preferred Shares”) for cash consideration of US$100 million,
US$30 million, US$30 million, US$16.2 million, US$13.5 million, US$0.4 million,
US$20 million, US$10 million, US$8 million, US$5 million, US$17 million and
US$10 million respectively.
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QEEEEE 32
SETAZEE-21R 7] R [0 T 4944 2 S B

B2018F9 A 2202096 H + A2 A134775,051,552
B AsR A] 5 Bl AT B R AR (AR B SE R ) -
8,985,728% B AJ fE (2] A #5442 (8 S0 A% ([ BER B 5
B% ) ~ 2,120,830/%B-1%5 A BE (3] 7] 85 2 48 45 I%
([B-18R AR |) - 7,291 58305 Cém nJ & [0 o] #4448
S (TCERESERR ) - 6,173,503% D o] & (2] AT 82
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o] Ay & 48 ST % ([E- 18R B S BR |) 22,556,936 %
E-28R AJ 5 0] A] 824248 ST A% ([E-2 R B 5L BR ) (4%
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51T FaR ) BR[O T 5 4 1R S AR
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LLC ~ Mercer Investments (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. ~ Bargate
Investment Holdings One Limited ~ Fidelity China Special
Situations PLC - Fidelity Funds - Fidelity Investments
Funds * Space Trek LP. - EREFRRHRERE LS
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1628 &%  1358&%T  048&%T ~ 20
BEXT 10B&XET 8ESET SE&EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

28 Redeemable convertible preferred shares (Continued)

(c)

(i)

Share Repurchase Concurrently with Issuance of Series F
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares

Concurrently with the issuance of Series F Preferred Shares, 412,000, 366,300 and
122,100 Series D Preferred Shares were repurchased by the Company from three
Series D Preferred Shareholders respectively, and 100,642 and 140,000 Ordinary
Shares were repurchased by the Company from two Ordinary Shareholders
respectively at a consideration of US$21.9 per share. The Company derecognised
the carrying amount of relevant Series D Preferred Shares, whereby the difference
between the consideration and the fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred
shares, for RMB37,889,000, is recognised as share-based payment expenses.

The Series A, B, B-1, C, D, E-1, E-2 and F Preferred Shares are collectively referred
to as the “Preferred Shares”.

The key terms of the Preferred Shares upon issuance of Series F Preferred Shares
are summarised as follows:

Dividends rights

Prior and in preference to any declaration or payment of any dividend on the
Ordinary Shares, each holder of the Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive
dividends, out of any funds legally available therefor, the pro rata portion of the
dividend to be distributed in proportion to the shareholding percentage of such
holder in respect of Preferred Shares held by it (calculated on a fully-diluted and
as-converted basis) in all the then outstanding Shares of the Company. Such
dividends shall be payable and accrue when, as and if declared by the Board and
shall be cumulative.

No dividends shall be declared or paid on any Ordinary Shares during any
previous or current fiscal year of the Company until all accrued dividends shall
have been paid or declared and set apart during that fiscal year and unless and
until a dividend in like amount as is declared or paid on such Junior Share has
been declared or paid on each outstanding Preferred Shares (on an as-converted to
Ordinary Share basis).

ZE - =F /2T F FERSE
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(c)

(i)
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REMBHRERME (&)

28
(c)

(ii)

220 Beisen Holding Limited

Redeemable convertible preferred shares (Continued)

Share Repurchase Concurrently with Issuance of Series F
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (Continued)

Conversion of Preferred Shares

Each Preferred Share may, at the option of the Preferred Shareholders thereof, be
converted at any time into fully-paid and non-assessable Ordinary Shares based on
the then-effective Applicable Conversion Price.

In addition, each Preferred Share shall automatically be converted, based on the
then-effective Applicable Conversion Price, without any action being required by
the holder of such share and whether or not the certificates representing such share
are surrendered to the Company or its transfer agent, into Ordinary Shares upon
the closing of a qualified initial public offering (“Qualified IPQ").

The Applicable Conversion Price shall initially equal the Applicable Original Issue
Price, and each shall be adjusted from time to time due to: a) issuance of additional
ordinary shares without consideration or for a consideration per share received
by the Company that is less than they Applicable Conversion Price in effect on
the date of and immediately prior to such issue, b) share dividends, subdivisions,
combinations or consolidations of Ordinary Shares, c¢) Other distributions, d)
reclassification, exchange and substitution. For avoidance of doubt, the initial
conversion ratio for the Preferred Shares to Ordinary Shares shall be 1:1.

Immediately before the completion of the Global Offering on 13 April 2023, all
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares were converted into ordinary shares on a
one-for-one basis. The fair value of each of redeemable convertible preferred share
on the conversion date is the offer price in the Global Offering. The differences of
the fair value related to the Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares between 31
March 2023 and the date of the conversion were then recognized in the profit or
loss for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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28 Redeemable convertible preferred shares (Continued) 28

(c) Share Repurchase Concurrently with Issuance of Series F (c)
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Shares (Continued)

(ii)  Conversion of Preferred Shares (i)

The movement of the redeemable convertible preferred shares is set out as below:

] R [0 ] 45 4% 12 5 AR (#19)

% 17 F i 7T R [0 ] 9388 132 5 B R e SEE 1T 9
B {7 R [ (#4%)

BmgEER

] O ] e R SE A O BN E DI AT

RMB’000
AREETIT
As at 1 April 2022 120224 A1H 6,610,924
Changes in fair value through profit or loss FABERAREEE 2,241,362
Changes in fair value through T A AL 2 EUESHY
other comprehensive income AR EEE 2,110
Foreign exchange adjustments PE H A 553,983
As at 31 March 2023 #20234E3 318 9,408,379
As at 1 April 2023 1R2023F4 518 9,408,379
Changes in fair value through profit or loss TABERNA R EEES) 2,810,841
Foreign exchange adjustments M H Fa R (13,105)
Conversion of convertible redeemable AR A R EMB LIRS A
preferred shares to ordinary shares T (12,206,115)
As at 31 March 2024 M2024E3 A31H -

The Group applied the discounted cash flow method to determine the underlying
equity value of the Company and adopted equity allocation model to determine the
fair value of the redeemable convertible preferred shares as at the dates of issuance
and at the end of each reporting period.

29 Dividends 29

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company for the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.

AEBERBERBESREZEEARRANHEE
PRHE(EE - IR ARHE D BCAR A8 2 m) M =) A
EIREERNETERRZRERRNRAE
B

B2

B Z 20244 ]2 2023F3 A3 B ILFE - RNARIHE
BRNHEIRRE
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30 Cash flow information

(a)

222 Beisen Holding Limited

Cash used in operations

30 BR&EREH

(a) EEFRANAE

Year ended 31 March

BEIANALLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFIT

Loss before income tax FRET1S TR ES 1B (3,194,113) (2,604,903)
Adjustments for: PATIEB fEHFA%E
Depreciation and amortization e RE#H 58,562 62,345
Net impairment losses on financial assets SREERGHNEERN

and contract assets VERIEY i b s 3,719 2,909
Share-based payments expenses ARG AD BERER MRS 292,380 57,075
Net fair value gains on financial assets measured at fair value EBEARBEFABZNSE

through profit or loss BEMNAR BERFRE (7,562) (40,534)
Finance income — net B U A — F 58 (6,450) (4,571)
Changes in fair value of redeemable A fE B A S B AR Y

convertible preferred shares DR EEEE 2,810,841 2,241,362
Gains of disposal of long-lived assets HERABENKE (114) (453)
Exchange losses I 5 & 18 3,319 847
Changes in working capital: gEEpE
Increase in trade receivables B 5 e RIAIE N (12,257) (3,337)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets AHEEGEM), R (787) 311
(Increase)/decrease in prepayment and TET FRIE K H A PR UEIR

other receivables (gm),m (3,145) 8,358
Increase in contract acquisition costs B KBS A AN (1,155) (10,969)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B S REMANFIECRL), /N (3,321) 1,054
Increase in contract liabilities BHIBELM 16,749 78,698
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals HAib I RIERIERTE A

CRiA),/ 3N (44,037) 56,640

Cash used in operations KEFTANIRS (87,311) (155,168)

Annual Report 2023/2024
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30 Cash flow information (Continued)

(b)

Non-cash investing and financing activities

The major non-cash investing and financing transactions during all the years
presented mainly include (i) the conversion of redeemable convertible preferred
shares to ordinary shares in Note 28, and (ii) the additions of the right-of-use assets

and lease liabilities described in Note 16.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from

financing activities.

30 BEREHGER)

(b) FRSTMBETH

RITRFTEFENEEIRELBERSETE
&?ﬁ(')MT*IZB?ﬁLE’JTHﬁETLW‘@?&H&LE
B M (i) B FE16ET L E FTIE R E E I

TE??’EL g

(c) MEITHMEEHARHHIR

TRAMAGATASEREZHMEENAR

B -

SR
i/ﬁi

BRRGKIFASES - RERIA
EENBEREEAEERET

EGr

HESREBIARBEEREDERBMEEDE

EHRERENAE -

Redeemable
convertible
Lease preferred
liabilities shares Total
AR
HEARE "iEREER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETT
At 1 April 2022 720225E4R1H 76,527 6,610,924 6,687,451
Changes from financing cash flows: MER & RNEE -
Interest element of lease payments HERSHF SR (3,072) - (3,072)
Capital element of lease payments HERSHNASHD (36,551) - (36,551)
Other changes: HthEH) -
Net increase in lease liabilities from new leases FRFIZFHENEES B ELINF
entered during the year ) 16,233 = 16,233
Finance costs (Note 71) BARSRR AN (BT 5 11) 3,072 - 3,072
Changes in fair values through profit
or loss FFABEHNAREBEE = 2,241,362 2,241,362
Changes in fair value through other comprehensive
income SFAEMEEEEN AR EBEEZS - 2,110 2,110
Foreign exchange adjustments PE H A - 553,983 553,983

—E-=SFomE FEEE
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e MR MEE (8

30 Cash flow information (Continued)

30 B&EREH R

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (c) MEFTENFREEMNARBOEIEGE
(Continued)
Redeemable
convertible
Lease preferred
liabilities shares Total
AR
HEAR WERELR #et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 1420235£3A31H % 2023E4R1H 56,209 9,408,379 9,464,588
Changes from financing cash flows: REH SIS -
Interest element of lease payments HEMSHF S5 (2,019) - (2,019)
Capital element of lease payments HERSNASHD (33,740) - (33,740)
Other changes: Hthss) :
Net increase in lease liabilities from new leases FREIHAENEER EEINE
entered during the year % 272 - 272
Finance costs (Note 11) S ISR AR (B 7 11) 2,019 - 2,019
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred shares
to ordinary shares A fE B AT BB S AR A B AR - (12,206,115) (12,206,115)
Changes in fair values through profit or loss FFABRNAREES - 2,810,841 2,810,841
Foreign exchange adjustments M H Ja R - (13,105) (13,105)
At 31 March 2024 720245£3H31H 22,141 - 22,141
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e MR MEE (8

31 Commitments
(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but not yet incurred is as

31 i
(a) BHFEE

FREFTOERREENEARAHIAT

follows:
As at 31 March
»3A31H
2024 2023
20245F 20235
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREETIT
Within 1 year 1ER 3,455 2,751

(b) Operating lease commitments

The Group leases certain offices under non-cancellable operating lease
arrangements with lease terms less than 1 year, which can be exempted from IFRS
16. The Group’s future aggregate minimum lease payments for such short-term
non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:

(b) EEERKE

AEBRB IR EHELHHEESR T
RE - HEHARIE - AR RE TR
WEEAE65 o AR E R IRE HA AT
REEREHENSERENTRRENT

As at 31 March

#3A31H
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETTT

Within 1 year 1FR

109 600
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32

(a)

226 Beisen Holding Limited

Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly,
to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also considered to be related
if they are subject to common control. Members of key management and their close
family members of the Group are also considered as related parties.

The following significant transactions were carried out between the Group and its
related parties during all the years presented. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the related party transactions were carried out in the normal course of
business and at terms negotiated between the Group and the respective related
parties.

Key management personnel compensations
Key management includes executive directors and other members of the Company’s

senior management team. The compensations payable to key management for
employee services are shown below:

32

(a)

MBG X5

— RN EEREEEN S T RITEH S
— I RRERENERTZENE R RR
REBEY - ETXHARZEHETRRASERE
i o AEE T EEIRENKE REERIRIIH
Bl

RETRPAIBAFE  AEBEEREBEBITETUAT
BARS - ARREEFRE - BBIRFZTIN
ERXFBIETRASEEZ OB T ER 2
RFETT

FETEARHFH
ITEZEEABBRUTESERARASRERE

BEG N K E - HEERERENEEEE
A BT TR

Year ended 31 March

HEIAMHLLFERE
2024 2023
20245F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREEFIT
Share-based compensation VARG A7 2 EE R Y 57 B 40,934 5,985
Wages, salaries and bonuses TE& - #Fe kit 4,908 5,706
Others HAth 436 572
46,278 12,263
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33 Benefits and interests of directors 33 EFEMETFIRER
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out as BEZHZ2023F3AN B LFENM ST
below: ™
Pension
Wages, salaries oost-defined
and benefits Discretionary confribution Other social Share-based
Fegs inkind bonuses plans  securitycosts  Housing benefits — compensation Total
T5 58k RiremA- Hijre WRDAER
Name 4 ika Eid| B REdcd [RERX R ki) @3t

RABO0D RMBO00 RABOD RABO0D RMBO00 RABO0D RABO0D RMBO00
ARETR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTT  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

Chairman £

M. Wang haohsi ) THEL) - B % 5 ! 5 124 2571
Executive directors YES

M. He Jiabo ) BRI - 1249 - 5 3 L) 750 214
M. Ji Weiguo /7 R = 10% 468 59 3 L) 124 29
s, Liu Xianna i) YL = 1084 605 5 B L 2181 4619

Independent non-executive

directors BIkufEs
. Zhao Honggjang ) BRALEY = = = - - - - -
. GeKey) EHEEY = = = - - - - -
r. DuKui ) HEEEY = = S - - - - -

= 4213 1433 1% 19 180 5% 12263
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e MR MEE (8

33 Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

The remuneration of every director for the for the year ended 31 March 2024 is set

33 EFMETRER R

BERBE2024F3A3 B IEFEHNBE 40

out as below: N
Pension
Wages, salaries cost-defined
and benefits ~ Discretionary ~contribution ~ Other social Housing  Share-based
Fees inkind honuses plans  security costs henefits  compensation Total
I% #eR BHERE- Rfbit® NRfhEER
Name 2] fig Rl BT REUHRHY RERZ EREd oo | #it
RMB000 RVBOD RVBO00D RMB00 RVBO0D RVBO00D RVBOD RVB 00D
ARETT  ARETR  ARETT ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETn  ARETR

Chairman £

Mr. Wang Zhachui TEERE) = 84 180 64 2 @ 14643 15621

Executive directors urEs

Mr. Ji Weiguo /) RERLE) - 114 pAl 64 2 @ 14643 16175

Ms. Liu Xianna /i) ity - 1060 16 5 U ] 11,648 13562

[ndependent non-executive

directors BUEMTER

. Zhao Hongaiang ) BRAkEY - % - - - - - 2

r Ge Ke ) BH ) - 40 - - - - - 40

Mr. Du Kui HESE4) - pL) - - - - - 24

- 3768 1140 18 118 13% 40934 46218

(i) Mr. Wang Zhaohui was appointed as the Company’s chairman of the board of (i) FRAE S ARN2018F4 A6 B EZERAARE
directors on 6 April 2018. EEFF -

(ii) Mr. He Jiabo was appointed as the Company’s director on 25 September 2018 (if) BEREER2018F9IH25BEZEAARRN A
and resigned from directorship and his position as the president of the Company FEIWMN2022F11 A0E BHEE ERL AR
effective from 30 November 2022. AIABHAL ©

(i) Mr. Ji Weiguo was appointed as the Company’s director on 6 April 2018. (i) AEBELEER2018F4A6BERTREAREE

=

(iv)  Ms. Liu Xianna was appointed as the Company’s director on 31 December 2021. (iv) BB ZTR2021F12 AN BEZFEAARA

EF-
(v) Mr. Zhao Hongqiang, Mr. Ge Ke and Mr.Du Kui were appointed as the (v) R A - B SE R B E R 202343

Company’s directors on 30 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (&)

34 Notes to the statements of financial position of the

(a)

Company

Statements of financial position of the Company

34 FLAFIMBRRRMEE

(a) HLFMBRAR

As at 31 March As at 31 March

2024 2023
20245 720234
3A31H 3A31H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
KiaE AR®TT AREFTT
ASSETS oE
Non-current asset ERBEIE
Investment in subsidiaries RSB RRHIRE 4,685,127 4,090,318
Total non-current asset FERBHEERE 4,685,127 4,090,318
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables and prepayments H th fE IR IE SR TR 5E 411 15,599
Cash and cash equivalents BHeKREEEY 35,114 3,179
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss EBARBEFABRNSH
EiE 18 301,726 -
Total current assets mENEEMHE 337,251 18,778
Total assets HEEHE 5,022,378 4,109,096
EQUITY/(DEFICITS) #HE (S
Share capital A&z 2 49 15
Share premium iD= (E 22 13,146,247 623,064
Reserves B 34(b) 408,570 126,642
Accumulated losses Z5tEsE (8,897,095) (6,082,521)
Total equity/(deficits) miga - (EH) 4,657,771 (5,332,800)

—ECEFISR NS FERE
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34 Notes to the statements of financial position of the

Company (Continued)

34 F LTI R &)

(a) Statements of financial position of the Company (Continued) (a) FLFMBIRRE(1E)
As at 31 March As at 31 March
2024 2023
120245 720234
3A31H 3A31H8
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
iz AR®TT AREFIT
LIABILITIES faf&E
Non-current liability JEmEBAE
Redeemable convertible preferred shares A & [B] A] s8I E S iR 28 - 9,408,379
Total non-current liability E i b Rft] - 9,408,379
Current liability mEAaRE
Other payables and accruals HEMEMNSRIBERETER 364,607 33,517
Total current liability mEAEEE 364,607 33,517
Total liabilities AREE 364,607 9,441,896
Total equity/(deficits) and liabilities #a (Gt RAEEE 5,022,378 4,109,096
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e MR MEE (8

34 Notes to the statements of financial position of the

Company (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

(b) F2FRIGHMEE

34 FLATFIMERR RIEE (&)

Changes in the

Shares held Currency fair value

Share-based for restricted translation  attributable to
payment  share unit plan differences  credit risk change  Other reserves Total

EERRE

SR Smm

NRfhaER RHEEGHE ARRE  BLOARE
BiR  BEORG ] g5 b4 | &t
RMBIO00 RMBI00 RMBI00D RMBIO00 RMBI00 RMBI00D
ARETT  AREFT ARETT ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Asat 1 April 2022 RO2E4RIA 198,369 - 10762 9524 - 315,51
Share-based payments BRI BERAE 51075 - - - - 5105

Fair value changes on redsematle converile BERASEEERERNTEREAR
prefered shares due to own credtrisk EROAREES - - - 210) - (210)
Curtency tanslaton iferences ERAEEE - - (243839) - - (243839)
As at 31 March 2023 RABEIANA 265,444 = (136216) 141 - 126602
Asat 1 April 2023 RABE4RIR 255,444 - (136,216) 141 - 126602
Share-based payments AR BERAE 2930 - - - = 202380
Fair vaue changes on redeemable convertbe BRAFEEERERNTEETSAR

refrted Shars due fo own credt ik TRMALEES - - - (7414) = (7414
Curency ranslation iferences EWpEEE - - 119,782 - - 119782
Issuance of shares under Pre-IPO share option plan BEERAREERRRE SRR (114 466) - - - = (114 466)
Repurchase of own shares EESEET I - (8.354) - - (420) (8774)
Cancelltion ofshares iR - - - - 0 0
At 31 ach 204 Gl Tk, B (430 - - 40850

— & —
=
—=
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35 Subsidiaries

35 MELTE

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2024 are set out below. Unless AREER2024F3 A3 B EZH B A R0
otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares T - BREBFHAEI - ZEH B R RAIRA T
that are held directly or indirectly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership THASEEESEERFANS@ERAKX - M
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The country of BENMEREES L ERERAEEREEN
incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business. KRR o MRS ERER T AR EE S
HoEh o
Effective interest held
As at 31 March
FRERES
R3A31E
Place and date of Principal activities
Name of subsidiaries and incorporation/ establishment and place
controlled structured entities and kind of legal entity Registered/issued capital 2024 023 of operation
AR/ RS R AR FERBR
MBARRKIEEENERLE ERERER i/ TETER 2024% 0035 e
Directly held by the Company
FOFHEERT
Beisen Holding HK Limited 10 April 2018/ Hong Kong/limited liabilty HK dollar (*HKS")1/ 100% 100% Investment Holding/
company HKS$1 Hong Kong
Beisen Holding HK Liited WIBF4RI0B/ BB/ AREALT BB/ 100% 100% RERR /B
1AL
Indirectly held by the Company
FLFMERE
Beijing Beisen Cloud Technology Co., Ltd. (Beijing WFOE) 30 May 2018/PRC/limited liability company USD30,000,000/ 100% 100% Development and sale of
ERIHFEREERLRR) USD14,300,000 products or services/PRC
IEHFERRERAR LRI EBELS) WI8F5ANE/RE/BREEAA  30,000000%T,/ 100% 100% FERHEERIRE/
14,300,005 ¢ ]
Beijing Beisen Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. 17 May 2005/PRC/limited liability company RMBS5,800,000/ 100% 100% Development and sale of
(LRAREHERHBBRLA) Moe) RVB55,800,000 products or services/PRC
IRIREHERDER AR Wita) A05558178 /B BREFAT ARM5H000007T,/ 100% 0% FRRHEEERIRS/
ARH55,8000007 HE
BeisenCloud Computing Co., Ltd. 3 January 2019/PRC/limited liability company 1SD260,000,000/ 100% 100% Development and sale of
(ERENEERAT) 1SD232,969,200 products or services/PRC
IREHEERAR W91 AR/ B/ BRETAR  260000000%T/ 100% 100% RERHEERARS/
232,969,200 7T HE
Beijing Beisen Zongheng Investment Management Center 10 October 2013/PRC/limitedpartnership RMB3,800,000/ 100% 100% Employee stock holding
(Limited Partnership) (16 Rt AR AR B ER AL RIB3,800,000 platform/PRC
(BRER)
IRIRMEREEED L (BRA) DIBFENANB/HE/ERAEE  ARE3N00007/ 100% 0%  BIBKRYE/+E
- AR3,800,0007
Sendou Shanghai Technology Co., Lid. 10 July 2019/PRC/limited liability company RMB100,000/Nil 100% 100%  Cloud-Based HCM Solution/
HE(EORRERAR) PRC
RE(EBREERAT WI95TA10B /+E /AREAAR AREI00000T,/Z 100% 100% ESsHOMEER AR /hE
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35

36

37

Subsidiaries (Continued)

The English names of certain subsidiaries referred herein represent the directors’
best effort at translating the Chinese names of these companies as no English
names have been registered.

Note a: As described in Note 2.2.1 (a), the Company does not have directly or
indirectly legal ownership in equity of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
Nevertheless, under the Contractual Arrangements entered into with Beisen
Cloud Computing and its shareholders, the Company and its other legally owned
subsidiaries are able to effectively control the operating and financing decisions
of the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and receive substantially all of
the economic benefits generated by the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities.
Accordingly, the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities are treated as controlled
structured entities of the Company and consolidated by the Company.

Contingent liabilities

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2023 and
2024.

Subsequent events

There were no material subsequent events undertaken by the Group after 31 March
2024.

35

36

37

B 8 23 ) (#8)

HRZFRRL BB R AN - HARER
MEETIHBARIMRXEHRAEERZFR
AlM R X B EENREORRE

BiEa: SRAAMTRE2.2.1(a) Pt - AR A A B R S
ERETESABMBEERIEEMEE - A
i REBEEEREAFERERRITZAEL
ZH - ARBREEMEEER OB R R
EABREHPREGAHBERBNEELR
AR URGSHEGAMBERELMNE
FREZLENS - Bt - PEGAHBERE
BEBRRAANTEEBEEREIARR
e

BRAR

20234 Kk 20244F3 4318 » AREE W AT E
ARFAEE -

L ]

REEPR20245F3A31 BRA METERRE
15 o
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DEFINITIONS
EE

In this report, the following expressions have the meanings set out below unless the — RAZHER - B X FESHHIES) - TR AR X

context otherwise requires:

“2016 FITE Regulations”

[201645- 51 IR B BE R EMRE ]

“affiliate(s)”

(B A L]
“AGM”
[RRAFRE]

“Articles of Association”
[#EEEFZ AR

“Audit Committee”
[BZZEE]

“Beijing WFOE”

[ERINEBERE]

“Beisen HK”

[Beisen HK]

“Beisen Shengya”

[EAREE

“Board”, “our Board” or “Board of Directors”

==
“business day”

[&%A]

Bré%z -

the Provisions on the Administration of Foreign-Invested Telecommunications Enterprises promulgated
by the State Council, which were amended on 10 September 2008, 6 February 2016 and 7 April 2022
(the version amended in 2016, hereinafter the “2016 FITE Regulations” and the version amended in 2022,
hereinafter the “2022 FITE Regulations”

Bl B MR E BE T EEIRRE) » 7200859108 ~ 2016552 H6 A 22022
FAATEIERT QUIBFIEFTRMASTBI2016F /NI EBEEEERTE]  2022F1(E
AT B AN AERE[ 2022 F SNE IR B BIE R EBIRMED)

with respect to any specified person, any other person, directly or indirectly, controlling or controlled by
or under direct or indirect common control with such specified person

MAEMEEALME - EEXHEEEHZEEATHIZ AEERHEEGI AR
B ok R A A A

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 20 September 2024
RAEIHR2024F9 A20 8 BT RIBF RS

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
RAREHEERANEE TSR]

the audit committee of the Board
EERBEREEY

Beijing Beisen Cloud Technology Co., Ltd. (At FIEZREREHL BBR 72 71), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 30 May 2018 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
IR REREBER AR - FR2018F5 AR RBFHEVEEZK AR AE - BER
AMEENB AT

Beisen Holding HK Limited, a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong on 10 April 2018 and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

Beisen Holding HK Limited - 7A20185F4 B10B A BB MKW BRAF] - KARFNE
BB AT

Beisen Shengya (Beijing) Education Technology Co., Ltd. Qb FRASE QL R)HE R AR A F), a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 23 April 2009, which ceased to be our
wholly-owned subsidiary after the relevant share transfer completed on 6 September 2021
EREEGER)HERRBR AR - 7200994 A23 B IR IEF BAER I MERET
DA R021FIH6 B RS E R - TEAAARINEENB QR

the Board of Directors of our Company
RRAEEG

any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong) on which banks in Hong Kong or
other relevant jurisdictions are generally open for normal banking business

BN EMABR R A R RITRERPIIHE —RBITEBNEMBF (2R
EHRARBERARBRERIN
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“CAGR”
[EaFIIERE]

“CG Code”
[ ERTA

“Chairman”
[EfE]

“Chengdu WFOE”

[REPSINERERE]

“China” or “PRC”
[ B
“Company”, “our Company”,

or “the Company”
[ARRFE]]

“Consolidated Affiliated Entity”
[fFEE TR

"date of this report”

[ A EA

“Director(s)”

=

“FY2023
(202387 4F |

“FY2025
[202587 4F |

“Global Offering”
[ E]

“Group”, “our Group”, “the Group”,

“we’ “us”. “our’, or “Beisen”

[AREEE - [3AFI[1EFR]

compound annual growth rate
WAFHRKE

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
AR BIM EERCT P (R B G <F A

the chairman of the Board
BEEEER

Beisen Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. (ALZRZEFTE BBR A R]), a limited liability company established
under the laws of the PRC on 3 January 2019 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
IEREAEBRAT - R019F1 A3ARBHBIEEXNIHBR AR - AARERE
BB AT

the People’s Republic of China, for the purposes of this report only, excluding Hong Kong, Macau Special
Administrative Region and Taiwan
RIEARKNE - ERARSEHE - TEEEE O RFIFITTRERSE

Beisen Holding Limited (bR 1ZR% G BR 22 1), a company with limited liability incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 6 April 2018

Beisen Holding Limited SEZRIZEMR B R A F]) - 720185F4 A6 B LR £ B St KB R
NS

entity we control wholly through the Contractual Arrangements, namely Onshore Holdco
BMEBENLEHRREHNER - AIRNERAF]

25 June 2024, being the date of the Board meeting approving the audited annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024

20246 H258 » BIHLEAEBME 20243 AN AL FELERFEEENEES S
B

the director(s) of our Company
RARES

the year ended 31 March 2023
HE2023F3ANHIEFE

the financial year ending 31 March 2025
EHE2025F3A31A IEIMEBFE

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the offer shares
BERMNBEBLARBERBBREE

the Company, its subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated Entity from time to time, and where the
context requires, in respect of the period prior to our Company becoming the holding company of its
present subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entity, such subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated
Entity as if they were subsidiaries and Consolidated Affiliated Entity of our Company at the relevant time
AAF) - AMNBARRTR 2 FEHEBER - RUINEFME  BAQAKAHER
KB AR REEHBERNERAT ZABAEME - BEZENE Q7 RS
BEEENESENEEREARRROME AR REEAHEER)
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DEFINITIONS
B

“HKD” or “HK$” or “HK dollars”
%l

“Hong Kong” or “Hong Kong SAR” or “HK”
ES DA

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Date”
[ B

“Listing Rules”
[ Em#Rall
“MIIT”
[T{=%6)

“Model Code”

“Nomination Committee”

[fREEEE]

“Onshore Holdco”
il

“PRC Legal Advisor”

[ Bl AR

“Pre-IPO Share Option Plan”
[BRAREBEEREREE
“Prospectus”

[BRER]

“Registered Shareholders”

[E RO

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BREEEEET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HEEBRRTERR

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Bt BB SZ P AR =T

13 April 2023, being the date on which the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange
202354 F13H - BRI HOBE R PR T Y H Af

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BRBERHMABRARES LR GEETREET - Mk AE MG R EH)

Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC (PR 2 A KR £ F1E T 2 M1z B 1L E6)
(formerly known as the Ministry of Information Industry)
i A RAMB TEANE S BRI ARG BEXEED)

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules
LR AIMERCIFTE_E M T AESHITHEF R 5 IR LEST A

the nomination committee of the Board

EXgREEEY

Beijing Beisen Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. (b AL FRE =T E {5 A R 2 A1), a company established
under the laws of the PRC on 17 May 2005 and the Consolidated Affiliate Entity of our Company

I FIEREAERMERAT - 200565 A1TEIRBFHBUERK AT - BAA
AR EHEERE

Han Kun Law Offices, our legal advisor on PRC law
BMIR P EE R R R R AR AN E AT

the Pre-IPO share option plan of our Company adopted by the Board on 15 July 2019, and amended on
23 April 2020, 26 September 2021 and 31 December 2021

EEZZN2019F7 A15 BRI F2020F4 5236 ~ 202199 A 26 H K20216F12 A31H{E
FIMAAT BERAHEERIERETE

the prospectus of our Company, dated 30 March 2023, in relation to the Global Offering
NARBEIA028F3A0HEEREEGENBRER

the registered shareholders of Onshore Holdco, namely Mr. Wang, Mr. Ji, Beijing Beisen Zongheng
Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) (1t Rit FRAE RIS B E IR PO (BR A E)),
Beijing Beisen Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership) (1t R ZRIG & B IR O (AR
4 ¥)), and Shenzhen Capital Group Co., Ltd. CRINTBIFTIRE £ B BR A7)

BN ARMEGIRE - BIESAE 44 ERIEREEREERFO(BRE
%)~ bR BEERFRL(BRE ) RAYIMEFiEE SBER AT
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DEFINITIONS
Bx

“Remuneration Committee”
EdEI=E

“Reorganization”
(848
“Reporting Period”
[ AR

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
AR

“RSU(s)”
[ PR A% 1) B2 A5 |

“RSU Plan”

[ SRR ELIET )

“SFQ”
[R5 NS 1)
“Sendou Shanghai”

(g L&)

“Share(s)”

[Hfn ]

“Shareholder(s)”
(A& ]

“Share Subdivision”

il

“Single Largest Group of Shareholders”

[ —HRABIREE]

the remuneration committee of the Board
ExgTMEESg

the reorganization arrangements undertaken by our Group in preparation for the Listing, as detailed in the
section headed “History, Reorganization and Corporate Structure—Reorganization” in the Prospectus
FEBREB ITMETNERLZY  FEF2MHBRERIEL - SARRTIEE
E—s=8E]—

the year ended 31 March 2024
HZE2024F3A31BIEFE

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of China
AREETT - RBVEEE

restricted share unit award(s) to be granted to participants under the RSU Plan
AR PR 52 BR Il A 10 B8 (i 51 &35 T 2 B35 1) 2 IR Il A 1) B (i A% g

the restricted share unit plan of our Company adopted by the Board on 31 December 2021, and
subsequently amended by the Board on 23 March 2023

ERGNR01F 12831 BERA - WHEEBEFEN2023F3A2BBIETNARFIZ RS
fi&{n BRI 5T &

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BBEDIESNEFH RS GO TRHEET - sk A M &)

Sendou Shanghai Technology Co., Ltd. (%= (/&) BHEBER A F]), a limited liability company
established under the laws of the PRC on 10 July 2019 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
RO (EEHEBERAR - —KAR2019F7 108 RIEFENAEKINERAFR] - A
RARKEEME AR

ordinary share(s) in the share capital our Company, with a nominal value of US$0.0001 each prior to the
Share Subdivision or US$0.00001 each upon the completion of the Share Subdivision

AR EIIRAN A B AR (E0.00012% 7T (AR (5 #F 48 A1) sk B AR TEE0.00001 35 7T (AR 17 #7 A T2 K
&) EEAR

holder(s) of our Shares
SSVESTEPN

the subdivision of each share in the Company’s issued and unissued share capital with par value of
US$0.0001 each into 10 shares of the corresponding class with nominal value of US$0.00001 each
RAFEETRARBITRAS FREE001ZETLHZMDIFMA A0 EFREAE
0.000013€ 7T I AB FE 2B 51| A 1

the single largest group of Shareholders which comprise Mr. Wang, Mr. Ji, Zhaosen, Weisen, Senyan,
Ms. Zhou, Huisen Holding Limited, Guosen Holding Limited, Sen Talent Holdings Limited, Sen Platform
Holdings Limited, Ark Trust (Singapore) Ltd. and Xiasen Limited

TS ~ 42584 - Zhaosen ~ Weisen ~ Senyan &%= - Huisen Holding Limited + Guosen
Holding Limited ~ Sen Talent Holdings Limited ~ Sen Platform Holdings Limited - Ark Trust (Singapore)
Ltd. &z Xiasen LimitedZ8 5 &) 8 — AR R E
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DEFINITIONS
B=

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[ 22 Ffr) i BRBERSMABRAT

“USD” or “US$” or “US dollar” United States Dollar, the lawful currency of the United States of America
Ey i ETT  EFEBERBUEAEES

‘%" per cent.

[%] i B e

In this report, unless otherwise indicated, the terms “associate”, “associated corporation”, — FAAIRE R - B B A FTIEEAZEIN - [ A - [HEE
“connected person”, “controlling shareholder”, “subsidiary” and “substantial shareholder” A ] « [BEEA L]~ HERRAEER] - (B ARI R
shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Listing Rules. ERFIFFEAR MR TZEREZRE
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

i ARER

AP
[Al

‘AIGC”
[AIGC]

“app” or “application”
[FERARERF]

“ARR” or “annual recurring revenue”

[F LN

i
fal
i

I

“cloud-based”

“COVID-19”

[COVID-19]

“employee lifecycle”

[E T4 EaR]

“HCM”
[HCM]J

“NPS”

[NPSJ

“PaaS”

[PaaS]

artificial intelligence
)\I%D ab

artificial intelligence generated content
ALEREKRAR

application software designed to run on smartphones and other mobile devices
RN e TR B ek E LB TT MRt E AR T

We define ARR as the annualized revenue run-rate of effective subscriptions of our cloud-based HCM solutions at a
point in time. We calculate ARR by taking the monthly recurring revenue, or MRR, as of the last day of a particular
month and multiplying it by 12. MRR is defined as the total contract value of effective subscriptions of our cloud-
based HCM solutions, divided by the number of months within the duration of such subscriptions. Effective date of
such subscriptions is provided in the relevant subscription agreements
BMEFELEHERAERABMOEHHOMER T =N E—RHE EWERTHEEK
ANBITE - BMERAE—RFEANEE -—BNEALTE R SRR 2R EFELEE LK
A o B AKEHRAEERITBRMEZHHCMERR S R & KB EATERAEET B AR A
§ A8 - MARRERT B B AR E &SR BB A A

applications, services or resources made available to users on demand via the internet from a cloud computing
provider’s servers with access to shared pools of configurable resources
EHEREEARGRAZAEEE RN RGRF AP ZREREBERENERIZT -
BB R

coronavirus disease 2019, a disease caused by a novel virus designated as severe acute respiratory syndrome
coronavirus 2

019BARARETR - B —RERERRESMEY RS EE B SR MRS S| KR

the period encompasses various stages in the career of an employee, beginning with recruitment and concluding
with resignation, termination or retirement
REES IR R - (RIS E ORI S A E & M R AR A

human capital management
ANERER

net promoter score, a customer loyalty metric calculated by subtracting the percentage of detractors (those who
scored 0 to 6) from the percentage of promoters (those who scored 9 or 10), based on responses to the question
“How likely are you to recommend our product/service to others?” scored on a zero-to-ten scale
FHEBER-BEEFPAWERER BEBRYCEZ AR AEBRMOER RS 7 IR
BHEEEIE10D 2 BT DT E - sHERERERE (BIFI09E) A A S LR E
HATE(BIE6D B E DL

platform as a service, a category of cloud computing that provides a platform and environment to allow developers
to build applications over the internet
TR REEFAEECERAEZEARRNT 8 RRRN—BEERE
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GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

Bl R

“SaaS”

[SaaS|

“subscription revenue retention rate”

[RIBIRA BT X

“use case”
[fFEAG=

240 Beisen Holding Limited

software as a service, a cloud-based software licensing and delivery model on a subscription basis with centrally
hosted associated data
PHENARTS - 1RATB R PR E IR RN — B w7 Al R R

We use subscription revenue retention rate to measure growth in revenue generated from existing customers of
our cloud-based HCM solutions over time. To calculate such metric for a given current 12-month period, we
first identify those customers who generated cloud-based HCM solution revenue in the prior 12-month period
(the “Trailing Twelve Months”) and then identify those among them who generated cloud-based HCM solution
revenue in the current 12-month period. We then calculate the subscription revenue retention rate by dividing the
subscription revenue such customers generated in the current 12-month period, by our total subscription revenue
in the Trailing Twelve Months. The subscription revenues used in calculating our subscription revenue retention
rate are based on our internal management accounts
BOEAFTFBABEERHE B HMIEHHIMEE A S RIRE BT P ATE A R ABERREMNEGE o
RETEREREABRRNEFRZ2E  BMEarBRERBEREABRR(RET_EANES
EIRHCMERR 7 RIRAM R P - BT & RN E AT121E A A E & 2imHOMER R 75 = A
R - AESERNME AR AZEREPEENF MR AR B E T —(EAETBEKR AL
Mt EHATBERABEE - BRETEIBWABRTFENFI BB ATDEREMOABE
BERPSH

a specific business scenario in which a product or service could potentially be used
AR AEMS RS EEB SR
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